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VISION
To be the premier provider of essential home and commercial
services and energy solutions in North America.

Enercare is headquartered in Toronto, Ontario, Canada and is publicly traded on
the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX: ECI). As one of North America's largest home
and commercial services and energy solutions companies with approximately
3,800 employees under its Enercare and Service Experts brands, Enercare is a
leading provider of water heaters, water treatment, furnaces, air conditioners and
other HVAC rental products, plumbing services, protection plans and related
services. With operations in Canada and the United States, Enercare serves
approximately 1.6 million customers annually. Enercare is also the largest
non-utility sub-meter provider, with electricity, water, thermal and gas metering
contracts for condominium and apartment suites in Canada and through its
Triacta brand, a premier designer and manufacturer of advanced sub-meters and
sub-metering solutions.
For more information on Enercare visit enercare.ca. Additional information
regarding Enercare is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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Inside Enercare
An overview of our financial highlights for the year;
a snapshot of our three operating segments: Home
Services, Service Experts, and Sub-Metering; and,
the investments we’ve made in our people, our
customers and our community.

Insight
Enercare’s Chairman, Jim Pantelidis, reports on
shareholder return and our commitment to
diversity. John Macdonald, President and Chief
Executive Officer, reviews our performance in 2016.

In Numbers
Management’s Discussion & Analysis
Financial Statements
Notes to the Financials

Information
Our board of directors and senior management
team are listed here, as well as our transfer agent,
number of shares outstanding and investor
relations contact information. For full details,
please visit our website at www.enercare.ca.

This annual report contains forward-looking statements. We caution readers not
to place undue reliance on this information, as a number of factors could cause
our actual results, performance, or future events to differ materially. Additional
information about forward-looking statements and risk factors can be found
under the cautionary note on page 22 and the risk management section in our
management’s discussion and analysis on page 72, respectively.
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Inside Enercare 2016 Highlights

EBITDA Growth

Dividends Paid

in $ Thousands
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Earnings per Share
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Achieved in 2016
√ Increased EBITDA by 20 per cent to $266 million
√ Grew revenue by 77 per cent to $996 million
√ Grew net income by 20 per cent to $61 million
√ Increased scope of business through successful acquisition of Service Experts
√ Enhanced customer value experience through launch of mobile applications and
in-house financing while delivering on promise of premier customer service
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Thanks to our 2016 acquisition of Service Experts, we are
well on our way to becoming North America’s premier provider
of essential home and commercial services and energy solutions.
Our focus on achieving this vision continues to result in creating
exceptional shareholder value.

5 Year Total Shareholder Return

162.9%

48.6%
23.3%

TSX

SMALL CAP

ENERCARE
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It’s Cold Outside
Come inside to a home serviced by Enercare. With our focus
on providing premier customer service, our recently
launched financing plan and our suite of mobile applications,
we are realizing our goal of providing a complete set of
solutions for the whole home.

Inside Enercare Our Three Operating Segments

Our commitment to creating shareholder value is matched only by our
dedication to customer service. We support legislation that bans
unsolicited door-to-door sales of home appliances and are investing in
technology to make every interaction with a customer a positive one.

1.6 M
CUSTOMERS

3,800
EMPLOYEES
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Home Services

Sub-metering

The Home Services business, which accounts for
44 per cent of our consolidated revenue, rents water
heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and other HVAC
equipment. We have a strong position in the
marketplace with a base of 1.1 million installed rental
units, 542,000 protection plans and originate
approximately 20,600 of HVAC sales, 66 per cent of
which are rentals.

The sub-metering business accounts for 15 per cent
of our consolidated revenue. Utility sub-metering is a
system that allows a property owner to bill building
occupants for individual measured utility usage.

In 2016

• Adjusted

• Rental units increased by 15 per cent with growth
surpassing attrition by 14 per cent

• EBITDA increased by 6.7 per cent to $245 million
• Total revenue increased by 2.9 per cent to

In 2016

• Contracted, installed and billable units rose by 15, 6
and 13 per cent to 235, 165 and 116 respectively
EBITDA increased by 6 per cent to
$13 million

• Total

revenue increased by 6.5 per cent to
$146 million

$439 million

Service Experts
Acquired in 2016, Service Experts is a leading provider
of HVAC services in the United States and Canada. It
accounts for 41 per cent of our consolidated revenues.

In 2016

• Introduced rental program for HVAC and water
heaters within Canada

• EBITDA was $39 million
• Total revenue was $411 million
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It’s Warm Outside
We look after our customers. In 2016, Home Services made
700,000 service calls and Service Experts made 650,000.
Home Services also achieved its highest net promoter scores
ever, because our experience and know-how ensures your family
stays cool when it’s warm outside.

Inside Enercare Investing in Our Employees, Our Customers
and Our Community

Premier doesn’t mean the biggest; it means the best. At Enercare, realizing
our vision of being North America’s premier provider of home and commercial
services and energy solutions means exemplifying our three core values:
being exceptional, caring and genuine. In 2016, we launched several
programs that underscore our commitment to these values, particularly as
we engage with each other, our customers and our community.
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Recognizing and Building Our Teams
Living the Brand is an employee recognition program
that celebrates the individuals and teams who exemplify
these core values. Approximately half of the 1025
employees who are eligible for the program have been
recognized since the program began in June.
We’ve also introduced a series of informal lunchtime
learning sessions hosted by members of the leadership
team. The Business of Enercare gives our employees an
opportunity to learn more about a specific area of the
company and receive updates on what’s happening
across the business.

Empowering Our Customers
Being a premier service provider means being a trusted
advisor that provides energy efficient whole home
solutions. We’ve been building our social media
presence, and created the Enercare Helpful Home
Comfort video series, which provides homeowners with
do-it-yourself fixes and energy-efficiency tips. And we
are developing our connected home program,
transforming our mobile application into a pro-active
gateway that provides diagnostics and information
about your home.

Caring for Our Community
Developed with input from our employees, the Enercare
Fresh Start program helps families transition from
temporary shelters to a home of their own. We partner
with local organizations to provide personalized comfort
packages containing simple necessities, small luxuries
and professional home tips essential to starting a
new beginning in a new home. The packages can
include everything from linens and toiletries to toys
and kitchen utensils.
Yellow Brick House is our inaugural partner in this
signature corporate social responsibility program.
Yellow Brick House is a leader in providing emergency
and transitional housing, counselling and support
to women and children in York Region who have
experienced violence and abuse. In addition to
providing families with Enercare Fresh Start packages,
we’ve also provided Yellow Brick House with subsidized
commercial services, including the maintenance and
replacement of its heating and cooling equipment.
Enercare looks forward to partnering with other leading
community organizations across Ontario to provide
more families with the fresh and comfortable start
they deserve.
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Untapped Value
The acquisition of Service Experts has exposed Enercare to
a wealth of untapped value. We have increased our
customer base, extended our reach into the United States
and Western Canada and created several new growth
opportunities.

Insight Delivering Superior Returns to Shareholders

Enercare has a history of creating value for its shareholders and
2016 was no exception. Our five-year total shareholder return
continued to outpace the S&P Composite Index and our
annualized dividend per share was $0.92, up 10 per cent over
2015. Since 2011, we have raised our dividend seven times for
a total of 42 per cent.

Our Focus
We believe that maintaining this focus on creating
shareholder wealth is one the board’s fundamental
responsibilities, in addition to supervising the
company’s activities and managing Enercare’s
investments and affairs by:

• maintaining strong underlying business fundamentals,
• encouraging external growth with a proven growth
strategy through acquisitions,

• developing organic growth by growing the installed
residential and commercial customer asset base; and

• providing quality service by executing a consistent
and reliable customer-service model.
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We believe in the benefits of a diverse board and senior
management team. One quarter of our board members,
and half of our executive officers, are female. We
recognize that in order to achieve a more representative
balance of women in senior management, we must
develop strategies for identifying and attracting female
candidates for recruitment. We’re working to identify
future candidates with the necessary skills and
experience, as well as developing our internal talent to
ensure that where possible, there will be highly qualified
women within Enercare available to fill vacancies.
An Award-Winning Team
In November, our Chief Financial Officer, Evelyn
Sutherland, was named one of the Women’s Executive
Network 100 most powerful women in Canada. She is

but one member of a hard-working team that we are
honoured to lead. In September, we were proud to
receive Human Resource Management Canada’s
Accompass Human Resources Team of the Year award in
recognition of the importance we’ve placed on building
our team amid a period of exponential growth. We also
launched Enercare Fresh Start, which helps
disadvantaged families get back on their feet. It’s an
extension of our dedication to providing excellent
customer service – in this case, to those who need it most.
In 2017, we will continue to remain focused on
delivering superior returns to our shareholders. For
Home Services, this means targeting net rental unit
growth and re-energizing our protection plan portfolio.
In Sub-metering, we want to grow our contracted,

installed and billable units, and enhance customer
service. Finally, in Service Experts, we’ll build on our
successes with a view to implementing our rental model
and achieving additional synergies. We believe that by
pursuing operational excellence that drives customer
satisfaction, innovation and growth, we will continue to
create shareholder wealth.
On behalf of my fellow directors, I’d like to thank the
entire Enercare team for their hard work and congratulate
them on a very successful 2016.

“Jim Pantelidis”
JIM PANTELIDIS

Chair of the Board
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Insight Meeting our Strategic Objectives

It’s been another outstanding year for Enercare. All three of our
business segments either achieved or exceeded their strategic
objectives for the year and collectively produced a 20 per cent
increase in consolidated earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA).

As growing EBITDA was our primary objective last year, I am very pleased with this result. We
also grew our revenue by 77 per cent and our net rentals by 8,000 units. And with the acquisition
of Service Experts, we realized our vision of becoming a North American services and energy
solutions provider.

A Successful Acquisition
Operating in Canada and the United States, Service
Experts earns approximately 95 per cent of its revenue
by providing HVAC replacement equipment and
services. This acquisition expands our footprint beyond
Ontario and provides an operating structure that we are
leveraging to introduce products that generate recurring
revenue. By integrating rentals into the Service Experts
16
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residential heating and cooling operations, we are
creating a source of sustained organic growth.
The performance of Service Experts exceeded our
expectations this year. Increasing our normalized pro
forma distributable cash per common share by 30 per
cent, this surpassed our target by five percentage points.
We thank the Service Experts team for their hard work,
dedication and loyalty. It has been an incredible year.

In 2017, we will continue to focus on achieving cost
synergies, targeting 5 to 8 cents per common share on
an annualized basis by the end of the year. We’ve begun
to roll out our HVAC rental model and introduced our
HVAC and water heater rental program in all the Service
Experts Canadian centres in late 2016. We also
launched a rental HVAC program in two American states
in early 2017 and expect to add another two by the end
of the first half of 2017. We estimate that the rollout will
take approximately two years.
Net Rental Unit Growth on the Rise
In 2016, our Home Services team increased the total
number of HVAC rental additions by 31 per cent and
delivered its sixth consecutive quarter of net rental unit
growth. We’re very pleased that we are increasing our

customer base, as we foster a culture of service
excellence and seek to transform our industry through
innovation.
Last year, we launched our smartphone and tablet
applications. Our self-service mobile app – the first of
its kind in Canada – enables customers to access their
accounts, book service appointments and be notified
when a technician is due to arrive, all on their
smartphone. We have also introduced a tablet app for
some products that enables our employees to process
credit approvals conveniently and efficiently.
Our net promoter scores, which measure a customer’s
loyalty to our brand, have been steadily increasing over
the past three years. We achieved our highest ever
17
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scores in 2016, so we know this culture of service
excellence is taking root.

we’re also laying a base from which to grow once those
contracts convert into billable units.

Looking forward to 2017, Enercare Home Services will
continue to focus on intiatives that cement our customer
relationships:

In the coming year, we will continue to investigate new
products and services as we consider expansion
opportunities into new geographic markets in North
America.

• Launching new products that build on our core
strengths in heating, cooling and plumbing;

• Building on the launch of our mobile application; and
• Becoming a trusted advisor that delivers products for
the whole home.
We will also continue to support the proposed
legislation in Ontario and the legislation recently
implemented in Alberta aimed at protecting consumers
from unsolicited door-to-door sales of household
appliances, a long-standing problem in our industry.
Growing Economies of Scale
In 2016, our Sub-metering segment met all three of our
goals: increasing our contracted unit base, enhancing the
customer service experience, and expanding our product
offerings. We sold 30,000 units this year, a testament to
our attractive suite of products and services.
Our whole building solution for invoicing electricity,
water, thermal and gas on one statement continues to
distinguish us from our competitors. Sub-metering also
launched consolidated billing across multiple metering
points, a requirement for many buildings that mix
commercial and residential uses. Approximately onehalf of units contracted during 2016 were for one or
more of thermal, gas or water sub-metering in addition
to electricity.
The recurring revenue aspect of this business is merely
one side of Sub-metering’s attractive economic model.
The other side is its scalable, low variable cost structure.
And with our contracted units increasing by 15 per cent,
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Executing our plan
to integrate rentals
throughout Service
Experts will take time.
We have already
completed the first two
years of our Canadian
rental HVAC strategy and
are excited to embark on
our American rollout.

Growing our Long-Term Recurring Revenue
Our focus on customer service and expanding into new
markets ripe for organic growth is directly linked to our
strategy to grow our long-term recurring revenue. This
is why we believe so strongly in the rental model.
Executing our plan to integrate rentals throughout
Service Experts will take time. We have already
completed the first two years of our Canadian rental
HVAC strategy and are excited to embark on our
American rollout.

We recognize that investing in this model has a shortterm impact on EBITDA. For example, had all 2016
HVAC rental contracts been sales, we estimate that we
would have recorded an additional $12 million in
EBITDA. However, the rental relationship provides
greater cross-selling opportunities and is therefore
more valuable than a one-time sale, approximately
2.5 times on a discounted cash flow basis.
Capital investments have not come at the expense of
our shareholders. We continue to return significant
capital to shareholders through our dividend and by
making investments that have a high rate of return. We
expect to maintain this disciplined balance of investing
in assets that yield recurring revenues and will enable
us to distribute wealth to our shareholders well into
the future.

“John Macdonald”
JOHN MACDONALD

President & Chief Executive Officer
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VA L U E
Creating shareholder value and successfully developing
long-term recurring revenue streams.
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The consolidated financial statements of Enercare are prepared in accordance with IFRS. Enercare’s
basis of presentation and significant accounting policies are summarized in detail in notes 2 and 3 of
the consolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2016. Unless otherwise
specified, amounts are reported in this MD&A in thousands, except customers, units and “per unit”
amounts, Shares and “per Share” amounts, SE Subscription Receipts and percentages (except as
otherwise noted). Unless otherwise specified, dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars.
Enercare operates its businesses in three segments: Enercare Home Services – provision of water
heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and other HVAC rental products, protection plans and related
services, Service Experts – provision of sales, installation, maintenance and repair of HVAC systems
through Enercare’s Service Experts subsidiaries, and Sub-metering – provision of Sub-metering
equipment and billing services.
Certain definitions of key financial and operating terms used in this MD&A are located at the end of
this MD&A under “Glossary of Terms”.
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In Numbers Management’s Discussion & Analysis

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This MD&A, dated March 6, 2017, contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable
Canadian securities laws (“forward-looking statements” or “forward-looking information”) that involve various risks
and uncertainties and should be read in conjunction with Enercare’s 2016 audited consolidated financial statements.
Additional information in respect of Enercare, including the AIF, can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Statements other than statements of historical fact contained in this MD&A may be forward-looking statements,
including, without limitation, management’s expectations, intentions and beliefs concerning anticipated future events,
results, circumstances, economic performance or expectations with respect to Enercare, including Enercare’s
business operations, business strategy and financial condition. When used herein, the words “anticipates”, “believes”,
“budgets”, “could”, “estimates”, “expects”, “forecasts”, “goal”, “intends”, “may”, “might”, “outlook”, “plans”, “projects”,
“schedule”, “should”, “strive”, “target”, “will”, “would” and similar expressions are often intended to identify forwardlooking information, although not all forward-looking information contains these identifying words. These
forward-looking statements may reflect the internal projections, expectations, future growth, results of operations,
performance, business prospects and opportunities of Enercare and are based on information currently available to
Enercare and/or assumptions that Enercare believes are reasonable. Many factors could cause actual results to differ
materially from the results and developments discussed in the forward-looking information.
In developing these forward-looking statements, certain material assumptions were made. These forward-looking
statements are also subject to certain risks. These factors include, but are not limited to:
• actual future market conditions being different than anticipated by management;
• the failure to realize the anticipated benefits of the SE Transaction, strategic initiatives and tax efficiencies;
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Service Experts contributed 95% of our 77% increase in total
revenue in 2016. We reported our sixth consecutive quarter of
net rental growth in our Home Services division and billable units
increased by 13% in Sub-metering.

• the risk that the pilot of rental HVAC offerings in 4 states in the United States does not realize anticipated results
as the rental model is a new concept in this industry in the United States; and
• the risks and uncertainties described under “Risk Factors” in this MD&A.
Material factors or assumptions that were applied to drawing a conclusion or making an estimate set out in forwardlooking statements, including pro forma financial information, include:
• the view of management regarding current and anticipated market conditions;
• industry trends remaining unchanged;
• the financial and operating attributes of Enercare and Service Experts as at the date hereof and the anticipated
future performance of Enercare and Service Experts;
• assumptions regarding the volume and mix of business activities remaining consistent with current trends;
• assumptions regarding the interest rates of the 2014 Term Loan and 2016 Term Loan, foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices;
• the extent to which the SE Transaction is accretive, which may be impacted by the realization and timing of synergies
and the operating performance of Enercare and Service Experts;
• assumptions regarding non-recurring transaction costs estimated to be incurred by Enercare in connection with
the SE Transaction;
• assumptions regarding future selling, general and administration costs estimated to be incurred by Enercare,
including in connection with the running of the Service Experts segment; and
• the number of Shares outstanding remaining constant.
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There can be no assurance that the anticipated strategic benefits and operational, competitive and cost synergies
from the SE Transaction will be realized. There can be no assurance that recent results from the introduction of the
rental model to Service Experts in Canada are indicative of future results.
Readers are cautioned that the preceding list of material factors or assumptions is not exhaustive. Although forwardlooking statements contained in this MD&A are based upon what management believes are reasonable assumptions,
there can be no assurance that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. Accordingly,
readers should not place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements and assumptions as management
cannot provide assurance that actual results or developments will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that
they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on, Enercare. All forward-looking information in this MD&A
is made as of the date of this MD&A. These forward-looking statements are subject to change as a result of new
information, future events or other circumstances, in which case they will only be updated by Enercare where required
by law.
Please see the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this MD&A for a discussion in respect of the material risks relating
to the business and structure of Enercare.
OVERVIEW

Enercare, primarily through acquisition, has become a multi-segment and product company since its origins in 2002
as the Fund, which primarily financed rental equipment originated and serviced by DE. On October 20, 2014,
Enercare purchased the Ontario home and small commercial services business from DE and effectively reunited the
business separated in 2002 with the creation of the Fund. Enercare Solutions, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare,
operates the Enercare Home Services business.
On May 11, 2016, Enercare, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, acquired through
a merger, SEHAC Holdings Corporation, now SEHAC Holdings LLC (“SEHAC”) (the “SE Transaction”), which owned
Service Experts. Enercare purchased 100% of the outstanding shares of SEHAC. Service Experts provides sales,
installation, maintenance and repair of HVAC systems directly to residential and light commercial customers. There
are 90 Service Experts locations in the United States and Canada. The consolidated financial statements reflect
Enercare’s ownership of Service Experts for the period from May 11, 2016 to December 31, 2016.
Enercare also owns Enercare Connections Inc. (a successor by amalgamation effective January 1, 2012 to Stratacon
Inc. and Enercare Connections Inc.). ECI provides sub-metering services for electricity, thermal, gas and water to
condominiums and apartments in Ontario, Alberta and elsewhere in Canada. On July 15, 2015, ECI purchased and
amalgamated with Triacta Power Technologies Inc., a company in the design and manufacturing of advanced, utilitygrade energy management meters for multi-unit residential, commercial and institutional applications. Triacta’s
primary markets are Canada and the U.S.
Through its Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering businesses, Enercare provides intelligent
and energy-efficient products, services, programs and solutions that enable homeowners, multi-unit owners and
tenants to make a substantial contribution to North America’s growing culture of energy conservation.
Enercare has grown revenues every year since its inception in 2002, generated stable cash flow and consistently
maintained a high dividend yield. Enercare has investment grade ratings of BBB/ stable from S&P and DBRS,
respectively.
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Enercare’s Shares and Convertible Debentures trade under the symbols “ECI” and “ECI.DB”, respectively, on the
Toronto Stock Exchange. Enercare is a member of the S&P/TSX Composite Index, S&P/TSX Composite Low Volatility
Index, S&P/TSX Completion Index, S&P/TSX Canadian Consumer Discretionary Index and the S&P/TSX Canadian
Dividend Aristocrats Index.
PORTFOLIO SUMMARY

Enercare’s primary businesses are comprised of Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering. As
seen by the graph below, the Enercare Home Services business accounted for 44% of the overall revenue during
2016, compared to 76% during 2015, due to the acquisition of the Service Experts business on May 11, 2016. The
primary business activities within each of the Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering segments
are discussed below.

Revenue by Segment
2015

2016
15%

24%

44%

0%

76%
Enercare Home Services
Service Experts
Sub-metering

41%
Enercare Home Services
Service Experts
Sub-metering

Enercare Home Services Business
There are four main business activities within Enercare Home Services: Rentals, Protection Plans, HVAC Sales and
Other (which includes duct cleaning and chargeable services). The following diagram shows the breakdown of
customer contracts for each such activity for the year ending December 31, 2016.

1.1 Million

542,000

Rentals

Protection Plans

20,568
Year to Date
HVAC Sales
& Rentals

Other
Products &
Services
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Of the four main business activities, the Rentals component produces the largest portion of revenue, followed by
Protection Plans, HVAC Sales and Other, as illustrated in more detail by the following chart.

Home Services Revenue by Category
2016
HVAC Sales 4%

Other 2%

Protection
Plans 22%

Rentals 72%

Rentals
Enercare Home Services is focused on growing its rental portfolio by increasing originations and reducing Attrition.
Originations are primarily obtained from the new home builder market and new customers identified through its
field technicians. New products, such as rental HVAC (discussed further below in the section entitled “HVAC Sales
and Rentals”), have contributed significantly to increasing total originations. As seen in the graph below, additions
were 11,000 units in the fourth quarter of 2016 and 38,000 units for the year ended December 31, 2016, increases
of 10% and 15%, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2015.

Rental Additions
(000’s)
11
10
9

9

6

8

8

8
6

5

5

Q1

Q2

2014
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Q3

2015

Q4
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To aid in the reduction of Attrition, Enercare Home Services has implemented many programs, including continued
consumer education campaigns. Such initiatives, coupled with enhancements to our customer value proposition
(for example, the “same day service campaign”) and the coming into effect of Bill 55 on April 1, 2015, have helped
to significantly reduce Attrition. Attrition of approximately 8,300 units in the fourth quarter of 2016 and
approximately 30,000 units for the year ended December 31, 2016, improved by 6% or 500 units and approximately
14% or 5,000 units, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2015. Attrition has improved year-over-year
since 2009. The chart below illustrates Attrition trends since 2012.

Attrition
(000’s)
22
20
17
14
11

14
11

9

9

12
10

Q1

7
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11
9

8

7

12
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2014

2015

7

8

Q4

2016

Rental unit growth surpassed Attrition during the third and fourth quarters of 2015 and all of 2016 by approximately
11,000 units in total, the first six consecutive quarters of net unit growth for Enercare in over a decade.
In recent years changes in water heater technology and consumer trends have led to an increase in the origination
of higher value products. One of Enercare’s growth platforms has been to focus on single family and multi-residential
HVAC rental units. Although the results have a small impact on the unit continuity, HVAC units provide three to five
times more rental revenue than that of a water heater. A comparison of the product mix nine years ago to that of
today reveals that the portfolio contains a higher percentage of power vent (“PV”), HVAC and tankless rental units,
all of which provide a higher revenue than conventional vent (“CV”) units.
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Revenue Source as at December 31, 2007

Revenue Source as at December 31, 2016

Other
HVAC 3%
Tankless 0% 6%
Electric 3%

HVAC 9%
Other 7%
CV 32%
Tankless 3%
Electric 4%

CV 44%

PV 44%
PV 45%

The impact of changes in product mix over time is outlined further in the graph below, which shows that the difference
in rental rates applicable to new and lost customers has increased steadily over the past three years, with 2016
revenue spread widening to $16.86, an increase of $0.06 over 2015. In 2016, new customers were worth
approximately 1.6 times that of a lost customer.

Average Monthly Rental Rate Changes
Difference
of $16.80

Difference
of $13.79

Difference
of $16.86

$43.01
$40.83

$30.99
$26.15
$24.03
$17.20

2014

Attrition
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2015

Additions

2016

Attrition

Additions

Protection Plans
Enercare Home Services sells a variety of plans covering such items as furnaces, air conditioning, plumbing and
appliances. There are essentially two types of protection plans: maintenance protection plans and full service
protection plans. Maintenance protection plans essentially only provide for maintenance services, whereas full
service protection plans provide a broader suite of protections, such as parts and labour. The plans are typically one
year in length with monthly, quarterly or annual payment options. Due to the annual nature of the contract, the
protection plans tend to have a higher churn rate.
As announced in the first quarter of 2015, Enercare Home Services launched an extended protection plan program
on heating and air conditioning sales. Prior to the launch of this program, these types of plans were outsourced to a
third party extended warranty provider. These plans not only allow Enercare Home Services to retain the customer
relationship, but also provide for on-going maintenance, whereas the outsourced arrangement covered only limited
parts and labour. These plans augment the customer value proposition when a customer chooses to purchase rather
than rent. Since inception, approximately 74% of residential HVAC unit sales included an extended protection plan.
While Enercare Home Services’ protection plan base decreased by approximately 3,000 plans in 2016, protection
plan additions increased by approximately 5,000 plans compared to 2015. Higher protection plan additions are a
direct result of new customer acquisition and improved customer retention programs and product offerings.
Overall protection plan attrition remained stable throughout 2016, despite the loss of approximately 9,300 (2015 –
6,700) protection plans, as a result of them being replaced by rentals as part of the Enercare Home Services growth
strategy. In 2016, HVAC unit additions continued to be more through rentals than sales. As a result, the opportunities
for protection plan sales were fewer as rentals already include a service component. The execution of our HVAC
rental strategy is a key component of the long term growth of the business, as we continue to grow our recurring
revenue base, including service offerings that allow us to provide a valuable experience for customers while
positioning ourselves for future cross selling opportunities.
The following table illustrates the annualized protection plan contract continuity for 2016 and 2015.
Protection Plan Unit Continuity (000’s) December 31,
Contracts – start of year
Portfolio additions

2016

2015

545

553

71

66

Protection plan attrition

(74)

(74)

Contracts – end of year

542

545

(0.6%)

(1.4%)

% change in units during the year

HVAC Sales and Rentals
A customer can acquire an HVAC asset through a sale, comprised of an outright purchase or through financing.
Typically, most HVAC sales occur during the heating and cooling seasons of the year.
As part of Enercare Home Services’ strategy to grow its recurring revenue customer base, in 2013 Enercare Home
Services re-launched its HVAC rental program. Converting a customer from an outright sale to a long-term rental
product is capital intensive and creates a short-term reduction in the income statement, as opposed to a one-time
in year gain on margin. However, the rental HVAC creates a long-term customer revenue stream and the rental
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relationship provides greater cross-selling opportunities and is therefore more valuable than a one-time sale.
Enercare Home Services estimates that a rental unit is worth approximately 2.5 times that of a sale on a discounted
cash flow basis over the life of the asset.
A year to date comparison between 2016 and 2015 is outlined in the chart below.

HVAC Transaction Mix
Rental VS Sale*
(in 000’s)

6%
20.6
19.3

31%
13.5
10.3
9.0
7.1

Rental

Sale

2015

Total

2016

* HVAC rental and sales units presented include residential, commercial and multi-residential rental additions and sales. HVAC rental additions and sales reported
in Enercare’s quarterly reports prior to the fourth quarter of 2015 represented only residential units and excluded commercial and multi-residential.

During 2016, Enercare Home Services rented approximately 13,489 new units, an increase of 31% over the prior
year, and sold approximately 7,079 units for a total of 20,568 HVAC units, compared to 19,336 units in the prior
year, an increase of 6%. HVAC sales and rentals in 2016 were significantly impacted by weather trends throughout
the year. The unseasonably warmer temperatures experienced during the fourth quarter of 2015 continued into the
first quarter of 2016, leading to fewer furnace breakdowns and therefore lower demand for HVAC replacements and
repairs. The onset of warmer spring weather during the second quarter was also delayed, compared to historic norms,
leading to lower demand for air conditioning sales and rentals in the early part of the second quarter. Demand for
air conditioning sales and rentals increased significantly starting towards the end of the second quarter and
continuing throughout the third quarter, which experienced 71% higher cooling degree days1 compared to the 25
year average. Warm weather trends continued during the first half of the fourth quarter before returning to more
seasonable temperatures in December. The cooler weather experienced in December, combined with strong sales
execution, resulted in a 3% increase in the demand for HVAC sales and rentals during the fourth quarter, compared
to the same period in 2015.

1

Heating/cooling degree days for a given day represent the number of Celsius degrees that the mean temperature is above or below a given base temperature, in
this case 18°C. If the temperature is equal to 18°C, then the number will be zero. Values above or below the base of 18°C are used primarily to estimate the
heating and cooling requirements of buildings. Temperatures below 18°C result in higher heating degree days (lower cooling degree days), while those above
18°C result in lower heating degree days (higher cooling degree days).
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The strategy to convert HVAC sales into Rentals has resulted in increases to our recurring revenue. During 2016,
HVAC rental revenue accounted for an increase of approximately $8,700, compared to 2015. Nevertheless, Enercare
continues to be financially impacted by this strategy in the short-term. Enercare estimates that the increase in the
number of rental HVAC originations from 10,309 in 2015 to 13,489 in 2016 resulted in reductions of $8,400 and
$2,800 to revenues and EBITDA, respectively, compared to 2015. Furthermore, had all 13,489 new HVAC rental
additions in 2016 been sales as opposed to rentals, revenues and EBITDA during 2016 would have increased by
approximately $33,800 and $12,000, respectively. These estimates take into account the impact of lost one-time
sales revenues from corporate sales and royalty revenues earned on franchisee sales, both net of rental revenues
earned during the quarter, and capitalized costs which would have otherwise been included in cost of goods sold
had these new HVAC rental additions been sales as opposed to rentals.
Other
The Other category includes ancillary services such as duct cleaning, plumbing work and other non-contracted
chargeable services provided by Enercare Home Services.
Service Experts Business
Enercare expanded into the U.S. marketplace through its acquisition of Service Experts in May 2016. Service Experts
is a leading provider of HVAC equipment and servicing to residential and light commercial customers and operates
in 29 states in the United States and three provinces in Canada with a total of 90 branch locations. Service Experts
has an average local brand age of more than 50 years and conducts over 645,000 customer appointments per year.

Service Experts Revenue Mix
2016
3% 2%
17%

78%

Residential Service & Replacement
Residential New Construction

Commercial Service & Replacement
Commercial New Construction

As illustrated in the chart above, residential service and replacement made up 78% of revenues, while commercial
service and replacement made up 17%. Commercial service and replacement is comprised of both services to
commercial customers at Service Experts’ local centers as well as commercial services to its national account
customers that are managed through Service Experts’ national accounts group. The major business activities within
both the residential and commercial businesses consist of HVAC Sales and Servicing and Maintenance Contracts.
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HVAC Sales and Servicing
HVAC sales and servicing includes service and replacement, which consists of demand, tune-up and HVAC unit
replacements and upgrades, commercial HVAC service and replacement, and HVAC installations in commercial and
residential new construction.
HVAC repair and replacement activities comprise the majority of the Service Experts business and are considered
essential services to both residential and commercial customers. This revenue stream has minimal exposure to new
construction and in recent years has been positively affected by the housing stock growth and significant pent-up
demand from residential recession-era replacement deferrals in the United States. Additionally, Service Experts has
focused on various growth initiatives, including expanding outbound calling and online marketing to increase the
number of customer contacts which convert to booked calls and ultimately result in a larger recurring customer base.
Service Experts installed approximately 43,546 HVAC units during 2016, an increase of 8% compared to the 40,196
HVAC sales units installed during the same pre-acquisition period in 2015. Service Experts HVAC sales were also
significantly impacted by weather trends during the year2. Favourably warm weather conditions across the United
States during the second and third quarters led to a significant increase in the demand for air conditioning sales,
service and repairs. Temperatures across the United States in June, July, August and September were each one of
the top three warmest, compared to the same months, in the past 25 years1. However, similar warm weather trends
during the fourth quarter led to lower heating demand. Service Experts sales in Eastern Canada were also similarly
impacted by the same weather trends experienced by the Enercare Home Services segment. Higher revenues were
also driven by Service Experts initiatives to shift sales towards higher value products, which have contributed to
improvements in the average selling prices of installed units. A comparison of HVAC sales from May 11 to
December 31 of 2016 and 2015 is outlined in the chart below.
HVAC Sales for the period May 11 to December 31,
Installations
% change

2016

2015

43,546

40,196

8%

-

* Historical HVAC sales information is provided as an illustration of the improvement in Service Experts’ HVAC sales. Enercare was not party to Service Experts’
HVAC sales before the closing of the SE Transaction on May 11, 2016.

Maintenance Contracts
Maintenance contracts generally consist of annual or semi-annual maintenance contracts predominantly to a
recurring customer base. These maintenance plans not only generate recurring revenue but also promote the
development of customer loyalty and provide the opportunity for cross-marketing of Service Experts’ other products
and services to such customers.
Service Experts currently has two types of maintenance contracts in respect of HVAC equipment. The first is a
maintenance only contract where semi-annual or annual maintenance visits are conducted to perform diagnostics
over HVAC equipment while the second is a full service plan that includes repair services along with certain parts
and labour. Approximately 200,000 customers have ongoing maintenance contracts covering approximately

2

Weather trends from Weather Trends International.
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216,000 pieces of equipment. Although the total number of maintenance contracts can fluctuate from quarter to
quarter as a result of the timing of contract renewals and the number of new HVAC unit installations initiated by
customers with maintenance contracts, in recent years, maintenance contracts has remained stable for Service
Experts. Service Experts experienced a slight decline in maintenance contracts during the post-acquisition period
from May 11, 2016 to December 31, 2016. This was consistent with historical trends where slight reductions in the
number of maintenance contracts have been experienced during periods of high HVAC sales. The following table
illustrates the maintenance contracts continuity for the period of May 11, 2016 to December 31, 2016.
Maintenance Contract Unit Continuity (000’s) May 11 to December 31,
Contracts – start of period

2016
218

Portfolio additions

68

Portfolio attrition

(70)

Contracts – end of period

216

% change in units during the period

(1%)

Sub-metering Business
Enercare entered the multi-residential Sub-metering business through two acquisitions made in the last eight years.
There are two main market segments for Sub-metering in the multi-residential market: retro-fit sub-metering and
new build construction. Within each market, apartments and condos have significantly different revenue streams.
Within the retro-fit revenue stream, after a contract is signed, the meters are typically installed within the first two
quarters following signing. However, typically for a retro-fit installed unit to become Billable, Enercare must wait for
tenant turnover to occur. As a result, it can take many years for all units in a retro-fit building to become Billable. In
the new build sub-metering market, after a contract is signed, the meters are usually not installed for several years
as installation occurs when the building is in its final construction stages. However, in this revenue stream, once the
meters are installed they become Billable relatively quickly and revenue is typically at 100% penetration from that
point onwards.
On July 15, 2015, Enercare purchased Triacta, a leader in the design and manufacturing of advanced, utility-grade
energy management meters for multi-unit residential, commercial and institutional applications. Triacta’s installed
base includes the U.S., Canada and off-shore markets.
Through acquisition and subsequent growth in contracted units, many of the above-mentioned up-front capital
investments have been made. As seen in the graph below, currently there are 235,000 contracted units. Of those
contracted units, 165,000 have meters installed and 116,000 of those units are billing. Enercare expects to
experience continued revenue growth as these contracted units are turned into installed units and subsequently
Billable units. Over the past three years, Enercare has implemented a number of LEAN and continuous improvement
initiatives improving work flow, efficiencies and expanding capacity within Sub-metering Automation of standard
work as well as LEAN tools and practices are now part of the regular operating rigor within Sub-metering. These
improvements have contributed to the success experienced in growing contracted units over the past five quarters.
Contracted units increased by approximately 30,000 units in 2016 to 235,000 units from 205,000 units in 2015,
showing improvements of 10,000 units or 50% over 2015.
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Sub-metering Unit Continuity
(000’s)

15%
235
205

6%
155

165

13%
116
103

Contracted

Installed

Q4 2015

Billable

Q4 2016

2016 HIGHLIGHTS

(000’s)

2016

2015

Change

Home Services

$ 438,618

$ 426,471

12,147

3%

Service Experts

410,735

-

410,735

100%

Sub-metering

145,989

137,150

8,839

6%

599

205

394

192%

$ 995,941

$ 563,826

$ 432,115

77%

265,792

222,320

43,472

20%

Investment income
Total revenues
EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA

3

$

Percent
Change

270,198

225,190

45,008

20%

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA3

285,076

234,737

50,339

21%

Earnings before income taxes

85,867

68,829

17,038

25%

(54,381)

(10,197)

(44,184)

433%

Current tax (expense)
Deferred income tax (expense)/recovery
Net earnings

29,644
$

61,130

(7,677)
$

50,955

$

37,321

(486)%

10,175

20%

Payout Ratio – Maintenance4

51%

46%

5%

11%

Payout Ratio4

94%

66%

28%

42%

45%

51%

(6%)

(12%)

77%

80%

(3%)

(4%)

Normalized Payout Ratio – Maintenance
Normalized Payout Ratio5

5

3

Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA are Non-IFRS financial measures. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures section in this MD&A.

4

Payout Ratio and Payout Ratio – Maintenance are Non-IFRS financial measures. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures section in this MD&A.

5

Normalized Payout Ratio – Maintenance and Normalized Payout Ratio are Non-IFRS financial measures which have been calculated by normalizing the
distributable cash in both the Payout Ratio – Maintenance and Payout Ratio for the impact of the one year tax deferral in 2015, arising from the DE Acquisition.
On a full year basis, total tax expense was approximately $19,001 lower, during 2015, as a result of this one year deferral which will reverse in 2016.
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The following highlights compare 2016 results with those of 2015.
• At the time of the SE Transaction, Enercare anticipated the SE Transaction to be 25% accretive to Normalized
Pro Forma Distributable Cash per Share in 2016. Enercare is pleased to announce that the accretion delivered
was 30%.
• Total revenues of $995,941 increased by $432,115, or 77% in 2016, primarily as a result of $410,735 of revenues
added through the SE Transaction. Revenues in the Enercare Home Services business were $438,618, increasing
by $12,147, primarily as a result of rental rate increases, asset mix changes and growth in rental HVAC units.
Service Experts revenues of $410,735 were stronger than anticipated, assisted by warmer temperatures during
the second and third quarters, which resulted in higher air conditioning sales, partly offset by similar warm weather
trends during the fourth quarter, which led to lower heating demand. Sub-metering revenues increased to $145,989
from $137,150, primarily as a result of higher flow through commodity charges and increases in Billable units.
• EBITDA increased by $43,472 to $265,792 in 2016, driven primarily by improved total revenues, partly offset by
higher SG&A costs, primarily from $11,485 of acquisition and integration costs incurred during the year associated
with the SE Transaction. Service Experts contributed $38,990 of the increase in EBITDA during the year. Adjusted
EBITDA of $270,198 increased by $45,008 after removing from EBITDA the impact of the net loss on disposal
of equipment.
• After removing $11,485 of acquisition and integration related expenditures associated with the SE Transaction
and $3,393 of integration and business transformation costs related to the DE Acquisition, Acquisition Adjusted
EBITDA was $285,076 in 2016, an increase of $50,339, primarily as a result of the SE Transaction.
• HVAC rental unit additions of 13,489 units in 2016 increased 31%, compared to the prior year, as a result of the
HVAC rental program. During 2016, HVAC customer installations continued to be more through rentals than sales
as a result of the success of the HVAC rental program. Emphasizing HVAC rentals over one-time sales resulted in
lower Enercare Home Services revenues and EBITDA of approximately $33,800 and $12,000, respectively, in 2016.
• EBITDA for the Sub-metering business decreased by $1,597, or 11% in 2016, driven primarily by a one-time
settlement of $580 from a supplier of sub-metering equipment and a $2,484 gain on disposal of sub-metering
equipment, both in 2015, partly offset by improvements in Billable units, the impact of the revenue assurance
program and LEAN and continuous improvement initiatives. In early 2016, the Sub-metering business transitioned
to using Triacta meters in a majority of its new installations resulting in savings of approximately $800 in annual
capital costs. Overall capital spending in the Sub-metering business increased in 2016, compared to the prior
year, from higher allowances paid for larger contracts and the investment in a geo exchange pilot project at the end
of 2016.
• Net earnings of $61,130 in 2016, increased by $10,175 or 20%, reflecting higher EBITDA offset by higher total
taxes, amortization and interest from the 2016 Term Loan.
• Attrition in the Rentals portfolio was approximately 8,000 units in the fourth quarter of 2016 and 30,000 units for
the year ended December 31, 2016, improvements of 11% and 14%, respectively, compared to the same periods
in 2015. Attrition has improved year-over-year since 2009. Rental unit growth surpassed Attrition during the third
and fourth quarters of 2015 and every quarter of 2016 by approximately 11,000 units in total; such periods have
been the first six consecutive quarters of net unit growth in over a decade.
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• The Payout Ratio – Maintenance, which includes only capital and lease expenditures in respect of vehicles and
exchanged rental and metering equipment, was 51% in 2016, compared to 46% in 2015, primarily from lower
Operating Cash Flow6 and higher dividend payments as a result of the 10% dividend increase announced in the
first quarter of 2016. When normalized for the impact of the one year tax deferral, the Normalized Payout Ratio –
Maintenance improved to 45% for 2016, compared to 51% in 2015.
• The Payout Ratio was 94% in 2016, versus 66% in 2015, primarily as a result of higher tax, higher net capital and
vehicle lease expenditures, dividend payments as a result of the 10% dividend increase announced in the first
quarter of 2016 and acquisition related costs related to the SE Transaction (see additional commentary under
“Distributable Cash and Payout Ratios”). When normalized for the impact of the one year tax deferral, the
Normalized Payout Ratio was 77% for 2016, compared to 80% for the same period in 2015.
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS – 2016 AND 2017 TO DATE

Senior Management Changes
On January 18, 2016, Irene Zaguskin was appointed Chief Information Officer of Enercare and Enercare Solutions
and each of their respective subsidiary entities.
On February 1, 2016, Jenine Krause was appointed Chief Operating Officer of Home Services and an officer of
Enercare and Enercare Solutions and each of their respective subsidiary entities.
On June 1, 2016, Enercare appointed John Piercy as General Manager and Senior Vice President, Sub-metering.
Enercare Signs Agreement with Quadlogic Meters Canada Inc. (“QMC”) for Exclusive Supply of World-Class GWF
Thermal Metering Technology in Ontario
On January 5, 2016, ECI announced that it entered into an agreement with QMC for the exclusive supply of thermal
sub-metering technology from GWF MessSysteme AG (“GWF”) of Switzerland. Under the terms of the agreement,
QMC will supply thermal meters exclusively in Ontario to Enercare, other than to certain local Ontario utilities.
The deal follows Enercare’s acquisition of Triacta in July 2015, and underscores ECI’s commitment to providing
leading edge sub-metering technology and solutions to developers, landlords and property managers.
Manufactured in Switzerland and deployed to measure both heating and cooling in residential, commercial and
institutional applications, GWF thermal meters meet some of the highest international standards for accuracy and
reliability, including EN 1434.
Enercare is Included in the S&P/TSX Canadian Dividend Aristocrats Index
On January 22, 2016, the S&P Dow Jones Canadian Index Services announced Enercare was to be included in the
S&P/TSX Canadian Dividend Aristocrats Index after the close of trading on Friday, January 29, 2016. The S&P/TSX
Canadian Dividend Aristocrats Index is designed to measure the performance of companies included in the S&P
Canada BMI that have consistently increasing dividends every year for at least five years. Index constituents are
weighted according to their indicated yield as of the last trading date in November.

6

Operating Cash Flow is a Non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures section in this MD&A.
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ECI and Starlight Investments Agree to Sub-metering Services for 6,264 Rental Units
On April 19, 2016, ECI announced an agreement with Starlight Investments Ltd. (“Starlight”) for the renewal of
electricity sub-metering services for 5,876 units across 79 rental properties and an additional 388 new units across
five properties in Ontario. Starlight properties are equipped with meters from Triacta.
Enercare will continue to manage all metering, billing and customer service matters directly with residents.
Enercare Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
At Enercare’s Annual General Meeting of shareholders held on April 28, 2016, shareholders re-elected all of
management’s director nominees and reappointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Enercare’s external auditor for
the ensuing year.
Enercare Completes Acquisition of Service Experts
On May 11, 2016, Enercare and Enercare Solutions announced that Enercare Solutions completed the SE
Transaction for consideration of US $340,750 (the “Consideration”), excluding transaction costs and subject to final
working capital and other adjustments. For more information regarding Service Experts, see the AIF.
The SE Transaction was expected to be 25% accretive to Normalized pro forma Distributable Cash per Share7 in
2016 (see “2016 Highlights” in this MD&A for results with respect to accretion). For the year ended 2015, if
Service Experts and Enercare had been combined, the following would be the pro forma impact on certain of
Enercare’s metrics:
• pro forma revenue of approximately $1,118,854, an increase of 98%;
• pro forma Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA7 of approximately $271,840, an increase of 16%;
• Normalized pro forma Distributable Cash7 of approximately $124,289, an increase of 37%;
• Normalized pro forma Distributable Cash per Share7 of approximately $1.18, an increase of 18%; and
• Normalized pro forma Payout Ratio7 improves to 70% from 82%.
Debt Financing
In order to finance a portion of the Consideration, Enercare Solutions entered into the 2016 Term Loan. The 2016
Term Loan comprises two 4-year non-revolving, non-amortizing variable rate term credit facilities in the aggregate
amount of US $200,000 with a maturity date of May 11, 2020. The full amount of the 2016 Term Loan was drawn
for the purpose of financing the SE Transaction. The 2016 Term Loan contains representations, warranties, covenants
and events of default that are customary for credit facilities of this kind and on substantially the same terms as the
2014 Term Loan (see “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Debt Financing” in this MD&A), as the 2014 Term Loan was
modified in conjunction with the SE Transaction as described below. Enercare Solutions’ obligations under the 2016
Term Loan are guaranteed by all of Enercare Solutions’ direct and indirect subsidiaries, including Service Experts
and its subsidiaries.

7

Excludes transaction costs, potential synergies in the SE Transaction and the shares issued under the over-allotment option. See “Non-IFRS Financial and
Performance Measures” in this MD&A.
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The 2016 Term Loan is payable interest only until maturity and is pre-payable in whole or in part at any time without
penalty. The 2016 Term Loan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 125 basis points or base rate plus 25 basis points
at Enercare Solutions’ credit rating as of the date hereof.
In conjunction with the SE Transaction, Enercare Solutions entered into an amendment to the 2014 Debt Financing
to give effect to the SE Transaction and 2016 Term Loan which included, among other things (i) modifying the
definition of Adjusted EBITDA to exclude SE Transaction and integration costs up to $10,300 in the aggregate, (ii)
adding Service Experts and its subsidiaries as guarantors, (iii) increasing certain of the “basket” sizes permitted
under certain covenants and events of default (to take into account the increase of assets under management due
to the SE Transaction) and (iv) the enhancement of certain financial covenants as described below.
The amendment to the 2014 Debt Financing included enhancements to certain of the financial covenants described
under “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Debt Financing” in this MD&A as follows: (i) the ratio of total debt (other
than subordinated debt) to Adjusted EBITDA must now only be equal to or less than 4.75:1 and (ii) the ratio of
Adjusted EBITDA to Cash Interest Expense must now only be equal to or greater than 3.00:1.
Equity Financing
On March 30, 2016, Enercare announced that it had completed its previously announced offering of SE Subscription
Receipts (the “Offering”). The Offering, which raised gross proceeds of approximately $239,800, was underwritten
on a bought deal basis by a syndicate of underwriters co-led by National Bank Financial Inc. and TD Securities Inc.
and included RBC Dominion Securities Inc., Scotia Capital Inc., Desjardins Securities Inc. and Goldman Sachs
Canada Inc. A total of 15,725,600 SE Subscription Receipts (which included 1,429,600 SE Subscription Receipts
sold as a result of the exercise in full of the over-allotment option by the underwriters) were sold at a price of $15.25
per SE Subscription Receipt (the “Offering Price”).
The majority of the net proceeds from the Offering were used by Enercare to finance the remaining portion of the
Consideration. In accordance with the terms of the agreement pursuant to which the SE Subscription Receipts were
issued, each outstanding SE Subscription Receipt was exchanged for one Share, resulting in the issuance of
15,834,600 Shares (including 109,000 Shares issued to certain U.S. persons, including the Chief Executive Officer
and certain other officers of Service Experts in exchange for the SE Subscription Receipts issued to them in a
concurrent private placement) and a cash payment equal to $0.14 per SE Subscription Receipt. The cash payment
was equal to the aggregate amount of dividends per Share for which record dates occurred since the issuance of
the SE Subscription Receipts, less any withholding taxes, if any, to the date of closing of the SE Transaction. The
Shares issued in exchange for the SE Subscription Receipts issued in the concurrent private placement are subject
to a contractual hold period of six months from closing of the Offering.
Dividend Increase
On May 12, 2016, Enercare increased its monthly dividend to shareholders of record on May 31, 2016 to $0.077,
an increase of 10%.
Termination of its Nomination Agreement with DE
On May 27, 2016, Enercare announced that it received notice from DE that DE had sold the remainder of the Shares
originally issued to DE as partial consideration for the purchase by Enercare of the OHCS business. Enercare
previously purchased for cancellation 3,846,154 Shares from DE by way of a block trade in November 2015 under
its NCIB.
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As a result of the sale, the nomination agreement between Enercare and DE entered into in connection with the DE
Acquisition terminated. The nomination agreement provided that as long as DE controlled not less than 3,846,154
Shares, DE was entitled to nominate one individual for consideration by Enercare’s governance committee and board.
Scott Boose, who was nominated to the Enercare board by DE pursuant to the nomination agreement, resigned from
the board of directors effective May 26, 2016.
ECI and Park Property Management Agree to Renew Sub-metering Services for Over 6,900 Rental Units
On July 5, 2016, ECI announced an agreement with Park Property Management Inc. (“Park Property”) for the renewal
of electricity sub-metering services for over 6,900 units across 53 rental properties across Ontario. Park Property’s
buildings are equipped with meters from Triacta.
ECI Receives Accreditation by the Better Business Bureau
On July 12, 2016, ECI announced it had been accredited by the Better Business Bureau (“BBB”) serving Central
Ontario. ECI holds a BBB rating of A+.
Enercare Announces Renewal of its Normal Course Issuer Bid
On July 15, 2016, Enercare announced that it had received approval from the TSX for the renewal of its NCIB,
pursuant to which Enercare may purchase for cancellation up to 10,286,906 of its Shares, representing
approximately 10% of its public float of issued and outstanding Shares as of July 4, 2016. As of July 4, 2016, there
were 103,836,505 Shares outstanding. The average daily trading volume from January 1, 2016 to June 30, 2016
was 320,937 Shares. Daily purchases will be limited to 80,234 Shares, other than block purchase exceptions. The
purchases could commence on July 20, 2016, and will terminate on July 19, 2017, or on such earlier date as
Enercare may complete its purchases under its NCIB. The purchases made by Enercare will be implemented through
the facilities of the TSX, through alternative Canadian trading systems or by other means as may be permitted by
the TSX or a securities regulatory authority, such as prearranged crosses, exempt offers and private agreements
under an issuer bid exemption order issued by a securities regulatory authority. Purchases made on the open market
through the facilities of the TSX and alternative trading systems will be at the prevailing market price at the time of
acquisition. Purchases made by way of private agreement under an issuer bid exemption order may be at a discount
to the prevailing market price as provided in the exemption order.
The actual amount of Shares that may be purchased under the NCIB is subject to, and cannot exceed, limits referred
to above and the timing of such purchases will be determined by Enercare. All Shares purchased under the NCIB
will be cancelled. Under the NCIB that expired on July 19, 2016, Enercare purchased a total of 4,400,154 Shares
at a weighted average price of $15.36 per Share.
Enercare believes that, from time to time, the market price of its Shares does not fully reflect the value of its business
and its future business prospects. As a result, Enercare believes that the purchase of its outstanding Shares
represents an appropriate and desirable use of its available funds. In addition, purchases, including purchases under
the NCIB, may increase the liquidity of the Shares.
Enercare Launches New Community Program to Give Families in Need a Fresh Start
On September 13, 2016, Enercare announced the launch of the Enercare Fresh Start Program, a signature new
corporate social responsibility program designed to help families transitioning between temporary shelters and a
home of their own.
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One of Enercare’s key objectives with the Fresh Start Program is to give back to the communities where it operates
by partnering with local organizations to help disadvantaged families living in a shelter due to unfortunate and
unforeseen circumstances. The Enercare Fresh Start Program helps families get back on their feet by providing
simple necessities, small luxuries and professional home tips essential to starting a new beginning in a new home.
Enercare Launches Industry First Mobile App for Customers
On September 27, 2016, Enercare announced that it had become the first Canadian home services company to
launch a self-service mobile app, offering customers an easy-to-use, real-time tracking tool to manage their service
appointments and enhance their overall experience with Enercare.
Enercare Honoured for HR Excellence with the Accompass Award for HR Team of the Year
On September 29, 2016, Enercare announced that it had been honoured by HRM Canada, a leading human
resources publication, with the Accompass Award for HR Team of the Year. The prize, which is awarded annually to
an organization with 500 or more employees in Canada, recognizes Enercare’s high performance and focus on talent
amid a period of exponential growth of its workforce.
Enercare Commends the Introduction of the Putting Consumers First Act, 2016
On November 7, 2016, Enercare commended the Ontario Government for strengthening protections for Ontario
consumers with its introduction of the Putting Consumers First Act (Consumer Protection Statute Law Amendment),
2016 (“Bill 59”). The government stated that Bill 59 is intended to protect consumers against ‘aggressive door-todoor sales marketers who use high-pressure tactics to sell certain products and services.’ Among other things, if
passed as introduced and described, Bill 59 is expected to:
• Ban unsolicited door-to-door sales of prescribed appliances such as water heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and
water filters;
• Void all contracts resulting from unsolicited door-to-door sales of the prescribed appliances;
• Enable consumers to demand a refund from the supplier up to one year after the payment was made under the
void contract; and
• Provides consumers with a 10-day cooling off period to reconsider their decision in respect of consumer-initiated
contracts related to prescribed appliances signed in their home.
As Bill 59 is a framework act, its substance will be contained in regulations passed under it. As a result, the details
of the act, including the specific appliances to which Bill 59 will apply and any exceptions to the ban on door-todoor sales will be found in regulations, which have yet to be published.
On February 28, 2017, Enercare presented to the Standing Committee on Social Policy of the Ontario Legislature
in respect of Bill 59.
The new rules for water heater door-to-door sales that came into effect on April 1, 2015, coupled with various
Enercare initiatives to educate consumers and enhance its customer value proposition, have helped to significantly
reduce attrition in its rental water heater business. If passed, Enercare believes that Bill 59 will positively impact its
rental water heater, HVAC and water treatment systems business.
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Enercare Introduces New Finance Plan for Purchases of Heating and Cooling Equipment
On November 16, 2016, Enercare announced that it had launched a new finance program allowing technicians to
provide quick onsite credit approvals to residential customers to finance furnaces, air conditioners and water
treatment equipment. The Enercare Finance Plan provides customers with an efficient and user-friendly program
that allows them to deal directly with Enercare for the purchase and financing of their equipment. Features include
an automated credit approval process, real-time quote comparisons based on financing options or amounts, and up
to 180 month terms.
Enercare Announces Adoption of a Dividend Reinvestment Plan
On November 18, 2016, Enercare announced that it has adopted a Dividend Reinvestment Plan. Canadian resident
shareholders were entitled to register for the plan effective with Enercare’s monthly dividend paid on December 30,
2016. Shareholders can elect to receive their dividends in the form of Shares instead of cash as well as the benefit
of acquiring the Shares at a 5% discount to the prevailing market price, unless Enercare notifies shareholders that
it will satisfy the issuance through open market purchases, in which case the shares would be issued at the prevailing
market rate. Shares acquired under the plan will be automatically enrolled. To facilitate the plan, Enercare changed
its policy of determining the record date for shareholders eligible to receive a dividend such that the dividend record
date will be on or about the 15th day of the month in which the associated dividend payment is made.
ECI and North Edge Properties Agree to Sub-Metering Services
On November 22, 2016, ECI announced an agreement with North Edge Properties Ltd under which ECI will provide
electricity sub-metering services for 1,090 rental units. The units will be equipped with meters from Triacta. ECI will
manage all metering, billing and customer service matters.
Enercare Introduces Rental HVAC and Water Heater Offerings to Service Experts Centres in Canada
On February 13, 2017, Enercare and Enercare Solutions announced the completed rollout of rental HVAC products
and rental water heaters at all 15 residential heating and air conditioning Service Experts locations in Canada.
In addition to rolling out rental HVAC and water heater products at Service Experts locations in Canada, rental HVAC
offerings are being piloted in two U.S. states, and Enercare expects to rollout in two additional states in the coming
months. The U.S. rental program is similar to Enercare’s existing Canadian rental program, except that due to U.S.
regulations, the rental contracts in the United States will be for a definitive term, which in the piloted states is 10 years.
Issuance of 2017 Notes and Redemption of Series 2012-1 Notes
On February 21, 2017, Enercare Solutions completed its offering of $500,000 aggregate principal amount of 2017
Notes, consisting of $275,000 (the “2017-1 Notes”) and $225,000 (the “2017-2 Notes”). The 2017-1 Notes were
sold at a price of 99.982% of the principal amount, with an effective yield of 3.384% per annum if held to maturity
and the 2017-2 Notes were sold at 99.982% of the principal amount, with an effective yield of 3.993% per annum
if held to maturity.
The 2017 Notes received ratings of “BBB”, with a “stable” trend from DBRS and “BBB”, with a “stable” outlook from S&P.
The proceeds of the offering will be used by Enercare Solutions (i) to redeem all of its outstanding 2012 Notes on
March 23, 2017, (ii) to repay existing credit facilities and (iii) for general corporate purposes. The principal amount
of 2012 Notes outstanding as of the date hereof is $250,000. Holders of the 2012 Notes will receive an aggregate
redemption price of approximately $258,377, which includes interest and the applicable make-whole payment.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview
Consolidated Financial Highlights (000’s)
Total revenues

2016

2015

2014

$ 995,941

$ 563,826

$ 362,753

85,867

68,829

32,158

(54,381)

(10,197)

(27,287)

Earnings before income taxes
Current tax expense
Deferred income tax (expense)/recovery
Net earnings

29,644
$

61,130

(7,677)
$

50,955

17,405
$

22,276

EBITDA

265,792

222,320

165,930

Adjusted EBITDA

270,198

225,190

175,789

Acquisition adjusted EBITDA

285,076

234,737

183,511

Per Share information
Shareholder dividends declared

$

0.82

$

0.82

$

0.72

Net earnings

$

0.62

$

0.56

$

0.34

Total assets

1,970,792

1,376,247

1,406,061

Total debt

969,115

737,212

688,111

Cash provided by operating activities

164,766

163,886

145,629

Distributable Cash

85,406

$ 112,506

Payout Ratio – Maintenance

$

51%

46%

$

59,553
49%

Payout Ratio

94%

66%

81%

2016 vs. 2015
Total revenues increased by approximately 77% or $432,115 to $995,941 in 2016. Service Experts revenues,
excluding investment income, contributed $410,735 for 2016 since the May 11, 2016 acquisition date. Enercare
Home Services revenues, excluding investment income, increased during the year by $12,147 to $438,618,
compared to 2015, primarily as a result of a rental rate increase implemented in January 2016 and changes in asset
mix and growth in rental HVAC units. Net earnings were $61,130 in 2016, $10,175 higher than 2015, primarily
from the SE Transaction, partly offset by higher amortization expenses and total taxes.
EBITDA increased by 20% or $43,472 as a result of the SE Transaction. Adjusted EBITDA increased by $45,008 or
20% after removing from EBITDA the impact of a reduced loss on disposal of equipment and including other income.
After removing net expenditures of $14,878 associated with the SE Transaction and DE Acquisition, Acquisition
Adjusted EBITDA was $285,076 in 2016, an increase of $50,339 over 2015.
Total assets increased by approximately $594,545 in 2016, primarily due to the SE Transaction. Total debt increased
by $231,903 to $969,115, primarily from the 2016 Term Loan. Cash flow from operating activities increased by
$880 in 2016, primarily as a result of improved EBITDA. The Payout Ratio increased to 94% from 66%, primarily as
a result of higher net capital and vehicle lease expenditures, dividend payments as a result of the 10% dividend
increase announced in the first quarter of 2016 and acquisition related costs related to the SE Transaction (see
additional commentary under “Distributable Cash and Payout Ratios”).
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2015 vs. 2014
Total revenues increased by approximately 55% or $201,073 to $563,826 in 2015. The improved revenues were
the result of an increase in Home Services revenue of $184,137 or 76% to $426,471, driven by approximately
$176,800 of revenues generated following the DE Acquisition and approximately $7,400 from a rental rate increase
effective January 2016, improved billing completeness, asset mix changes and growth in rental HVAC units. Increases
in commodity charges and Billable units in the Sub-metering business increased revenues by $17,537 to $137,150
in 2015. Investment income of $205 was lower by $601, primarily from $531 of one-time interest earned from the
Subscription Receipts proceeds received in the third quarter of 2014 in connection with the DE Acquisition. Net
earnings were $50,955 in 2015, $28,679 higher than 2014 primarily from improved EBITDA, partly offset by higher
amortization expenses and total taxes.
EBITDA increased by 34% or $56,390 as a result of improved revenues and lower losses on disposal of equipment,
partially offset by higher combined cost of goods sold and SG&A expenses of $151,844 driven primarily by the DE
Acquisition, including related rebranding and integration costs, and increased flow through commodity charges.
Adjusted EBITDA increased by $49,401 or 28% after removing from EBITDA the impact of a reduced loss on disposal
of equipment and including other income. After removing net expenditures of $9,168 associated with the Acquisition
and Triacta acquisition costs of $379, Adjusted EBITDA was $234,737 in 2015, an increase of $51,226 over the
same period in 2014.
Total assets decreased by approximately $29,814 in 2015, primarily due to the amortization of intangible assets
and equipment. Total debt increased by $49,101 to $737,212 primarily from $50,000 which was drawn on the
2014 Revolver to partially fund the Shares purchased from DE by way of a block trade under the NCIB. Cash flow
from operating activities increased by $18,257 in 2015, primarily as a result of improved EBITDA, higher
amortization and deferred income taxes partly offset by higher accounts receivable (see the discussion in “Liquidity
and Capital Resources – Cash from Financing” in this MD&A). The Payout Ratio decreased to 66% from 81%,
primarily from improved Operating Cash Flow (see the discussion in “Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures”
in this MD&A), partly offset by higher dividend payments as a result of the 16% increase announced in the first
quarter of 2015, higher capital expenditures and DE Acquisition related integration costs.
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Earnings Statement

Year ended December 31, 2016
(000’s)

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts

Submetering

22,574

$ 142,239

28,600

388,161

349

28

$ 438,967

$ 410,763

$ 146,019

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenue

$ 410,018

$

$

-

$ 574,831

3,750

-

420,511

30

192

599

192

$ 995,941

$

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity

-

-

(111,482)

Maintenance & servicing costs

(66,994)

(17,711)

Sales and other services

(22,274)

(239,415)

(1,845)

(89,268)

(257,126)

(113,327)

(100,343)

(114,593)

(19,323)

Total cost of goods sold
SG&A expenses
Foreign exchange
Amortization expense
Net (loss)/gain on disposal

215

-

(35)

(122,194)

(13,825)

(4,464)

(19)

51
(6,719)
77

-

(111,482)

-

(84,705)

-

(263,534)

-

(459,721)

(32,091)

(266,350)

97

328

(2,586)

(145,324)

-

(4,406)

Interest expense:
Interest expense payable in cash

(32,709)

Non-cash interest expense

(1,892)

Total interest expense

(34,601)

Total expenses

(910,074)

Earnings before income taxes

85,867

Current tax (expense)

(54,381)

Deferred tax recovery

29,644

Net earnings

$

61,130

EBITDA

$ 245,107

$

38,990

$

13,497

$ (31,802)

$ 265,792

Adjusted EBITDA

$ 249,571

$

39,009

$

13,420

$ (31,802)

$ 270,198

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$ 252,964

$

50,494

$

13,420

$ (31,802)

$ 285,076
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Year ended December 31, 2015
(000’s)

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts

Submetering

-

$ 133,652

35,962

-

186

-

$ 137,169

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenue

$ 390,509

$ 426,657

$

$

$

-

$ 524,161

3,498

-

39,460

19

-

205

-

$ 563,826

$

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity

-

-

(106,203)

Maintenance & servicing costs

(61,164)

-

Sales and other services

(25,448)

-

(2,090)

Total cost of goods sold
SG&A expenses
Foreign exchange

-

(86,612)

-

(108,293)

(104,858)

-

(16,906)

(107)

-

Amortization expense

(118,011)

-

(5,849)

60

Net (loss) on disposal

(5,354)

-

2,484

-

(106,203)

-

(61,164)

-

(27,538)

-

(194,905)

(22,504)

(144,268)

4

(43)

(1,556)

(125,416)

-

(2,870)

Interest expense:
Interest expense payable in cash

(26,105)

Non-cash interest expense

(1,970)

Total interest expense

(28,075)

Total expenses

(495,577)

Other income

580

580

Earnings before income taxes

68,829

Current tax (expense)

(10,197)

Deferred tax (expense)

(7,677)

Net earnings

$

50,955

EBITDA

$ 229,726

$

-

$

15,094

$ (22,500)

$ 222,320

Adjusted EBITDA

$ 235,080

$

-

$

12,610

$ (22,500)

$ 225,190

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$ 244,248

$

-

$

12,989

$ (22,500)

$ 234,737
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Revenues
Total revenues of $995,941 for 2016 increased by $432,115 or 77% compared to 2015, primarily as a result of
the SE Transaction.
Enercare Home Services revenues, excluding investment income, increased during the year by $12,147 to $438,618,
compared to 2015, primarily as a result of a rental rate increase implemented in January 2016 and changes in asset
mix and growth in rental HVAC units. Contracted revenue in Enercare Home Services represents revenue generated
by the Rentals portfolio and protection plan contracts, while sales and other services revenue mainly pertains to
one-time sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers and air conditioners, as well as plumbing, duct
cleaning and other services. HVAC sales and rentals in 2016 were significantly impacted by weather trends
throughout the year. The unseasonably warmer temperatures experienced during the fourth quarter of 2015
continued into the first quarter of 2016, leading to fewer furnace breakdowns and therefore lower demand for HVAC
replacements and repairs. The onset of warmer spring weather during the second quarter was also delayed,
compared to historic norms, leading to lower demand for air conditioning sales and rentals in the early part of the
second quarter. Demand for air conditioning sales and rentals increased significantly starting towards the end of
the second quarter and continuing throughout the third quarter, which experienced 71% higher cooling degree days8
compared to the 25 year average. Warm weather trends continued during the first half of the fourth quarter before
returning to more seasonable temperatures in December. The cooler weather experienced in December, combined
with strong sales execution, resulted in a 3% increase in the demand for HVAC sales and rentals during the fourth
quarter, compared to the same period in 2015.
Enercare’s strategy to emphasize HVAC rentals over outright sales resulted in significant increases in recurring
revenue at the expense of sales and other services revenue.
Service Experts revenues, excluding investment income, of $410,735 for 2016 since the May 11, 2016 acquisition
date were stronger than anticipated, driven primarily by favourably warm weather conditions across the United
States and higher average dollars per contract.
Temperatures across the United States during 2016 were one of the top three warmest in the past 25 years8.
Favourably warm weather conditions across the United States during the second and third quarters, led to a
significant increase in the demand for air conditioning sales, service and repairs. Temperatures across the United
States in June, July, August and September were each one of the top three warmest, compared to the same months,
in the past 25 years2. Similar warm weather trends during the fourth quarter led to lower heating demand. Service
Experts sales in Eastern Canada were also positively impacted by the same weather trends experienced by the
Enercare Home Services segment. Higher revenues were also driven by Service Experts initiatives to shift sales
towards higher value products, which have contributed to improvements in the average selling prices of installed
units. Service Experts revenues were lower by $20,833 of 2016, as a result of purchase accounting adjustments of
deferred revenue associated with the SE Transaction.
Sub-metering revenues, excluding investment income, were $145,989 in 2016, an increase of $8,839 or 6% over
2015, primarily as a result of higher billable units. The increase compared to 2015 was also impacted by revenues
generated from the acquisition of Triacta. Sub-metering revenue includes total pass through energy charges of
$111,482 in the year, increases of $5,279 or 5% over 2015. The acquisition of Triacta in the third quarter of 2015
resulted in $3,431 of revenues in 2016, an increase of $1,193.
8

Weather trends from Weather Trends International.
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Investment income was $599 in 2016, an increase of $394, when compared to 2015. The change in investment
income was primarily attributable to non-recurring interest earned in the second quarter of 2016 from the SE
Subscription Receipts proceeds received in connection with the SE Transaction combined with interest income from
the registered pension plan, which was in an asset balance instead of a net obligation during 2016.
Cost of Goods Sold
Total cost of goods sold for 2016 was $459,721, an increase of $264,816 or 136%, compared to 2015, primarily
as a result of the SE Transaction.
Enercare Home Services cost of goods sold increased by $2,656 in 2016 compared to 2015, primarily from
approximately $1,300 of non-recurring supplier reimbursements and other items recorded in the second quarter of
2015 and growth in the Rentals business. Maintenance and servicing costs in Enercare Home Services primarily
consist of protection plan expenses and servicing costs related to the Rentals portfolio, while sales and other services
expenses mainly pertain to one-time sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers, air conditioners and small
commercial products as well as plumbing, duct cleaning and other chargeable services.
Service Experts cost of goods sold amounted to $257,126 in 2016 since the May 11, 2016 acquisition date. Service
Experts cost of goods sold were lower by $16,549 during the year, as a result of purchase accounting adjustments
for the service obligation associated with the SE Transaction.
Sub-metering cost of goods sold of $113,327 in 2016, increased by $5,034 or 5%, as a result of an increase in pass
through energy charges over the same periods in 2015. Sales and other services expenses for Sub-metering relate
to Triacta meter sales and the sale and installation of water conservation products in apartments and condominiums.
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses
Total SG&A expenses were $266,350 in 2016, an increase of $122,082, compared to 2015.
Enercare Home Services SG&A expenses of $100,343 in the year, decreased by $4,515, compared to 2015. The
$4,515 decrease was primarily as a result of approximately $4,900 in lower selling and marketing expenses, $3,000
of professional fees, both primarily from one time integration and rebranding activities in 2015, and $500 in claims
expense, partly offset by $2,600 increases in wages and benefits, $600 in office expenses and $700 in bad debts.
During 2016, there were acquisition related items totaling $930, compared to $1,400 in 2015, resulting in
improvements to SG&A expense. The improvements in both periods arose from revisions to estimates.
Enercare Home Services SG&A expenses in 2016 included $2,312 of integration and business transformation costs
related to the DE Acquisition, primarily from information technology integration activities to optimize the information
technology platforms and marketing spend related to continued rebranding. In 2015, SG&A expenses included $9,168
of integration costs associated with the DE Acquisition, primarily from marketing spend related to rebranding activities.
Service Experts SG&A expenses in 2016 amounted to $114,593 since the May 11, 2016 acquisition date. Included
in SG&A expenses were $11,485 of acquisition related expenditures associated with the SE Transaction, primarily
related to professional fees and integration costs. The costs included $2,834 of pre-acquisition expenditures incurred
by Enercare Home Services.
Sub-metering SG&A expenses in 2016 were $19,323, an increase of $2,417 over 2015, primarily as a result of
$2,400 of higher wage and benefit expenses. Sub-metering SG&A expenses in 2015 included $379 of costs
associated with the acquisition of Triacta, primarily related to professional fees.
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Corporate expenses of $32,091 in 2016, increased by $9,587, compared to 2015. The $9,587 increase was
primarily as a result of approximately $4,700 in higher wages and benefits, $500 in stock based compensation due
to an increase in the Share price, and $4,200 of higher office expenses resulting primarily from increased information
technology costs.
Corporate SG&A expenses in 2016 included $1,081 of integration and business transformation costs related to the
DE Acquisition, primarily from information technology integration activities to optimize the information technology
platforms.
Amortization Expense
Amortization expense increased by $19,908 or 16% in 2016, primarily due to an increasing capital asset base from
asset mix changes in the Rentals portfolio, the SE Transaction and increased Sub-metering capital investments,
which are amortized over a shorter life than those of the Enercare Home Services business.
Net Loss on Disposal of Equipment
Enercare reported a net loss on disposal of equipment of $4,406 in 2016, an increase of $1,536 or 54%, over 2015.
The net loss on disposal amount is influenced by the number of assets retired, proceeds on disposal of equipment,
changes in the retirement asset mix and the age of the assets retired.
Interest Expense
2016

(000’s)

Interest expense payable in cash

$

Interest payable on subscription receipts
Equity bridge financing fees

30,294

2015
$

26,105

2,217

-

198

-

840

1,096

Non-cash items:
Notional interest on employee benefit plans, net
Amortization of financing costs
Interest expense

1,052
$

34,601

874
$

28,075

Interest expense payable in cash increased by $4,189 to $30,294 in 2016, compared to 2015. The increase was
primarily related to the increase in the 2016 Term Loan related to the financing of the SE Transaction, partially offset
by the conversion of Convertible Debentures to Shares.
Notional interest of $840 in 2016 relates to the defined benefit employee benefits plans. Amortization of financing
costs includes the previously unamortized costs associated with the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, Convertible
Debentures, the 2014 Term Loan and 2016 Term Loan.
As part of the SE Transaction, SE Subscription Receipts were issued during the first quarter of 2016 and
subsequently exchanged for Shares upon the closing of the SE Transaction on May 11, 2016. While the SE
Subscription Receipts remained outstanding, they were classified as debt, resulting in interest expense of $2,217,
which was the equivalent to the dividend payments on such SE Subscription Receipts if they had been Shares. Equity
bridge financing fees of $198 were also incurred as part of the SE Transaction.
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Other Income
Other income decreased compared to 2015 as a result of a one-time settlement of $580 recognized in 2015 from
a supplier of sub-metering equipment.
Income Taxes
Enercare reported current tax expenses of $54,381 in 2016, an increase of $44,184 over the same period in 2015,
primarily as a result of a one year tax deferral recognized in 2015, available through a subsidiary of Enercare
Solutions, and the acquisition of Service Experts. The deferred income tax recovery of $29,644, an increase of
$37,321 compared to the deferred tax expense recorded in 2015, were primarily as a result of temporary difference
reversals in the Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering businesses.
Net Earnings
Net earnings were $61,130 in 2016, an increase of $10,175 compared to 2015.
EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA
The following table summarizes comparative quarterly results for the last eight quarters, and reconciles net earnings,
an IFRS measure, to EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA.
(000’s)

Net earnings
Deferred tax (recovery)/
expense

Q4/16

Q3/16

Q2/16

Q1/16

Q4/15

Q3/15

Q2/15

Q1/15

$ 17,552

$ 19,332

$ 16,051

$ 8,195

$ 13,725

$ 13,124

$ 16,204

$ 7,902

1,069

2,376

1,323

2,909

(5,275)

(7,522)

(7,633)

(9,214)

Current tax expense

11,534

15,332

15,259

12,256

2,784

2,169

2,290

2,954

Amortization expense

38,892

38,329

35,796

32,307

31,917

31,606

31,044

30,849

Interest expense
EBITDA(a)
Add: Net loss/(gain)
on disposal
Adjusted EBITDA(b)
Add: Acquisition SG&A
Acquisition Adjusted
EBITDA

8,554

8,507

9,187

8,353

6,988

6,955

7,021

7,111

71,257

73,978

68,660

51,897

56,483

56,230

57,882

51,725

850

734

891

1,931

1,001

1,572

1,752

72,107

74,712

69,551

53,828

55,028

(1,455)

57,231

59,454

53,477

603

4,854

5,128

4,293

3,028

3,946

1,961

612

$ 72,710

$ 79,566

$ 74,679

$ 58,121

$ 58,056

$ 61,177

$ 61,415

$ 54,089

(a) Historical EBITDA has been conformed to the current presentation which includes investment income and other income.
(b) Historical Adjusted EBITDA has been conformed to the current presentation which includes investment income and other income and excludes net loss on disposal.

49
Enercare Annual Report 2016

The variances over the last eight quarters are primarily due to the following:
1. Net earnings are impacted by rental rate increases, generally implemented in January of each year, and accruals
related to billing and servicing matters, as well as the SE Transaction results commencing in the second quarter
of 2016.
2. Increasing current taxes from higher taxable income. During 2015, current taxes reflect the impact of a one year
tax deferral available through a subsidiary of Enercare Solutions which was not available for 2016 and accordingly,
results in a higher current tax expense during 2016.
3. During the first and second quarters of 2016 additional interest expense was incurred as part of the SE
Transaction, related to the 2016 Term Loan, bridge financing and the treatment of SE Subscription Receipts for
accounting purposes.
4. Amortization and net loss on disposal of equipment are primarily driven by unit continuity activity such as Attrition,
exchanges and outstanding units. Increases in amortization of capital assets and intangibles relate primarily to
increased additions and changes in mix to higher percentage of sub-metering assets which have a shorter useful life.
5. In the fourth quarter of 2015, net (gain)/loss on disposal reflects a $2,484 gain on disposal of sub-metering
equipment resulting from a customer that exercised its buy-out option.
DISTRIBUTABLE CASH AND PAYOUT RATIOS

Enercare amended its payout ratio calculation in 2013. As a transition to the new calculation, Enercare has chosen
to show both the historical calculation, Payout Ratio and our new calculation, Payout Ratio – Maintenance.
Historically, Enercare included both the Rentals capital associated with maintaining (other than Sub-metering and
acquisitions) the current customer base (exchanges) as well as the capital associated with acquiring new customers.
With the significant improvement in Attrition over the last five years, combined with the success of transitioning
Rentals customers into higher revenue generating rental products, Enercare has started to grow revenue beyond
annual rate increases. As a result, Enercare changed the calculation to remove the capital required to acquire new
Rentals customers. Enercare believes that the new calculation better reflects the on-going cash requirements to
maintain the revenue from the current Rentals customer base.
In 2016, Enercare further changed its definition of Payout Ratio and Payout Ratio – Maintenance to include capital
relating to vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance leases). Historical figures have been
restated to reflect the current definition.
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Payout Ratio (000s)
Cash provided by operating activities

2016

2015

$ 164,766

$ 163,886

Net change in non-cash working capital
Operating Cash Flow9

17,641

25,648

182,407

189,534

Capital and vehicle lease expenditures: (excluding growth capital and acquisitions)
HVAC rental additions

(45,195)

(31,961)

Water heater rental and other additions

(36,377)

(30,118)

Rentals exchanges

(35,684)

(34,109)

(6,129)

(2,222)

Vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance leases)
Sub-metering maintenance capital

(715)

Subtotal

-

(124,100)

Total proceeds on disposal of rental equipment

(98,410)

9,998

Net capital and vehicle lease expenditures

12,415

(114,102)

Other income

(85,995)

-

Acquisition integration and business transformation related expenditures

(580)

17,101

Total reductions

9,547

(97,001)

(77,028)

Distributable Cash9

85,406

112,506

Dividends declared

(80,688)

(74,763)

Net cash retained

$

4,718

$

37,743

Payout Ratio

94%

66%

Normalized Payout Ratio

77%

80%

The Payout Ratio, after capital and vehicle lease expenditures (excluding growth capital for Sub-metering and
acquisitions), increased to 94% in 2016, compared to 66% in 2015, primarily as a result of higher net capital and
vehicle lease expenditures, dividend payments as a result of the 10% dividend increase announced in the first quarter
of 2016 and acquisition related costs related to the SE Transaction. Net capital expenditure increases primarily
related to rental additions, which resulted in increased revenues in our Enercare Home Services segment.
During November of 2016, Enercare adopted a Dividend Reinvestment Plan. To facilitate the plan, Enercare changed
its policy of determining the record date for shareholders eligible to receive a dividend such that both the dividend
declaration date and payment date occur within the same month. As a result, although the number of months in
which dividends were paid during 2016 remained the same with the prior year, the number of months in which
dividends were declared decreased to 11, compared to 12 months in 2015. Using dividends paid of $84,766 during
2016 and $74,157 in 2015, respectively, the Payout Ratio would have been 99% compared to 66% in 2015. The
increase in the Payout Ratio, using dividends paid, was largely driven by higher HVAC capital expenditures resulting
from the successful HVAC rental strategy, higher capital expenditures with respect to rental water heaters, and the
dividend increase beginning in the first quarter of 2016.
The one year tax deferral recognized in 2015, available through a subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, also contributed
to the increase in the Payout Ratio during 2016. When normalized for the impact of the one year tax deferral, the
Payout Ratio decreased to 77% for 2016, compared to 80% for the prior year.

9

Operating Cash Flow and Distributable Cash are a Non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures section in this MD&A.
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Acquisition and integration related expenditures associated with the SE Transaction during the year were $13,708,
primarily consisting of professional fees associated with the entering into of the Merger Agreement and post
integration activities, interest on SE Subscription Receipts and equity bridge financing fees.
Integration and business transformation costs related to the DE Acquisition were $3,393 for 2016. These costs were
primarily driven by information technology integration activities and marketing spend related to rebranding. DE integration
related expenditures of $9,168, during 2015, primarily consisted of marketing spend related to rebranding activities.
Acquisition costs for 2015 included $379 of costs associated with the acquisition of Triacta, primarily related to
professional fees.
These amounts have been adjusted in the Payout Ratio to better reflect recurring Distributable Cash.
Enercare intends to finance its recurring capital expenditures with cash flow from operations, cash on hand and
available credit.
Payout Ratio – Maintenance Presentation
Payout Ratio – Maintenance – (000’s)
Cash provided/(used in) by operating activities

2016

2015

$ 164,766

$ 163,886

Net change in non-cash working capital
Operating Cash Flow10

17,641

25,648

182,407

189,534

(35,684)

(34,109)

(6,129)

(2,222)

Capital and vehicle lease expenditures: (excluding growth capital, additions and acquisitions)
Rentals exchanges
Vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance leases)
Sub-metering maintenance capital

(715)

Proceeds on disposal of equipment – warranty

-

2,364

Net capital and vehicle lease expenditures

2,118

(40,164)

Other income

(34,213)

-

Acquisition related expenditures

(580)

17,101

9,547

Total reductions

(23,063)

(25,246)

Distributable Cash – Maintenance10

159,344

164,288

Dividends declared
Net cash retained

(80,688)
$

78,656

(74,763)
$

89,525

Payout Ratio – Maintenance

51%

46%

Normalized Payout Ratio – Maintenance

45%

51%

The Payout Ratio – Maintenance, which is calculated based upon capital and vehicle lease expenditures associated
with vehicles and the exchange of assets for existing customers and excludes capital expenditures associated with
obtaining new customers, increased to 51% in 2016, compared to 46% in the prior year.
When normalized for the impact of the one year tax deferral, the Payout Ratio – Maintenance was 45% compared to
51% in the prior year.
10

Operating Cash Flow and Distributable Cash - Maintenance are a Non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures
section in this MD&A.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
2016

2015

$ 164,766

$ 163,886

17,641

25,648

182,407

189,534

(000’s)

Cash flow from operating activities
Net change in non-cash working capital
Operating Cash Flow
Capital expenditures (excluding growth capital and acquisitions)

(117,971)

Proceeds on disposal of equipment

(96,186)

9,998

12,415

Net capital expenditures

(107,973)

Acquisitions

(375,236)

(7,968)

(34,879)

(18,492)

(518,088)

(110,231)

(84,766)

(74,157)

Growth capital
Cash used in investing activities
Dividends paid
Other financing activities
Cash (used in)/provided by financing activities
Cash and equivalents – end of period

$

(83,771)

446,364

(19,140)

361,598

(93,297)

38,415

$

28,413

Operating Cash Flow of $182,407 in 2016 decreased by $7,127 compared to the prior year, primarily due to
acquisition related expenditures in SG&A, an increase in current tax expense due to the SE Transaction and the
impact of a one year tax deferral available in 2015 through a subsidiary of Enercare Solutions which was not available
in 2016.
Net capital expenditures of $107,973 in 2016 increased by $24,202 compared to prior year, due to increased HVAC
rentals and changes in asset mix. The acquisition amount of $375,163, excluding $73 for the acquisition of an
intangible asset, represents the purchase consideration net of cash received for the acquisition of Service Experts.
Growth capital investments were $34,879, increases of $16,387, when compared to 2015. Growth capital
expenditures increased in 2016 primarily from Enercare’s purchase of land and a building for the purposes of
relocating Enercare’s corporate headquarters to reduce future operating lease payments, and higher information
technology expenditures. Dividends paid reflect dividend payments on outstanding Shares.
Other financing activities in 2016 primarily reflect the scheduled repayment of the Stratacon Debt during the period.
Of the available credit of $200,000 under the 2014 Revolver, $15,000 was drawn as at December 31, 2016.
Enercare is subject to a number of covenants and has the ability to incur additional senior debt as described in
“Liquidity and Capital Resources – Cash from Financing” in this MD&A.
Management believes that Enercare has sufficient cash flow, cash on hand and available credit to meet its 2017
obligations, including capital expenditures, financing activities and working capital requirements for its businesses.
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Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures typically have a significant impact on liquidity and are best understood with reference to the
unit continuity analysis below.
Installed Asset Unit Continuity (000’s)

Segment
Units – start of period
Portfolio additions
Acquisitions
Attrition
Units – end of period
Asset exchanges – units retired and replaced

2016
Home
Services

Submetering

Total

Home
Services

Submetering

Total

1,128

155

1,283

1,129

151

1,280

38

10

48

33

14

47

-

-

(30)

-

1
(35)

(10)

1
(45)

165

1,301

1,128

155

1,283

45

-

45

46

-

46

% change in units during the period

1.4%

Portfolio additions (net of acquisitions)
Attrition
Units retired and replaced
Contracted units

(30)

1,136

% of units from start of period:

Billable units

2015

0.2%

-

-

3.7%

3.7%

(2.3%)

(3.5%)

3.5%

3.6%

1,136

116

1,252

1,128

103

1,231

-

235

-

-

205

-

In 2016, the portion of net capital expenditures in Enercare Home Services related to unit additions and asset
exchanges, net of proceeds on disposal and excluding assets not yet commissioned, was $107,973, increasing by
29% or $24,202 compared to 2015, primarily as a result of increased HVAC rentals.
In the Enercare Home Services business, Attrition of approximately 30,000 units in 2016 improved by 14%
compared to approximately 35,000 units in 2015. Enercare has implemented many programs, including continued
consumer education campaigns. Such initiatives, coupled with Bill 55 as well as enhancements to our customer
value proposition (for example, the “same day service campaign”), have helped to significantly reduce Attrition in
recent years.
Installations in the Sub-metering business were approximately 10,000 units in 2016, lower by 4,000 units compared
to 2015. The variance is due to higher contracted sales leading to a higher proportion of new construction
condominiums, which has contributed to lower installation units as the installed service count for these units are
included in work in progress, which is only recognized in the final installation service count when the entire building
is complete. This can cause some significant swings in the installed unit count on a yearly basis. Sub-metering capital
expenditures of $20,120, related to metering equipment, were approximately $9,409 higher than in 2015 on account
of the timing and costs of projects underway.
For the Enercare Home Services units, changes in Billable units reflect the asset activity as reported in the continuity
schedule. For the Sub-metering business, Billable units of 116,000 increased by 13,000 units in 2016 compared
to 2015, primarily due to additional installations and increased billing penetration in the rental apartment market,
which resulted in approximately 13,000 new Billable units.
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Sub-metering sales activity was approximately 30,000 units in 2016, an improvement of approximately 10,000
units or 50% compared to 2015.
Cash from Financing
Financing activities for Enercare may reflect dividend payments, periodic financing of Enercare Solutions’
indebtedness, Enercare’s offering of SE Subscription Receipts, Convertible Debentures, and to a much lesser extent
financing of the Sub-metering business. During 2016, Enercare recorded $8,091 of financing repayments primarily
related to the scheduled repayment of the Stratacon Debt, obligations under finance leases and the purchase of
treasury Shares in respect of the employee share purchase plan. These financing repayments excluded dividends
to shareholders.
Capitalization (000’s)
Cash and cash equivalents
Net investment in working capital

2016
$

38,415
(59,567)

Cash, net of working capital

(21,152)

Total debt

969,115

Shareholders’ equity
Total capitalization – book value

2015
$

28,413
23,149
51,562
737,212

616,464

389,797

$1,585,579

$ 1,127,009

Typically, Enercare maintains cash balances and available credit to provide sufficient cash reserves to satisfy shortterm requirements, including interest payments, dividends and certain capital expenditures and acquisitions.
At December 31, 2016, total debt was comprised of the 2012 Notes, the 2013 Notes, the 2014 Term Loan, the
2014 Revolver, the 2016 Term Loan, Convertible Debentures and the Stratacon Debt.
On February 21, 2017, Enercare Solutions completed its offering of $500,000 aggregate principal amount of Senior
Unsecured Notes. The proceeds of the offering were used to repay the 2014 Term Loan on February 23, 2017 and
will be used to redeem the 2012 Notes on March 23, 2017 with the balance to be used to repay a portion of the
2014 Revolver.
Enercare is subject to a number of covenant requirements as described in the AIF and below. The following discussion
outlines the principal covenants.
Debt Financing
As described in the AIF, the 2014 Revolver and 2014 Term Loan, which was repaid on February 23, 2017, each
contain terms, representations, warranties, covenants and events of default that are customary for credit facilities
of this kind, including financial covenants discussed below, restrictions on asset sales and reorganizations, a negative
pledge and limits on distributions to Enercare (and, therefore, in effect, holders of Shares). Events of default under
the 2014 Revolver and 2014 Term Loan include a cross-default provision and the occurrence of a change of control
of Enercare or Enercare Solutions. Enercare Solutions’ obligations under the 2014 Revolver and 2014 Term Loan
are guaranteed by all of Enercare Solutions’ direct and indirect subsidiaries.
The 2014 Term Loan bore interest at a rate of bankers’ acceptances plus 125 basis points or prime plus 50 basis
points at Enercare Solutions’ credit rating as of the date hereof.
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As described in the AIF, and as adjusted in conjunction with the 2016 Term Loan, the 2014 Revolver and 2014 Term
Loan contain the following financial covenants (i) all additional incurrences of senior debt, with certain exceptions,
must, on the date of incurrence, result in a pro forma ratio equal to or greater than 3.8 to 1.0 of Incurrence EBITDA
(as defined in the Senior Unsecured Indenture) to Net Interest Expense (as defined in the Senior Unsecured
Indenture); (ii) the ratio of total debt (other than subordinated debt) to “Adjusted EBITDA” must be less than 4.75:1;
and (iii) the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to “Cash Interest Expense” must be greater than 3.00:1.
As described in the AIF, the 2014 Revolver and 2014 Term Loan define “Adjusted EBITDA” as the consolidated net
income of Enercare Solutions and any losses on dispositions of assets less, to the extent included in calculating such
net income, all interest income and income tax recoveries, gains on hedging contracts and all extraordinary, nonrecurring and unusual income items, plus, to the extent deducted in calculating such net income, amounts for total
interest expense, fees payable under the Origination Agreement, amortization and depreciation expenses, income
taxes and any other non-cash items, losses on hedging contracts, proceeds of disposal of water heaters in the
ordinary course of business, and with respect to the DE Acquisition, transaction expenses, one-time rebranding
costs and information technology system harmonization costs up to $23,500 in the aggregate, determined on a
consolidated basis. The 2014 Revolver and 2014 Term Loan essentially define “Cash Interest Expense” as the
aggregate amount of interest and other financing charges payable in cash and expensed by Enercare Solutions with
respect to debt (other than subordinated debt between Enercare Solutions and Enercare or any subsidiary of
Enercare Solutions or between subsidiaries of Enercare Solutions), but excluding any make-whole, prepayment,
penalty or premium or other yield maintenance amount with respect to debt.
In conjunction with the SE Transaction, Enercare Solutions entered into an amendment to the 2014 Debt Financing
to give effect to the SE Transaction and 2016 Term Loan which included, among other things (i) modifying the
definition of Adjusted EBITDA to exclude SE Transaction and integration costs up to $10,300 in the aggregate, (ii)
adding Service Experts and its subsidiaries as guarantors, (iii) increasing certain of the “basket” sizes permitted
under certain covenants and events of default (to take into account the increase of assets under management due
to the SE Transaction) and (iv) the enhancement of certain financial covenants as described above.
Enercare Solutions was in compliance with the covenants within the 2014 Revolver and 2014 Term Loan as of
December 31, 2016. In the fourth quarter, Enercare Solutions increased the 2014 Revolver limit by $100,000 to
$200,000, maintaining the same terms. A total of $15,000 was drawn under the 2014 Revolver as at December 31,
2016. As of March 6, 2017, $30,000 was drawn on the 2014 Revolver.
The 2016 Term Loan, which is on substantially the same terms as the 2014 Term Loan, was entered into by Enercare
Solutions to partially fund the SE Transaction. The 2016 Term Loan comprises two 4-year non-revolving, nonamortizing variable rate term credit facilities in the aggregate amount of US$200,000 with a maturity date of May 11,
2020. The full amount of the 2016 Term Loan was drawn for the purpose of financing the SE Transaction. The 2016
Term Loan contains representations, warranties, covenants and events of default that are customary for credit facilities
of this kind and on substantially the same terms as the 2014 Term Loan, as the 2014 Term Loan was modified in
conjunction with the SE Transaction. Enercare Solutions’ obligations under the 2016 Term Loan are guaranteed by all
of Enercare Solutions’ direct and indirect subsidiaries, including Service Experts and its subsidiaries.
The 2016 Term Loan is payable interest only until maturity and is pre-payable in whole or in part at any time without
penalty. The 2016 Term Loan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 125 basis points or base rate plus 25 basis points
at Enercare Solutions’ credit rating as of the date hereof.
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The amendment to the 2014 Debt Financing included enhancements to certain of the financial covenants described
under “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Debt Financing” in this MD&A as follows: (i) the ratio of total debt (other
than subordinated debt) to Adjusted EBITDA must now only be equal to or less than 4.75:1 and (ii) the ratio of
Adjusted EBITDA to Cash Interest Expense must now only be equal to or greater than 3.00:1.
2012 Notes and 2013 Notes – Incurrence Test
The covenants in respect of the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes and 2017 Notes are contained in the Senior Unsecured
Indenture. Under the terms of the Senior Unsecured Indenture, Enercare Solutions may not incur additional senior
debt other than certain refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the Incurrence Test (as described in the
AIF) is less than 3.8 to 1. On December 31, 2016, Enercare Solutions exceeded this minimum and had the capacity
under the covenant to raise more than $300,000 additional senior debt should it elect to do so.
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
(000’s)

Total revenues

Q4/16

Q3/16

Q2/16

Q1/16

Q4/15

Q3/15

Q2/15

Q1/15
$141,812

$293,246

$315,944

$244,102

$142,649

$141,621

$145,455

$134,938

Net earnings

17,552

19,332

16,051

8,195

13,725

13,124

16,204

7,902

Dividends declared

16,102

23,991

22,135

18,460

18,693

19,229

19,303

17,538

Average Shares outstanding 103,881

103,839

96,619

87,899

89,770

91,634

91,916

91,898

Per Share
Basic net earnings

$

0.17

$

0.19

$

0.17

$

0.09

$

0.15

$

0.14

$

0.18

$

0.09

Diluted net earnings

$

0.17

$

0.19

$

0.17

$

0.08

$

0.15

$

0.14

$

0.18

$

0.09

Dividends declared

$

0.155

$

0.231

$

0.224

$

0.21

$

0.21

$

0.21

$

0.21

$

0.191

In addition to quarterly comments found under “Results of Operations – EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA”, differences
in net earnings between quarters reflect the timing of expenses, current tax expense, the temporary difference
reversals of deferred income tax and the impact of the SE Transaction in the second quarter of 2016. Dividends
declared primarily reflect the change in outstanding Shares over time as well as the dividend increases implemented
in the first quarter of 2015 and second quarter of 2016.
The average number of Shares outstanding and the related per Share data reflect the impact of the conversion of
Convertible Debentures, purchases under the NCIB and issuances in connection with the SE Transaction.
The decrease in dividends declared during the fourth quarter was a result of the implementation of the Dividend
Reinvestment Plan, which resulted in the timing of dividend declarations being changed so that the dividend
declaration date and payment date occur within the same month. The number of months in which dividends were
paid remained the same as the prior year.
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SUMMARY OF CONTRACTUAL DEBT AND LONG TERM OBLIGATIONS

The following schedule summarizes the contractual debt and long term obligations of Enercare at December 31,
2016:
Period
(000’s)

Debt

Finance Leases

Principal

Due in 2017

$ 252,647

Interest
$

32,062

Principal
$

7,304

Other
Interest

$

570

Obligations
$

9,661

Due in 2018

210,125

20,334

6,702

386

7,063

Due in 2019

10,025

16,654

5,841

223

4,794

Due in 2020

493,567

7,508

4,223

92

3,526

Due in 2021

5,025

139

1,391

20

3,493

Thereafter
Total

5
$ 971,394

$

76,697

163
$

25,624

4
$

1,295

6,669
$

35,206

As at December 31, 2016, long-term senior contractual obligations of Enercare included debt service on the 2012
Notes and 2013 Notes bearing interest at 4.30% and 4.60%, respectively. Interest on the 2012 Notes is payable
semi-annually on May 30 and November 30 and is payable semi-annually on February 3 and August 3 in respect of
the 2013 Notes. The 2014 Term Loan, which was repaid on February 23, 2017, bears interest at a variable rate
based upon the applicable banker’s acceptance rate plus 1.25%, which was 2.14% at December 31, 2016.
At December 31, 2016, $15,000 was drawn on the 2014 Revolver. The 2014 Revolver bears a standby charge of
0.25% and interest on amounts drawn at a variable rate based upon the applicable banker’s acceptance rate plus
1.25% which was 2.95%, at December 31, 2016.
The Stratacon Debt of $822, as at December 31, 2016, was originally issued in 14 series with maturity dates ranging
from 4 to 14 years, ending in 2022. The interest rate on the Stratacon Debt ranges from 7.50% to 8.75%. Principal
and interest is paid monthly.
The Convertible Debentures of $2,019 bear interest at 6.25%, with interest payable semi-annually on June 30 and
December 31 until maturity in June 2017.
The 2016 Term Loan is payable interest only until maturity and is pre-payable in whole or in part at any time without
penalty. The 2016 Term Loan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 125 basis points or base rate plus 25 basis points
at Enercare Solutions’ credit rating as of the date hereof. As at December 31, 2016, the 2016 Term Loan bears
interest of 2.20%.
The obligations under finance leases bear floating interest rates that are either 2.5% above the one month banker’s
acceptance rate, per annum or are equal to the yield of interest rate swaps as quoted in the Federal Reserve system,
per annum. Additional obligations under finance leases acquired during the period bear fixed interest rates of 1.05%
to 2.44% and at floating interest rates that are 2.5% above the three month banker’s acceptance rate, or are 0.35%
above the one month LIBOR rate, per annum. The finance leases mature at dates ranging between January 2017
and August 2022.

58
Enercare Annual Report 2016

Other obligations include long term sponsorship, premises and office equipment. Substantially all of the future
expense obligations are the result of naming rights for the Enercare Centre and leased premises.
The 2017-1 Notes and 2017-2 Notes offered on February 21, 2017 bear interest at 3.38% and 3.99% and are due
in February 2022 and February 2024, respectively.
ENERCARE SHARES ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING

Enercare’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Shares and 10,000,000 preferred shares. At
December 31, 2016, there were 104,154,895 Shares (87,948,978 at December 31, 2015) issued and outstanding,
and no preferred shares were outstanding. A total of 15,834,600 Shares were issued in exchange for the SE
Subscription Receipts on May 11, 2016 in conjunction with the closing of the SE Transaction. Preferred shares may,
at any time and from time to time, be issued in one or more series, with such rights, privileges, restrictions and
conditions as may be determined by the directors. The preferred shares of each series shall, with respect to the
payment of dividends and the distribution of assets, be entitled to preference over the Shares and any other share
ranking junior to the preferred shares from time to time.
From January 1, 2017 to March 6, 2017, approximately $86 principal amount of additional Convertible Debentures
were converted into 13,272 Shares. The Convertible Debentures principal balance outstanding of $1,946 at
March 6, 2017 may be converted into approximately 300,309 additional Shares.
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FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Enercare
Home
Services

Three months ended December 31, 2016
(000’s)

Service
Experts

Submetering

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted revenue

$ 104,958

Sales and other services

14,088

$

32,709

$

-

$ 151,755
141,368

8,265

132,088

1,015

-

111

10

2

-

123

$ 113,334

$ 146,186

-

$ 293,246

Investment income
Total revenue

$

$

33,726

$

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity

-

Maintenance & servicing costs

-

(24,892)

(17,256)

(11,367)

(6,173)

(81,480)

(602)

Total cost of goods sold

(23,429)

(92,847)

(25,494)

SG&A expenses

(27,117)

(39,217)

(4,750)

(85)

(1)

(31,284)

(5,260)

(1,724)

(877)

(16)

Sales and other services

Foreign exchange

200

Amortization expense
Net (loss)/gain on disposal

-

-

(24,892)

-

(28,623)

-

(88,255)

-

(141,770)

(8,430)

(79,514)

31

145

(624)

43

(38,892)

-

(850)

Interest expense:
Interest expense payable in cash

(8,041)

Non-cash interest expense

(513)

Total interest expense

(8,554)

Total expenses

(269,435)

Earnings before income taxes

23,811

Current tax (expense)

(11,534)

Deferred tax recovery

5,275

Net earnings

$

17,552

EBITDA

$

62,111

$

14,021

$

3,524

$

(8,399)

$

71,257

Adjusted EBITDA

$

62,988

$

14,037

$

3,481

$

(8,399)

$

72,107

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$

62,988

$

14,640

$

3,481

$

(8,399)

$

72,710
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Enercare
Home
Services

Three months ended December 31, 2015
(000’s)

Service
Experts

Submetering

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted revenue

$ 101,544

Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenue

$

-

$

30,654

$

-

$ 132,198
9,388

7,721

-

1,667

-

32

-

3

-

35

-

$ 141,621

$ 109,297

$

-

$

32,324

$

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity

-

Maintenance & servicing costs
Sales and other services

-

(23,541)

(15,894)

-

-

(5,928)

-

(976)

Total cost of goods sold

(21,822)

-

(24,517)

SG&A expenses

(27,611)

-

(5,024)

(13)

-

Amortization expense

Foreign exchange

(29,995)

-

(1,540)

Net (loss) on disposal

(1,029)

-

2,484

-

(23,541)

-

(15,894)

-

(6,904)

-

(46,339)

(7,647)

40

(40,282)

1

28

(382)

(31,917)

-

1,455

Interest expense:
Interest expense payable in cash

(6,493)

Non-cash interest expense

(495)

Total interest expense

(6,988)

Total expenses

(124,043)

Earnings before income taxes

17,578

Current tax (expense)

(2,784)

Deferred tax (expense)

(1,069)

Net earnings

$

13,725

EBITDA

$

58,822

$

-

$

5,307

$

(7,646)

$

56,483

Adjusted EBITDA

$

59,851

$

-

$

2,823

$

(7,646)

$

55,028

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$

62,863

$

-

$

2,839

$

(7,646)

$

58,056
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Fourth Quarter Overview
Unless stated otherwise, the narrative in this section is in reference to the operating results for the fourth quarter of
2016 as compared to the same period in 2015.
Revenues
Total revenues of $293,246 for the fourth quarter of 2016 increased by $151,625 or 107% primarily as a result of
the SE Transaction.
Enercare Home Services revenues, excluding investment income, increased during the quarter by $3,958 to
$113,223, primarily as a result of a rental rate increase implemented in January 2016, changes in asset mix and
growth in rental HVAC units. Contracted revenue in Enercare Home Services represents revenue generated by the
Rentals portfolio and protection plan contracts, while sales and other services revenue mainly pertains to one-time
sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers and air conditioners, as well as plumbing, duct cleaning and
other services. Revenues were also impacted by warm weather during the first half of the fourth quarter before
returning to cooler temperatures in December, which experienced 44% more heating degree days compared to the
same month in 2015. The cooler weather experienced in December, combined with strong sales execution, resulted
in a 3% increase in the demand for HVAC sales and rentals during the fourth quarter.
Enercare’s strategy to emphasize HVAC rentals over outright sales resulted in significant increases in recurring
revenue at the expense of sales and other services revenue.
Service Experts revenues, excluding investment income, of $146,176 for the fourth quarter of 2016 were slightly
stronger than anticipated, driven by higher average dollars per contract and cooler weather conditions across the
United States during December, partly offset by warmer weather trends during October and November. Service
Experts sales in Eastern Canada were also impacted by the same weather trends experienced by the Enercare Home
Services segment. Service Experts revenues were lower by $4,278 during the fourth quarter of 2016, as a result of
purchase accounting adjustments of deferred revenue associated with the SE Transaction.
Sub-metering revenues, excluding investment income, in the fourth quarter of 2016, were $33,724, an increase of
$1,403 or 4%, primarily as a result of higher billable units. Sub-metering revenue includes total pass through energy
charges of $24,892 in the fourth quarter, an increase of $1,351 or 6%. The acquisition of Triacta in the third quarter
of 2015 resulted in $796 of revenues in the fourth quarter of 2016, a reduction of $418.
Investment income was $123 in the fourth quarter of 2016, an increase of $88. The change in investment income
was primarily attributable to non-recurring interest earned in 2016 from the SE Subscription Receipts proceeds
received in connection with the SE Transaction combined with interest income from the registered pension plan,
which was in an asset balance instead of a net obligation during 2016.
Cost of Goods Sold
Total cost of goods sold for the fourth quarter of 2016 was $141,770, an increase of $95,431 or 206%, primarily
as a result of the SE Transaction.
Enercare Home Services cost of goods sold increased by $1,607 in the fourth quarter of 2016, primarily from growth
of the rental business. Maintenance and servicing costs in Enercare Home Services primarily consist of protection
plan expenses and servicing costs related to the rental portfolio, while sales and other services expenses mainly
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pertain to one-time sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers, air conditioners and small commercial
products as well as plumbing, duct cleaning and other cleaning services.
Service Experts cost of goods sold amounted to $92,847 in the fourth quarter of 2016, lower by $3,472, as a result
of purchase accounting adjustments for the service obligation associated with the SE Transaction.
Sub-metering cost of goods sold of $25,494 in the fourth quarter in 2016, increased by $977 or 4% as a result of
an increase in pass through energy charges. Sales and other services expenses for Sub-metering relate to Triacta
meter sales and the sale and installation of water conservation products in apartments and condominiums.
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses
Total SG&A expenses were $79,514 in the fourth quarter of 2016, an increase of $39,232.
Enercare Home Services SG&A expenses of $27,117 in the fourth quarter, decreased by $494. The $494 decrease
was primarily as a result of approximately $1,700 lower in selling expenses, $800 lower in office expenses and $700
lower in professional fees, primarily from one time integration and rebranding activities in 2015. This is partly offset
by higher billing and servicing costs of $1,300, wages and benefits of $1,000 and bad debt expense of $500.
In 2015, Enercare Home Services SG&A expenses in the fourth quarter, included $3,012 of integration costs
associated with the DE Acquisition, primarily from marketing spend related to rebranding activities.
Service Experts SG&A expenses in the fourth quarter of 2016 amounted to $39,217. Included in SG&A expenses
in the fourth quarter were $603 of acquisition related expenditures associated with the SE Transaction, primarily
related to professional fees and integration costs.
Sub-metering SG&A expenses in the fourth quarter of 2016 were $4,750, a decrease of $274, primarily from
decrease in professional fees of $200. Sub-metering SG&A expenses in the fourth quarter of 2015 included $16,
respectively, of costs associated with the acquisition of Triacta, primarily related to professional fees.
Corporate expenses of $8,430 in the fourth quarter, increased by $783. The $783 increase in the fourth quarter
was primarily as a result of approximately $1,400 in higher office expenses resulting from increase information
technology costs, $300 in higher selling expenses and $300 in professional fees incurred as a result of the
SE Transaction. This is partly offset by a decrease of $1,200 in wages and benefits, driven by lower share based
compensation expense.
Amortization Expense
Amortization expense increased by $6,975 or 22% to $38,892 in the fourth quarter of 2016, primarily due to
an increasing capital asset base from asset mix changes in the Rentals portfolio, the SE Transaction and
increased Sub-metering capital investments, which are amortized over a shorter life than those of the Enercare
Home Services business.
Net Loss on Disposal of Equipment
Enercare reported a net loss on disposal of equipment of $850 in the fourth quarter of 2016, a decrease of $2,305
or 158%. The net loss on disposal amount is influenced by the number of assets retired, proceeds on disposal of
equipment, changes in the retirement asset mix and the age of the assets retired.
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Interest Expense
2016

Three months ended December 31, (000’s)

Interest expense payable in cash

$

8,041

2015
$

6,493

Interest payable on subscription receipts

-

-

Equity bridge financing fees

-

-

Non-cash items:
Notional interest on employee benefit plans, net

210

274

Amortization of financing costs

303

221

Interest expense

$

8,554

$

6,988

In 2016, interest expense of $8,041 was $1,548 higher than in 2015, primarily from the increase in the 2016
Term Loan related to the financing of the SE Transaction, partially offset by the conversion of Convertible Debentures
to Shares.
Income Taxes
Enercare reported current tax expenses of $11,534 in the fourth quarter of 2016, an increase of $8,750, primarily as
a result of a one year tax deferral recognized in 2015, available through a subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, and the
acquisition of Service Experts. The deferred income tax recovery of $5,275, an increase of $6,344 were primarily as a
result of temporary difference reversals in the Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering businesses.
Net Earnings
Net earnings were $17,552 in the fourth quarter of 2016, an increase of $3,827, as previously described.
NON-IFRS FINANCIAL AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The consolidated financial statements of Enercare are prepared in accordance with IFRS. Enercare’s basis of
presentation and significant accounting policies are summarized in detail in notes 2 and 3 of the consolidated
financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2016.
Enercare reports on certain non-IFRS measures that are used by management to evaluate performance of Enercare
and meet certain covenant requirements relating to debt financing. Since non-IFRS measures do not have
standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS, securities regulations require that non-IFRS measures be clearly defined,
qualified, and reconciled with their nearest IFRS measure. These measures do not have standardized meanings or
interpretations, and may not be comparable to similar terms and measures provided by other issuers.
Adjusted EBITDA, Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA, Distributable Cash, Distributable Cash–Maintenance,
Normalized Distributable Cash, Normalized Distributable Cash – Maintenance, Payout Ratio, Payout RatioMaintenance, Normalized Pay Out Ratio, Normalized Pay Out Ratio – Maintenance Operating Cash Flow, Billable,
Pro forma Distributable Cash, Normalized Pro forma Distributable Cash and Normalized Pro forma Distributable
Cash per Share should not be construed as alternatives to net income or earnings per Share determined in
accordance with IFRS as indicators of Enercare’s performance, or as alternatives to pro forma net earnings and
pro forma earnings per Share.
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Non-IFRS financial indicators used by Enercare and reported in this MD&A, in addition to the Non-IFRS financial
measures include:
Measures of Asset Portfolio Performance
Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
Enercare makes two principal types of investments to grow its installed base of water heaters, sub-meters and other
assets: capital expenditures and acquisitions.
Measures of Financial Performance
Adjusted EBITDA
This measure is comprised of net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense, amortization expense, impairment
losses and loss on disposal of equipment. It is one metric that can be used to determine Enercare’s ability to service
its debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders. Adjusted EBITDA
is reconciled with net earnings, an IFRS measure (see “Results of Operations – EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and
Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA” in this MD&A).
Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA
This measure reflects the same components as Adjusted EBITDA, however, eliminates the additional one-time costs
associated with the DE Acquisition, the SE Transaction and the acquisition of Triacta, including interest expense for
accounting purposes on the SE Subscription Receipts and equity bridge financing fees, professional fees associated
with due diligence, pre and post-merger integration, expenditures associated with business transformation initiatives,
rebranding, severance and other costs in SG&A. This is one metric that can be used to determine Enercare’s ability
to service its ongoing debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders.
Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled with net earnings, an IFRS measure (see “Results of Operations – EBITDA,
Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA” in this MD&A).
Distributable Cash and Distributable Cash – Maintenance
In the second quarter of 2016, Enercare changed its definition of Distributable Cash and Distributable Cash –
Maintenance to include capital relating to vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under finance
leases). Historical figures have been restated to reflect the current definition.
Distributable Cash is one measure of the amount of cash generated during a period that is available to service debt,
finance capital expenditures and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders.
Historically, Distributable Cash comprised net earnings of Enercare, plus non-cash items, such as deferred income
taxes, amortization, defined benefit plan expense and non-recurring expenses related to the DE Acquisition and
transition of OHCS, the SE Transaction and the acquisition of Triacta, less cash items of contributions to define
benefit pension plan and deferred customer inducements plus the proceeds on disposal of rental equipment, less
rental capital expenditures (excluding growth capital), vehicle additions (reflecting repayments of obligations under
finance leases) and other non-recurring income. Capital expenditures outside of Enercare’s traditional Rentals asset
purchases, such as Sub-metering equipment, acquisitions and infrastructure assets are considered by management
to be growth expenditures and are therefore not deducted in the determination of Distributable Cash.
Distributable Cash per Share is a measure of the amount of Distributable Cash calculated on a per Share basis.
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Distributable Cash – Maintenance is the same as the historical Distributable Cash, except that Rentals capital
expenditures associated with new customer additions and buyout proceeds on disposal of equipment associated
with lost customers are excluded. Growth expenditures for purposes of Distributable Cash – Maintenance definition
include capital expenditures such as Rentals new customer equipment additions, Sub-metering equipment,
acquisitions and infrastructure assets.
Distributable Cash is reconciled with cash provided by operating activities, an IFRS measure (see “Distributable
Cash and Payout Ratios” in this MD&A).
Distributions, Payout Ratio and Payout Ratio – Maintenance
Dividends are declared and paid monthly to shareholders at the discretion of the board of directors of Enercare.
Among other things, the directors consider the level of Distributable Cash, the level of previous dividends, and the
amount of cash they wish to retain in the company for contingencies and future growth.
The historical Payout Ratio is the percentage of Distributable Cash to dividends (excluding the exercise of the overallotment option) declared to shareholders during a period and represents the ability of Enercare to pay dividends,
finance capital expenditures and add to its cash reserves.
Payout Ratio – Maintenance is similar to the Payout Ratio, except that the ratio is calculated as the percentage of
Distributable Cash – Maintenance to dividends declared to shareholders during the period and represents the ability
of Enercare to pay dividends, add to its cash reserves and illustrates the proportion of cash required to maintain its
existing customer base.
Normalized Distributable Cash, Normalized Distributable Cash-Maintenance, Normalized Payout Ratio and
Normalized Payout Ratio-Maintenance
Normalized Distributable Cash takes Distributable Cash and eliminates the effect of a tax deferral obtained in 2015
as a result of the acquisition of OHCS. Management has presented Normalized Distributable Cash to illustrate
Enercare’s recurring cash generated from the business available to service debt, financial capital expenditures and
provide payment of dividends to shareholders. Normalized Distributable Cash is reconciled with net earnings and
cash from operating activities, IFRS measures.
The Normalized Payout Ratio is the percentage of Normalized Distributable Cash to dividends declared to
shareholders during a period and represents the ability of Enercare to pay dividends, finance capital expenditures
and add to its cash reserves.
Normalized Payout Ratio – Maintenance is similar to Normalized Payout Ratio, except that the ratio is calculated as
the percentage of Normalized Distributable Cash – Maintenance to dividends declared to shareholders during the
period and represents the ability of Enercare to pay dividends, add to its cash reserves and illustrates the proportion
of cash required to maintain its existing customer base.
Operating Cash Flow
Operating Cash Flow is the cash flow from operating activities excluding changes in non-cash working capital. It
represents the net cash generated in earnings, excluding non-cash items. It is one indicator of the financial strength
of Enercare. Operating Cash Flow is reconciled with cash flow from operating activities, an IFRS measure (see
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” in this MD&A).
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Billable
Sub-metering Billable units represent assets or services in the case of multiple products, for which an invoice has
been issued to a customer in the past. From time to time there may be periods where no invoicing occurs in respect
of such asset or service due to, for example, vacancy or delinquency. Billable Sub-metering assets are no longer
Billable upon termination of the contractual agreement with the landlord or condominium corporation, as applicable,
or where vacancy exceeds 6-months. The Rentals portfolio is deemed to be fully Billable upon origination and
removed from Billable upon asset termination.
Measures of Financial Performance Associated with the SE Transaction
In addition to the Measures of Financial Performance outlined above, certain additional financial performance
measures are applicable to the SE Transaction as follows:
Pro Forma financial measures with respect to the SE Transaction relate to the year-ended December 31, 2015.
Additional information in respect of Enercare’s final short-form prospectus as filed on March 22, 2016, can be found
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Pro Forma Distributable Cash
Pro Forma Distributable Cash is a pro forma measure calculated from pro forma net earnings, plus non-cash items
such as deferred income taxes, amortization, defined benefit plan expense, and non-recurring expenses related to
the DE Acquisition and transition of the DE Acquisition, less contributions to defined benefit pension plan, deferred
customer inducements plus the proceeds on disposal of rental equipment, less rental capital expenditures (excluding
growth capital) and other non-recurring income. This measure further includes the cash impact of the SE Pro Forma
Adjustments along with associated tax reductions. Pro Forma Distributable Cash is reconciled with net earnings and
cash from operating activities, IFRS measures.
Normalized Pro Forma Distributable Cash and Normalized Pro Forma Distributable Cash per Share
Normalized Pro Forma Distributable Cash takes Pro Forma Distributable Cash and eliminates the effect of a $19,001
tax deferral obtained in 2015 as a result of the DE Acquisition. Management has presented Normalized Pro Forma
Distributable Cash to illustrate Enercare’s recurring cash generated from the business available to service debt,
financial capital expenditures and provide payment of dividends to shareholders. Normalized Pro Forma Distributable
Cash is reconciled with net earnings and cash from operating activities, IFRS measures.
Normalized Pro Forma Distributable Cash per Share is a measure of the amount of the Normalized Pro Forma
Distributable Cash calculated on a pro forma per Share basis (including the offering of SE Subscription Receipts
and excluding the over-allotment option and concurrent private placement).
For the purposes of the Non-IFRS measures relating to the SE Transaction, “SE Pro Forma Adjustments” mean further
adjustments to the identified measure to eliminate items that (i) were adjusted pursuant to the Merger Agreement
and therefore will not be incurred by Enercare, or (ii) will not be incurred by Enercare subsequent to the closing of
the SE Transaction. SE Pro Forma Adjustments include adjustments on account of management fees paid by Service
Experts to its parent company and standby and other fees paid to the lender in a Service Experts credit facility that
was not continued following the closing of the SE Transaction.
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Measures Regarding Debt Covenants
As at December 31, 2016, Enercare was in compliance with all covenants under the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, 2014
Revolver, 2014 Term Loan and 2016 Term Loan. For a summary of the financial covenants in respect of such debt
see “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Debt Financing” in this MD&A.
2014 Revolver and 2014 Term Loan
Under the 2014 Revolver agreement and 2014 Term Loan agreement, , Enercare Solutions is subject to three
principal financial covenants as described in the section “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Debt Financing” in
this MD&A. The covenants address interest and debt coverage. Enercare Solutions complied with these
covenants on December 31, 2016. There was a total of $15,000 drawn under the 2014 Revolver at
December 31, 2016. The 2014 Term Loan was repaid on February 23, 2017.
2016 Term Loan
Under the 2016 Term Loan agreement, Enercare Solutions is subject to representations, warranties, covenants
and events of default that are customary for credit facilities of this kind and on substantially the same terms as
the 2014 Term Loan (see “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Debt Financing” in this MD&A). Enercare Solutions’
obligations under the 2016 Term Loan are guaranteed by all of Enercare Solutions’ direct and indirect
subsidiaries, including Service Experts and its subsidiaries.
2012 Notes, 2013 Notes and 2017 Notes– Incurrence Test
The covenants under the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes and 2017 Notes are contained in the Senior Unsecured
Indenture. Under the terms of the Senior Unsecured Indenture, Enercare Solutions may not incur additional
senior debt other than certain refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the Incurrence Test (as
described in the AIF) is less than 3.8 to 1.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
Enercare makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Management
continually evaluates estimates and judgments, which are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. The following items are of significance for the period.
Revenue Accruals
At December 31, 2016, the Enercare Home Services segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately
$46,400 reflecting accrued service periods, compared to $47,200 at December 31, 2015. Unbilled protection
plans comprise approximately $28,200 of this balance, compared to $28,700 at December 31, 2015. This
balance is predominantly made up of protection plans sold in franchisee service areas, which are recognized as
royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of twelve months. The remaining unbilled revenues
reflect accrued service revenues for rental water heaters and other products.
At December 31, 2016, the Service Experts segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $1,700
reflecting accrued revenue for contracts in progress, compared to $nil at December 31, 2015.
At December 31, 2016, the Sub-metering segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $10,000,
reflecting accrued service periods, compared to $9,800 at December 31, 2015.
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Bad Debt Provisions
The Enercare Home Services segment is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for customers
who are billed directly by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. (“EGD”) within its service territory and secondarily
when billed by Enercare or are billed by EGD outside of its service territory. For billing within the EGD service
territory, Enercare is guaranteed payment by EGD for 99.51% in 2016 and 99.49% in 2015 of the amount billed
(subject to certain exceptions) 21 calendar days after the invoices are issued.
Management evaluates a number of factors and assumptions in the determination of the bad debt provision.
The total bad debt provision comprising the Enercare Home Services, Sub-metering and Service Experts
segments was approximately $11,800 at December 31, 2016, compared to approximately $11,400 at the end
of 2015. Changes in any of the variables or assumptions may result in a materially different amount.
Leases
Management applies judgment in its assessment of Enercare’s arrangements with customers when determining
the classification of leases and the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental to ownership resides with
the company or the customer.
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets and Goodwill
Impairment tests are conducted at least annually, or when events or circumstances indicate impairment may
exist. The recoverable amount is based upon a number of assumptions, including but not limited to: discount
rates, billable units, cash flows and expenses. Changes in any of these assumptions may result in a materially
different recoverable amount.
Employee Benefit Plans
Employee defined benefit plan balances are subject to a number of assumptions. The actuarial valuations rely
on estimates and assumptions including those for wage escalation, mortality, health care and dental costs
inflation, retirement ages, life expectancies and discount rates. Changes in these estimates could have a material
impact on the employee benefit plans liability and employee benefit plan costs.
Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization is considered probable. Judgments regarding
projected future income and tax planning strategies are considered in making this assessment.
Business Combination
With respect to the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities and other adjustments related to the
acquisition of Service Experts, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the acquisition
method of accounting, in accordance with IFRS 3R, Business Combinations, under which, the total fair value of
the consideration transferred has been assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values at the date of the acquisition, with any excess purchase price allocated to goodwill. Changes
may be expected as additional information becomes available following the closing date of May 11, 2016.
Accordingly, the final fair value determinations may differ from those set forth in these consolidated financial
statements and such differences may be material.
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Estimation of Insurance Claims
Insurance liabilities are subject to measurement uncertainty. The recognized amounts of such items are based
on Enercare’s best information and judgment. Estimates and other judgments are continuously evaluated based
on management’s experience and expectations about future events, including insurance claims for events that
have occurred but not yet been reported to management.
DISCLOSURE AND INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Enercare’s certifying officers have designed, and assessed the design of, a system of DC&P to provide reasonable
assurance that (i) material information relating to Enercare, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to them by others; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by Enercare in its annual filings, interim filings and
other reports filed or submitted by Enercare under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in securities legislation. As well, Enercare’s certifying officers have
designed, and assessed the design of, ICFR to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Enercare has
used the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) from The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in order to assess the effectiveness of Enercare’s internal control over financial
reporting. There are no material weaknesses relating to the design of either DC&P or ICFR at December 31, 2016.
There have been no changes to our ICFR during the quarter and year to date ended December 31, 2016 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, Enercare’s ICFR.
Enercare has limited the scope of its design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of Service Experts, which was acquired on May 11, 2016.
Service Expert’s contribution to Enercare’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
was approximately 41% of revenues and 28% of net earnings. In addition, Service Expert’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately 46% and 24% of the consolidated current assets and current liabilities, respectively,
and its long term assets and long term liabilities were approximately 29% and 18% of consolidated long term assets
and long term liabilities, respectively.
Enercare is currently in the process of documenting and evaluating the controls, policies and procedures in respect
of Service Experts.
Management does recognize that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated, can only
provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In the
unforeseen event that lapses in the disclosure or internal controls and procedures occur and/or mistakes happen,
Enercare intends to take whatever steps are necessary to minimize the consequences thereof.
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Enercare has adopted new or revised standards as required by IFRS, effective January 1, 2016.
IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“IAS 1”) was amended by the IASB to clarify guidance on materiality
and aggregation, the presentation of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and disclosure of accounting
policies. The amendment gives guidance that information within the consolidated statements of financial position
and consolidated statements of income should not be aggregated or disaggregated in a manner that obscures useful
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information, and that disaggregation may be required in the consolidated statements of income in the form of
additional subtotals as they are relevant to understanding the entity’s financial position or performance. The
amendments to IAS 1 are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. As a result of adopting this
amendment, Enercare has introduced the presentation of an additional IFRS measure, EBITDA (“Earnings Before
Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization”), within the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Applied
The following are accounting policy changes to be implemented by Enercare in future periods:
Statement of Cash flows
IAS 7, “Statement of cash flows” (“IAS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to introduce additional disclosure
that will allow users to understand changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. This amendment to IAS
7 is effective for annual periods beginning or after January 1, 2017. Enercare has assessed the impact of
adopting this amendment on the consolidated financial statements, and notes that additional disclosure of the
movements in net debt between changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes may be required.
Revenue Recognition
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”), provides a comprehensive five-step revenue
recognition model for all contracts with customers. The IFRS 15 revenue recognition model requires
management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates that affect revenue recognition. IFRS 15 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted. Enercare
has begun to assess the terms and conditions of its inventory of revenue contracts with customers, and continues
to evaluate the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements. Quantification of the
impact is expected in 2017.
Financial Instruments
The final version of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and will
replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 introduces a model for
classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment model and a substantially
reformed approach to hedge accounting. The new single, principle-based approach for determining the
classification of financial assets is driven by cash flow characteristics and the business model in which an asset
is held. The new model also results in a single impairment model being applied to all financial instruments, which
will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. It also includes changes in respect of own credit
risk in measuring liabilities elected to be measured at fair value, so that gains caused by the deterioration of an
entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities are no longer recognized in profit or loss. IFRS 9 is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, however is available for early adoption. In addition, the own
credit changes can be early adopted in isolation without otherwise changing the accounting for financial
instruments. Enercare is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial
statements. Quantification of the impact is expected in 2017.
Financial Instruments Disclosures
IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to require additional
disclosures on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The amendment to IFRS 7 is effective for periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2018. Enercare is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Leases
IFRS 16, “Leases” (“IFRS 16”), sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of leases.
IFRS 16 provides revised guidance on identifying a lease and for separating lease and non-lease components
of a contract. IFRS 16 introduces a single accounting model for all lessees and requires a lessee to recognize
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of more than twelve months, unless the underlying
asset is of low value. Under IFRS 16, lessor accounting for operating and finance leases will remain substantially
unchanged. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier application
permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. Enercare is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard
on the consolidated financial statements.
RISK FACTORS

The risks related to the business and structure of Enercare discussed in the AIF remain unchanged.
OUTLOOK

The forward-looking statements contained in this section are not historical facts but, rather, reflect Enercare’s current
expectations regarding future results or events and are based on information currently available to management.
Enercare Home Services Segment
• Our strategy to emphasize HVAC rentals over outright sales in order to create a long-term customer revenue stream
and provide valuable cross-selling opportunities continues to be successful. While this strategy has resulted in a
significant increase in recurring HVAC rental revenues, we anticipate the negative short-term impact on nonrecurring sales and other services revenue to continue throughout 2017.
• In January 2017, Enercare increased its weighted average rental rate by 3.1%.
• In October 2016, Enercare launched the Enercare Finance Plan (“ECFP”) to consumers across Ontario. Replacing
our current external finance provider, ECFP is a new in-house financing program that provides finance options to
residential HVAC customers who choose to purchase their equipment from Enercare. By bringing financing inhouse, we retain a customer relationship and enhance the customer experience, by completing the entire sales
transaction conveniently with one service provider. During the fourth quarter of 2016, approximately 7.5% of all
HVAC sales were sold to customers who took advantage of the ECFP.
• In late December 2016, Enercare implemented an electrical protection plan pilot program available to customers
in Ontario. The electrical protection plan provides customers coverage for specified residential home electrical
components, including diagnosis, repair, replacement and adjustment. The pilot program will continue to be rolled
out in early 2017, with a full launch planned for the second quarter of 2017.
• One of our key strategies is to continue to transform the customer experience through digital enhancements such
as Enercare’s new mobile and iPad apps. In late September 2016, Enercare became the first Canadian home
services company to launch a self-service mobile app, enabling customers who in the past would have contacted
the call centre, to now use the mobile app to easily access their personalized account details, book maintenance,
plumbing or service appointments and to be notified when a technician is on route to their home or business. In
early October 2016, Enercare launched its new iPad app that makes processing finance credit applications and
rental credit approvals more convenient and efficient for customers. Both of these initiatives significantly improve
the ease with which customers can use digital tools to manage their experience with Enercare and enables us to
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improve the customer experience by providing a faster and more efficient and convenient experience, while
reducing calls to the service centers. As we continue to invest in new and innovative digital tools, and differentiate
the customer experience through technology solutions, we feel we are well positioned to offer our customers more
products and services through an interactive experience.
Service Experts Segment
• Consistent with previous guidance, cost synergies relating to the SE Transaction are estimated to be in the range
of $0.05 to $0.08 per Share on an annualized basis by the end of 2017, primarily as a result of a reduction in
sourcing costs.
• In October 2016, Service Experts introduced a rental program for HVAC products and water heaters in several
centers within Canada. This rollout was completed at all 15 locations in Canada in February 2017, and while the
program is still in the very early stages, Enercare is encouraged by the initial results which show an initial rental
mix of approximately 20% in Ontario and 10% in Western Canada where the rental model is a new concept. The
successful introduction of our recurring revenue rental model in Canada is part of our plan to integrate rentals
throughout Service Experts residential heating and cooling operations over the next two years to create continued
organic growth. During the first quarter of 2017, Service Experts has extended the rental HVAC offerings through
a pilot in two U.S. states and expects to rollout in two additional states during the first half of 2017. The U.S. rental
program is similar to Enercare’s existing Canadian rental program, except that due to U.S. regulations, the rental
contracts in the United States will be for a definitive term, which in the piloted states is 10 years. Enercare
anticipates that the form of the contract, as driven by the U.S. regulatory environment, will result in a slower
adoption of the rental program in the U.S.
• The business of Service Experts is subject to greater seasonality than Enercare Home Services as a result of it having
fewer recurring revenue sources. Revenue and EBITDA tend to be seasonally highest in the second quarter of the
year, followed by the third quarter, and substantially less in the fourth and first quarters, due primarily to the
geography where Service Experts operates and weather patterns. The heating season (roughly November through
February) and cooling season (roughly May through August) are periods when consumers transition their buying
patterns from one season to the next. In most of the states that Services Experts operates, cooling equipment as
opposed to heating equipment represents a substantial portion of its annual HVAC sales and service revenue.
Conversely, in the 3 provinces that Service Experts operates, heating equipment represents a large portion of its
Canadian sales and service revenue. The sales are also impacted by seasonal weather patterns; in periods of extreme
heat and cold, installation and demand service revenue tend to increase. This results in higher sales in the second
and third quarters due to the higher volume in the cooling season relative to the heating season and the lowest
revenue and substantially reduced EBITDA, relative to other quarters, in the first quarter. Service Experts normally
generates a neutral level of profitability in the first quarter of the year and as a result the working capital needs are
generally greater in the first quarter, followed by higher operating cash inflows in the second and third quarters.
Sub-metering Segment
• Approximately one-half of units contracted during 2016 were for thermal, gas or water sub-metering. We anticipate
this will continue, which should contribute to lower billing costs over time as multiple products are invoiced on a
single bill.
• Sub-metering sales opportunities continue to be strong and skewed towards multi-commodity products within the
new construction and condominium segments. During 2016, approximately three-quarters of the newly contracted
services have come from new construction condominiums. Although the buildings related to these contracts have
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yet to be constructed and as a result the bulk of the capital and all of the related revenues will occur in 24 to 36
months, once constructed, all units within these buildings will start billing on initial move-in. This is in contrast to
retrofit apartment contracts for which installation starts sooner, but billing lags as it is reliant on tenant turnover.
• During the third quarter, sub-metering launched a new billing feature that allows consolidated billing across multiple
metering points. This billing requirement occurs frequently in mixed use (commercial/residential) buildings. Our
first deployment of this service has been completed, with over 1,000 meters billed on the enhanced platform and
an additional 12 buildings scheduled for 2017. We anticipate that this automation of the billing process will reduce
billing costs over time.
2017 Income Taxes
• Enercare’s current income tax expense for 2016 was in line with previous estimates at $54 million. Current tax
expense was approximately $19,001 higher in 2016, as a result of a one year tax deferral available through a
subsidiary of Enercare Solutions during 2015 that reversed in 2016.
• Enercare estimates that it will recognize approximately $23 million to $29 million in current income tax expense
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017. This estimate is based on taxable income normalized for a full year
of Service Experts and assumes corporate tax rates of approximately 26.5% in Canada and 39% in the US. Taxable
income is principally impacted by changes in revenue, operating expenses, potential acquisitions or divestitures,
appropriate tax planning and capital expenditures through the capital cost allowance deduction.
• The SE Transaction was structured to permit Enercare to “step up” the tax basis of Service Experts’ assets in the
United States through a “338 election” under US tax rules. At acquisition, Enercare estimated the resulting tax
shelter value to be approximately US $65 million on a net present value basis. This tax shelter is estimated to result
in a reduction of US taxable income of approximately $24 million to $28 million per year for the next 15 years.
2017 Capital Investments
• In 2016, Enercare capital investments of $164 million were in line with previous guidance. The Internal Rate of
Return from capital investments on both rental water heater and rental HVAC additions were also in line with
management’s targets of between 15% to 20%.
Capital Expenditure(1)

2016

HVAC rentals

$46M

Water heater additions

$37M

Water heater exchanges

$36M

Sub-metering growth

$19M

In-house financing(2)
Corporate & Building(3)
Total Range

$3M
$23M
$164M

(1) Excludes acquisitions.
(2) In-house financing represents the increase in financing receivables related to the program.
(3) Corporate capital includes IT software and hardware, furniture and fixtures and other capital projects. The building relates to a new head office purchased in
Q2 of 2016 including renovations continuing into the early part of 2017.
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• Enercare is targeting a range of between $167 million and $192 million in capital investments in 2017, primarily
reflecting higher unit costs due to higher end product originations, higher sales volumes and higher corporate
spending on platforms for innovation and growth to enable future product offerings, including smart home products
for a connected home.
Capital Expenditure(1)

Target Range for 2017

HVAC rentals

$46M – $52M

Water heater additions

$35M – $39M

Water heater exchanges

$32M – $36M

Sub-metering growth

$17M – $21M

In-house financing(2)

$5M – $ 8M

Corporate & Building(3)
Total Range

$32M – $36M
$167M – $192M(4)

(1) Excludes acquisitions.
(2) In-house financing represents the increase in financing receivables related to the program.
(3) Corporate capital includes IT software and hardware, furniture and fixtures and other capital projects. The building relates to a new head office purchased in
Q2 of 2016 including renovations continuing into the early part of 2017.
(4) The target range of capital spend for the Enercare Home Service and Service Experts businesses are largely based on the number and type of equipment
originated (assumed to be approximately 26,000 water heater and water treatment rental additions, 42,000 water heater exchanges and 14,500 HVAC rental
additions) and the mix between rental, sales and financing arrangements similar to actual results experienced in the last 12 months of operations. The target
range for capital spend in the Sub-metering business is based on the number and type of metering equipment installed during the year assumed to be
approximately 18,000 units.

Corporate
• Enercare is pleased that the participation rate in its Dividend Reinvestment Plan is currently 30%.
• Enercare announced an increase in its monthly dividend to $0.08 per Share, an increase of approximately 4%,
effective in respect of the dividend payable to shareholders of record on the applicable date in April 2017. The
increase reflects Enercare’s strong overall performance and our confidence in the future of the Enercare Home
Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering businesses.
• Enercare has set its annual general meeting of shareholders for May 1, 2017. Jim Pantelidis, Chair of the Board,
along with management will provide an update to shareholders on Enercare’s achievements in 2016 and strategy
to grow shareholder value.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
Defined Term

Definition

AIF

Annual Information Form of Enercare dated March 21, 2016.

Attrition

Termination of customer relationships, including buyouts, in the Rentals portfolio.

Bill 55

Stronger Protection for Ontario Consumers Act, 2013.

Billable

Enercare services that are deemed to be billing (see Non-IFRS Financial and Performance
Measures – Measures of Financial Performance).

Convertible Debentures

6.25% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures of Enercare (formerly the Fund), which
mature on June 30, 2017, in the original aggregate principal amount of $27,883. Each Debenture
is convertible into Shares at the option of the holder at a conversion price of $6.48 (or 154.3210
Shares per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Debentures).

DBRS

DBRS Limited.

DC&P

Disclosure Controls and Procedures as defined under National Instrument 52-109 – Certification
of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

DE

Direct Energy Marketing Limited.

DE Acquisition

The acquisition of the OHCS business of DE by Enercare on October 20, 2014 through EHCS LP.

EBITDA

This measure is comprised of net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense and amortization
expense. It is one metric that can be used to determine Enercare’s ability to service its debt, finance
capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders. Previously EBITDA
excluded investment and other income and beginning the first quarter of 2016, the calculation of
EBITDA includes investment and other income. Comparatives have been restated accordingly.

ECI

Enercare Connections Inc. (formerly Stratacon, EECI and Triacta).

EECI

Enbridge Electric Connections Inc. (now ECI).

EHCS LP

Enercare Home and Commercial Services Limited Partnership, the limited partnership formed to own
OHCS following the closing of the DE Acquisition, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare.

EGD

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.

Enercare

Enercare Inc., formerly the Fund.

Enercare Solutions

Enercare Solutions Inc., formerly the Trust.

ESLP

Enercare Solutions Limited Partnership (formerly the Waterheater Operating Limited Partnership).

Fund

The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund, predecessor to Enercare prior to the conversion of the Fund
from an income trust to corporate structure pursuant to a plan of arrangement on January 1, 2011.
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Defined Term

Definition

Guarantors

ESLP, Rentco and WGP Inc., EHCS LP, EHCS GP, SE Canada Inc., SEHAC and its operating
subsidiaries and affiliates.

HVAC

Heating, ventilation and air conditioning.

Enercare Home Services

Enercare business, which provides rental water heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and other HVAC
products and, as of October 20, 2014, also provides protection plans, HVAC sales and related services.

IASB

The International Accounting Standards Board.

ICFR

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as defined under National Instrument 52-109 –
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the IASB.

Incurrence Test

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes Incurrence EBITDA to Net Interest Expense.

LEAN

Lean is a set of “tools” and an operational discipline that assist in the identification and steady
elimination of process waste – as waste is eliminated quality improves while cycle time and cost is
reduced.

MD&A

Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Merger Agreement

The agreement dated March 7, 2016 between, among others, Enercare Solutions and Service
Experts regarding the SE Transaction.

NCIB

Enercare’s normal course issuer bid.

OHCS

The Ontario home and small commercial services business of DE acquired by Enercare on
October 20, 2014 in the DE Acquisition.

Origination Agreement

The origination agreement dated December 17, 2002 between Rentco and DE providing for the sale
to ESLP of rental water heaters originated by DE, as amended on January 1, 2005, December 29,
2006, January 1, 2013 and August 1, 2013, as assigned by DE to EHCS LP on October 20, 2014.

Rentals

Component of the Enercare Home Services business that provides rental water heaters, furnaces,
air conditioners and other HVAC products.

Rentco

4483588 Canada Inc. (formerly Direct Waterheater Rentals Inc.).

SE Subscription Receipts

$231,947 (net of underwriters’ fees) of subscription receipts issued by Enercare on a bought deal
basis in relation to the SE Transaction.

SE Transaction

The acquisition of Service Experts by Enercare through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Enercare Solutions, pursuant the Merger Agreement which was completed on May 11, 2016.
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Defined Term

Definition

SEHAC

SEHAC Holdings LLC (formerly SEHAC Holdings Corporation).

Senior Unsecured Indenture means the trust indenture dated as of January 29, 2010 between the Operating Trust, as issuer, the
Guarantors, as guarantors, and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as indenture trustee, as
supplemented by the first supplemental indenture dated as of January 29, 2010, the second
supplemental indenture dated as of February 19, 2010, the third supplemental indenture dated as
of December 1, 2010, the fourth supplemental indenture dated as of January 1, 2011, the fifth
supplemental indenture dated as of September 30, 2012, the sixth supplemental indenture dated
as of November 21, 2012, the seventh supplemental indenture dated as of February 1, 2013, the
eighth supplemental indenture dated as of October 20, 2014, the ninth supplemental indenture
dated as of May 11, 2016, the tenth supplemental indenture dated as of June 10, 2016, the eleventh
supplemental indenture dated as of February 21, 2017 and the twelfth supplemental indenture
dated as of as of February 21, 2017 the same may be amended, modified, supplemented, restated
or replaced from time to time.
Service Experts

Enercare business operating under the brand “Service Experts”, which provides HVAC products and
servicing to residential and light commercial customers, primarily operated by SEHAC Holdings LLC
and SE Canada Inc.

SG&A

Selling, general and administrative expenses.

S&P

Standard and Poor’s Rating Services.

Shares

Common shares of Enercare.

Stratacon

Stratacon Inc. (now ECI).

Stratacon Debt

Secured debt assumed with the acquisition of Stratacon.

Sub-metering

Business division (ECI) that provides sub-metering equipment and billing services to partially finance
the DE Acquisition.

Triacta

Triacta Power Technologies Inc., now ECI pursuant to an amalgamation effective July 15, 2015.

Trust

The Consumers’ Waterheater Operating Trust.

TSX

Toronto Stock Exchange.

WGP Inc.

4113152 Canada Limited

2012 Notes

$250,000 of 4.30% Series 2012-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of Enercare Solutions, which are to be
redeemed on March 23, 2017.

2013 Notes

$225,000 of 4.60% Series 2013-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of Enercare Solutions, which mature
on February 3, 2020.
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Defined Term

Definition

2014 Debt Financing

The debt financing of Enercare Solutions in respect of the DE Acquisition consisting of an unsecured
(i) 4-year variable rate, non-revolving term loan facility in the amount of $210,000 and (ii) 5-year
variable rate, revolving credit facility in the maximum amount of $200,000.

2014 Revolver

The 5-year variable rate, revolving credit facility in the maximum amount of $100,000 issued under
the 2014 Debt Financing. In December of 2016, the revolving credit facility was increased to a
maximum amount of $200,000, maintaining the same terms.

2014 Term Loan

The 4-year variable rate, non-revolving term loan facility in the amount of $210,000 issued under
the 2014 Debt Financing, which was repaid on February 23, 2017.

2016 Term Loan

Two 4-year non-revolving, non-amortizing variable rate term credit facilities in the aggregate amount
of US $200,000.

2017-1 Notes

The $275,000 of 3.38% Series 2017-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of Enercare Solutions, due
February 21, 2022.

2017-2 Notes

The $225,000 of 3.99% Series 2017-2 Senior Unsecured Notes of Enercare Solutions, due
February 21, 2024.

2017 Notes

The Series 2017-1 Notes and Series 2017-2 Notes.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The management of Enercare is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial statements contained
in the annual report. These statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada and necessarily include some amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and
judgment. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis and considers that the statements
present fairly the financial position of Enercare, the results of its operations and its cash flows. Management has
also prepared financial information presented elsewhere in this report and has ensured that it is consistent with that
in the financial statements.
To fulfill its responsibility, management maintains internal accounting controls and systems of high quality and
establishes policies and procedures to ensure the reliability of financial information and to safeguard assets. The
internal control systems and financial records are subject to reviews by external auditors during the examination of
the financial statements.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets regularly with the external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, and with management to approve the scope of audit work and assess reports on audit work performed. The
financial statements have been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on the recommendation of the
Audit Committee.
Signed,

“John Macdonald”

“Evelyn Sutherland”

JOHN MACDONALD

EVELYN SUTHERLAND

President and Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ENERCARE INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Enercare Inc. and its subsidiaries, which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and
the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then
ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Enercare Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and their financial performance
and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

“PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

2016

As at December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 4)
Accounts and other receivables (note 5)
Financing receivables (note 6)
Inventory (note 7)
Collateral deposits (note 11)
Prepaid expenses
Capital assets (note 8)
Intangible assets (note 9)
Reimbursement right – pension (note 16)
Employee benefit plan assets (note 16)
Goodwill (note 10)
Deferred tax asset (note 17)
Long-term financing receivables (note 6)
Other assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 12)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 14)
Convertible debentures (note 14)
Obligations under finance leases (note 13)
Insurance claim provisions (note 11)
Other Provisions (note 27)
Interest payable
Deferred revenue and service obligation (note 15)
Dividends payable
Long-term debt (note 14)
Long-term obligations under finance leases (note 13)
Long-term convertible debentures (note 14)
Employee benefit plan obligations (note 16)
Deferred tax liability (note 17)
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (note 18)
Treasury shares (note 18)
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Deficit

Commitments and contingent liabilities are found in notes 21 and 22 respectively.
Subsequent events are found in notes 14 and 33.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2015

$

38,415
139,137
319
16,031
9,842
11,238
214,982
658,133
699,143
6,246
376,617
11,120
2,557
1,994
$1,970,792

$

28,413
98,414
7,852
3,653
138,332
542,591
527,463
11,107
147,564
7,652
1,538
$ 1,376,247

$ 180,503
250,615
2,019
11,216
7,990
1,107
4,806
41,409
499,665
716,481
14,408
22,028
101,746
1,354,328

$

1,151,913
(1,785)
2,056
8,618
(544,338)
616,464
$1,970,792

914,074
(815)
1,215
103
(524,780)
389,797
$ 1,376,247

66,536
992
2,061
1,191
4,694
8,193
6,156
89,823
733,540
4,634
2,680
27,848
127,925
986,450

Consolidated Statements of Income

2016

2015

$ 574,831
420,511
599
995,941

$ 524,161
39,460
205
563,826

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $, except share and per share amounts)

Revenues
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenues
Expenses
Cost of goods sold and services provided (note 25)
Commodity charges
Maintenance and servicing costs
Sales and other services
Selling, general & administrative (note 26)
Foreign exchange (gain) / loss
Net loss on disposal of equipment
Gain on retirement of finance lease obligations
Other income
Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortization
Capital assets (note 8)
Intangible assets (note 9)
Interest expense (note 14)
Earnings for the year before income taxes
Tax expense
Current tax expense (note 17)
Deferred income tax (recovery) / expense (note 17)
Total tax expense
Net earnings for the year
Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding (note 18)
Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding (note 18)
Basic/diluted earnings per share (note 18)

111,482
84,705
263,534
266,350
(328)
4,636
(230)
730,149
265,792

106,203
61,164
27,538
144,268
43
3,017
(147)
342,086
580
222,320

70,915
74,409
34,601
85,867

58,497
66,919
28,075
68,829

$

54,381
(29,644)
24,737
61,130

$

10,197
7,677
17,874
50,955

$

98,091
98,749
0.62

$

91,299
91,998
0.56

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
2016

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

Net earnings for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to earnings
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 16)
Tax effect of remeasurements of defined benefit plans
Items that will be reclassified to earnings
Net investment hedge of US dollar loans (note 23)
Tax effect of net investment hedge of US dollar loans
Foreign currency translation differences from foreign operations
Comprehensive income for the year

$

61,130

2015
$

3,641
(965)

$

(5,080)
125
10,794
69,645

50,955
481
(127)

$

51,309
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

2016

2015

$ 914,074

$ 956,281

Share Capital
Balance – beginning of year
Shares issued, net of transaction costs (note 18)
Repurchase of shares (note 18)
Shares issued on debenture conversion (net of issue costs) (notes 14, 18)
Shares issued for Dividend Reinvestment Plan (note 18)
Shares issued upon excercise of share options (note 18)
Share Capital – end of year

233,564

(30)

-

(45,763)

696

529

2,078

-

1,501

3,057

1,151,913

914,074

Treasury Shares
Balance – beginning of year
Shares repurchased on account of stock purchase plan (note 18)
Treasury Shares – end of year

(815)

-

(970)

(815)

(1,785)

(815)

1,215

989

Contributed Surplus
Balance – beginning of year
Shares issued on debenture conversion (net of issue costs) (notes 14, 18)

(8)

(14)

Employee share options and stock purchase plan:
Value of services recognized

916

512

Shares issued upon excercise of share options

(67)

(272)

Contributed Surplus – end of year

2,056

1,215

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Balance – beginning of year
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 16)

103
3,641

(251)
481

Net investment hedge of US dollar loans (note 23)

(5,080)

Foreign currency translation differences from foreign operations

10,794

-

125

-

Tax effect of investment hedge of US dollar loans
Tax effect of remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 16)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income – end of year

(965)
8,618

-

(127)
103

Deficit
Balance – beginning of year
Net earnings for the year
Repurchase of shares
Dividends (note 20)
Deficit – end of year
Shareholders’ equity – end of year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(524,780)
61,130
-

(479,134)
50,955
(21,838)

(80,688)

(74,763)

(544,338)

(524,780)

$ 616,464

$ 389,797

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

2016

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

Cash provided by/(used in):
Operating activities
Net earnings for the year
Items not affecting cash
Depreciation and amortization
Capital assets (note 8)
Intangible assets (note 9)
Net loss on disposal of equipment
Gain on retirement of finance lease obligations
Non-cash foreign exchange expense
Non-cash interest expense
Non-cash interest Income
Defined benefit plan expense
Employee share options and stock purchase plan
Deferred income tax (recovery) / expense (note 17)
Deferred customer inducements
Financing receivables
Contributions to defined benefit pension plan
Net change in non-cash working capital (note 28)
Cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of capital assets (note 8)
Purchase of intangible assets (note 9)
Acquisition of Triacta – net of cash received
Acquisition of SE – net of cash received (note 32)
Acquisition of CNI
Proceeds from disposal of vehicle leases
Proceeds from disposal of equipment – warranty recoveries
Proceeds from disposal of equipment – buyout receipts
Cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Dividends to shareholders
Purchase of treasury shares
Repurchase of shares
Share issuance, net of transaction costs – SE (note 18)
Share issuance, net of transaction costs – OHCS
Proceeds from exercise of employee share options
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of revolving line of credit
Repayment of obligations under finance leases
Repayment of long-term debt
Financing costs on long-term debt
Cash provided by / (used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents – end of year (note 4)
Supplementary information
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

$

61,130

2015

$

50,955

70,915
74,409
4,636
(230)
(127)
1,892
(168)
4,606
916
(29,644)
(456)
(2,876)
(2,596)
182,407
(17,641)
164,766

58,497
66,919
3,017
(147)
1,970
4,256
512
7,677
(1,538)
(2,584)
189,534
(25,648)
163,886

(153,954)
(73)
(375,163)
1,104
2,364
7,634
(518,088)

(114,991)
(7,105)
(863)
313
2,118
10,297
(110,231)

(84,766)
(970)
230,710
1,434
15,000
258,320
(50,000)
(6,129)
(992)
(1,009)
361,598
1,726
8,276
28,413
$
38,415

$

(74,157)
(815)
(67,601)
(30)
2,785
50,000
(2,222)
(1,257)
(93,297)
(39,642)
68,055
28,413

$
$

$
$

25,951
19,417

36,571
29,090

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except shares, per share and per subscription receipt amounts)

1.

ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Enercare Inc. (“Enercare”) holds all of the issued and outstanding shares of Enercare Solutions Inc. (“Enercare
Solutions”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiaries owns a portfolio of water heaters and other assets
which are primarily rented to customers in Ontario. Enercare also owns Enercare Connections Inc. (“Enercare
Connections”), which operates in the sub-metering (“Sub-metering”) business primarily in Ontario.
Enercare Solutions is the successor to The Consumers’ Waterheater Operating Trust. On October 20, 2014,
Enercare, through a subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, acquired the Ontario home and small commercial services
business (“OHCS”) of Direct Energy Marketing Limited (“DE”) (the “DE Acquisition”). The combined business
unit is now referred to as “Enercare Home Services” which rents, sells and finances, water heaters, water
treatment, furnaces, air conditioners and other HVAC rental products and provides protection plans and on
demand duct cleaning, plumbing and related services.
On May 11, 2016, Enercare, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, acquired,
through a merger, SEHAC Holdings Corporation (now SEHAC Holdings LLC or “SEHAC”) (the “SE Transaction”)
(see note 32), which owned the business operated under the Service Experts brands (“Service Experts”). Enercare
purchased 100% of the outstanding shares of SEHAC. Service Experts provides sales, installation, maintenance
and repair of heating, ventilation and air conditioning (“HVAC”) systems directly to residential and light commercial
customers operating in locations in the United States and Canada. The consolidated financial statements reflect
Enercare’s ownership of Service Experts for the period of May 11, 2016 to December 31, 2016.
Enercare Connections was formed through the amalgamation on January 1, 2012 of Stratacon Inc. and Enercare
Connections. On July 15, 2015, Enercare, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Enercare Connections,
completed its acquisition of Triacta Power Technologies Inc. (“Triacta”), a company in the design and
manufacturing of advanced, utility-grade energy management meters for multi-unit residential, commercial and
institutional applications. Triacta’s primary markets are Canada and the U.S. Enercare acquired all of the issued
and outstanding shares of Triacta, through a plan of arrangement under the Ontario Business Corporations Act.
The purchase price for the acquisition was $7,500, subject to certain working capital and other adjustments,
and paid in full by Triacta of its existing indebtedness and included net working capital of $446. The purchase
price allocation was finalized in Q1 2016.
The head office of Enercare is located at 4000 Victoria Park Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M2H 3P4.
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Enercare has
consistently applied the same accounting policies and methods of computation throughout all periods presented,
as if these policies had always been in effect, except for the adoption of new accounting standards as described
in note 3 under “Adoption of New Accounting Standards”.
The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Canadian dollars, which is Enercare’s functional
currency and presentation currency. Certain subsidiaries acquired through the SE Transaction have a functional
currency of US dollars.
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Certain comparative balances have been reclassified from the consolidated financial statements previously
presented to conform to the presentation of the 2016 financial statements.
These financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on March 6, 2017.
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
described below.
Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
insurance provision claims (note 11) and employee benefit plans (note 16).
Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of Enercare consolidate the accounts of its subsidiaries. All inter-company
transactions and balances from inter-company transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
Subsidiaries are those entities which Enercare controls. Enercare controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained
by Enercare and are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. As of the date of these consolidated
financial statements, 100% of the operating results and equity of the subsidiaries is attributable to Enercare.
Business Combinations
Business combinations are presented in accordance with IFRS 3R. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are measured at their acquisition-date fair values. Any excess purchase price over the identifiable net
assets will be recorded as goodwill. Acquisition-related costs are expensed in the period in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and short-term investments with
maturities of less than 90 days after the date of purchase.
Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when Enercare becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the
assets have expired or have been transferred and Enercare has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation is eliminated or Enercare is no longer
required to transfer economic resources to a third party in respect of the obligation.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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At initial recognition, Enercare classifies its financial instruments in the following categories depending on the
purpose for which the instruments were acquired:
(i) Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: A financial asset or liability is
classified in this category if acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short-term.
Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value. Transaction
costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are presented in the consolidated statement of income within other gains and losses in the period in
which they arise. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as
current except for the portion expected to be realized or paid beyond twelve months of the consolidated
statement of financial position, which is classified as non-current.
(ii) Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Enercare’s loans and receivables are comprised primarily
of accounts receivables and cash and cash equivalents and are included in current assets due to their shortterm nature. It also includes financing receivables which are included in current and long-term assets
depending on their expected maturity. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected
to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently,
loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less a
provision for impairment.
(iii) Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, provisions, interest payable, dividends payable, deferred revenue, obligations under
finance leases and long-term debt. Amounts are initially recognized at the amount required to be paid less,
when material, a discount to reduce the amount to fair value. Subsequently, amounts are recognized at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Long-term debt is recognized initially at fair value,
net of any transaction costs incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within twelve months. Otherwise,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.
(iv) A portion of the 2016 Term Loan (see Note 14 & 23) is designated as a hedge with respect to the foreign
currency exposure as a result of Enercare’s net investment in its US operations. The 2016 Term Loan is
carried at amortized cost, however the foreign exchange translation adjustment related to the portion
designated as a hedge is recorded in OCI along with the cumulative translation adjustment associated with
the hedged item.
Impairment of Financial Assets
At each reporting date, Enercare assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.
If such evidence exists, Enercare recognizes an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortized cost as
the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or receivable and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset
is reduced by this amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an allowance account.
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Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount
of the loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognized.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less any provisions for doubtful debts. Provisions are
made where there is evidence of a risk of non-payment, taking into account ageing, previous experience and
general economic conditions. When an accounts receivable is determined to be uncollectable it is written off,
firstly against any provision available and then to the consolidated statement of income.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously provided for are credited to the consolidated statement of income.
Inventory
Inventory consists of furnaces, boilers, air conditioners held for sale or parts used in servicing equipment.
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory is determined on a weighted
average cost basis.
Inventory is considered for obsolescence based on current estimates of future sales and use.
Provisions
Provisions for legal claims, where applicable, are recognized when Enercare has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at management’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period and are discounted
to present value where the effect is material. The discount rate, if applied, would be the risk free rate at the
measurement date. Enercare performs evaluations to identify onerous contracts and, where applicable, records
provisions for such contracts.
Insurance Claims Provisions
Enercare has insurance coverage for claims related to workers compensation, automobile and general liability
claims. This coverage includes a self-insured component which is funded to a third-party collateral account
based on estimated claim losses for the plan year. The balance of the collateral account at December 31, 2016
represents the net of payments made by Enercare to fund into the collateral account, less payments from the
collateral account to fund cost of paid claims (up to the self-insured retention), and is recognized as an asset in
the statement of financial position.
Claims provisions are estimated by the appointed actuary and are based on assumptions such as historical loss
development factors, payment patterns, future rates of insurance claims frequency and severity, inflation,
expenses, taking into consideration the circumstances of the entity and the nature of the insurance policies.
These liabilities are recognized on the statement of financial position and changes are recognized within claims
expense in selling, general and administrative expenses on the statement of income.
Claims provisions are first determined on a case-by-case basis as insurance claims are reported and then
reassessed as additional information becomes known. Included in claims provision is an estimate for the future
development of these insurance claims, including insurance claims incurred but not reported by employees,
customers, or other third-parties (“IBNR”), as well as a provision for adverse deviations.
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Capital Assets
Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs
include expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, including installation costs,
labour and direct overhead. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to Enercare and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is
derecognized when replaced. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of
income during the period in which they are incurred.
The major categories of capital assets are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets on a straightline basis as follows:
Rental equipment

16 years

Furniture and fixtures

3-5 years

Computer equipment

3-5 years

Computer software
Installed meters
Installed meters – other

2-10 years
10 years
length of the contract, typically 10-25 years

Vehicles

over the term of the lease

Leasehold improvements

over the term of the lease

Building
Land

20 years
Indefinite life

Residual values, method of amortization and useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.
Gains and losses on disposals of equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
of the asset and are included as part of loss on disposal of equipment in the consolidated statement of income.
Leases
Leasing agreements which transfer to Enercare substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership of an asset
are treated as finance leases, as if the asset had been purchased outright. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated on a basis consistent with similar owned assets or the lease term if shorter. The interest element of
the finance leases is included in the consolidated statement of income. All other leases are operating leases and
the rental costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are predominantly related to contractual customer relationships, customer contracts and
proprietary technology acquired in business combinations that are recognized at fair value at the acquisition
date. The contractual customer relationships, customer contracts and proprietary technology have a finite useful
life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment charges. Amortization is calculated
using the straight-line method over the expected life of 10 to 20 years. Brands acquired through the SE
Transaction are determined to have indefinite lives.
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Impairment of Non-financial Assets
Intangible assets and capital assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Indefinite life intangibles are reviewed for impairment annually
or at any time if an indicator of impairment exists. For the purposes of measuring recoverable amounts, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units or
“CGU”). The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
(being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGU). An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. When there
are indications of a potential decrease in a prior period impairment loss, a reversal may be recognized through
the consolidated statements of income. A change in amortization may be required based upon the estimated
remaining service life.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of Enercare’s share of the
identifiable net assets of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or at any time if an indicator of impairment exists.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to a CGU or group of CGUs which corresponds to
the level at which goodwill is internally monitored by the Chief Operating Decision Maker.
The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. A goodwill impairment
is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the CGU or groups of CGUs over its recoverable amount.
Goodwill impairments are not reversible.
Convertible Debentures
The convertible debentures, issued in June and July 2010, have been recorded as a liability. The value of the
debentures has been reduced at issuance to reflect the fair value of the conversion feature of these debentures. The
reduction is accreted to earnings over the expected term of the debentures using the effective interest rate method.
Long Term Compensation
Cash Based Payment Plans
Enercare has a Performance Share Unit Plan (“PSUP”) for eligible employees as described in note 30.
Awards are made in the form of phantom shares, which vest at the end of a three year period.
Enercare has also adopted the Deferred Share Unit Plan (“DSUP”) for non-employee directors as described
in note 30. In addition to annual grants, pursuant to the DSUP, directors will receive 50% of their fees in
the form of deferred share units until the director has met the director’s share ownership requirements.
Directors may also elect to have vested performance share units settled in deferred share units on a onefor-one basis and may elect once each calendar year to receive any portion of their fees in the form of
deferred share units for the year. Such fee election can be changed on a quarterly basis. The vesting period
is estimated to be three years.
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The PSUP and DSUP plan liabilities are based upon the product of the number of share units, the vesting
period, the average volume weighted share price for the five days preceding the last trading day of the
period and performance criteria established for each grant and plan at each consolidated statement of
financial position date. Enercare’s obligation for each plan is recorded in accounts payable and paid in cash,
unless a director elects to have vested performance share units settled in deferred share units.
Share Based Plan
Enercare has a stock option plan for officers of Enercare as described in note 30. At the date of grant, options
are valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model giving consideration to the terms of the plan and
Enercare’s performance. Recorded amounts are reflected in contributed surplus and the consolidated
statement of income for the period over the vesting period. The number of options expected to vest is
reviewed at least annually, with any impact being recognized immediately.
Employee Share Purchase Plan
Effective November 1, 2014, Enercare implemented an Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) for all
eligible employees of Enercare. Under the plan, employees can purchase shares of Enercare, up to a
maximum of $10 per year or 5% of base salary. Enercare will award one matching share for every two shares
purchased by an employee over a two year vesting period during which Enercare will recognize an expense
over the vesting period. Employee contributions held by Enercare at the end of a period are classified as
restricted cash until such time the funds are transferred to the administrative agent for the purchase of
Enercare shares.
Income Tax
Enercare uses the liability method and determines deferred income tax assets and liabilities based on differences
between the accounting and tax value of assets and liabilities. These are measured using the currently enacted,
or substantially enacted, tax rates that will be in effect when the differences are anticipated to reverse. Deferred
income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of income
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case income tax is also
recognized directly in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, or substantially
enacted, at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect to previous years.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current.
Relationship with Franchisees
In certain regions of Ontario, Enercare outsources the sale of air conditioners, boilers, furnaces and other services
and protection plans to seven third party franchisees and earns royalties based on the revenue earned by the
franchisees. As part of the arrangement, which expires in 2034, Enercare facilitates the invoicing and collection
of receivable balances from the franchisees’ customers and remits the franchisees’ portion of the collected
amounts, thereby recognizing as revenue the royalty earned. Royalty revenue of $13,702 (2015 – $14,354)
was recognized during the year.
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Enercare also manages an advertising fund (“Ad Fund”), established to collect and administer funds contributed
by the franchisees for use in advertising programs. Contributions to the Ad Fund are based on a percentage of
each franchisee’s revenue. In accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue”, these contributions are not recorded as revenue
but are netted against the advertising expenses incurred by Enercare as it is acting in substance, as an agent
for the franchisees with regard to these contributions.
Revenue
General
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Enercare and delivery has
occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. These criteria
are met at the time the service is provided or equipment is installed and depending on the delivery condition,
title and risk have been passed to the customer and acceptance of the product, when contractually required,
has been obtained. Revenue is measured based on the contract price, net of discounts at the time of sale.
Amounts paid in advance of revenue recognition are recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue recognized
prior to invoicing is recorded as unbilled accounts receivable and is included in accounts receivable.
Enercare assesses the revenue recognition for principal versus agent considerations for its Sub-metering
contracted revenue and Enercare Home Services franchisee revenues. When a principal relationship exists,
revenue is recognized on a gross basis and when an agent relationship exists, revenue is recognized on a
net basis.
Contract Revenues
Rental and Sub-metering Revenue
Rental revenue is primarily comprised of the rental of water heaters, furnaces, boilers and air
conditioners and is recognized on a monthly basis, in line with the terms of the rental agreement.
Sub-metering revenue is primarily comprised of sub-metering services related to individual suite
consumption of electricity, water, thermal energy and gas commodities in multi-residential and
commercial buildings. The revenue is recognized on a monthly basis over the term of the service
agreement as the services are provided to the customer.
Protection Plans
Within this product offering, Enercare provides both maintenance service contracts and full service
protection plans. Under maintenance service contracts, Enercare is obligated to perform one annual
maintenance service on the customer’s equipment when requested by the customer. Maintenance service
revenue is recognized when the service is performed, or when the performance period has expired.
Enercare offers certain arrangements where multiple-element arrangements may exist. The amount of
revenue allocated to each element is based upon the relative fair values of the various elements. The
fair values of each element are determined based on the current market price of each of the elements
when sold separately.
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Full service protection plans consist of fixed-fee service contracts for residential air conditioners and
furnaces directly with the end customer. These fixed-fee service contracts are for a twelve month term
and are billed annually, quarterly or monthly in advance. Amounts billed are initially recorded as
deferred revenue and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the service period.
For protection plan sales originated by franchisees, Enercare earns royalties when the service contract
is sold to the customer as the franchisee retains the service obligation.
These full service protection plan arrangements are considered insurance contracts under IFRS 4. In
the event that the estimated future costs of full service protection plan contracts exceed the associated
revenue to be recognized, a loss is recognized in net income immediately.
Sales and Other Services
Sale and Installation of Equipment
Sale and installation of equipment in the Home Services segment is primarily comprised of residential
furnaces, boilers and air conditioners through both the corporate and franchised regions. In the Service
Experts segment, sales and installations of equipment is primarily comprised of residential and
commercial furnaces and air conditioners. Revenue is recognized as the service is provided. For Submetering, revenue related to the sale and installation of water conservation products in apartments
and condominiums sales is recognized as the service is provided.
Other Services
Other services include chargeable services such as on demand repairs and maintenance and duct
cleaning, and royalties thereon when the services are performed by third party franchisees. Revenue
from other services is recognized when the services are provided.
Interest Expense and Financing Charges
Costs associated with the arrangement of long-term financing are netted against the carrying value of the debt
and amortized on an effective interest rate method over the expected term of the debt.
Foreign Currency Translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies at exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting
date are re-measured to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Foreign currency differences
arising on re-measurement are recognized through the statement of income. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of
transaction. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported in the statement of income on a net basis. The effect
of currency translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents is presented separately in the statements of
cash flows.
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Foreign Operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated from their functional currency to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to the presentation currency using
average exchange rates for the period. Foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) in the foreign currency translation differences from foreign operations.
Financial instruments designated as a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in foreign
operations that are effective as a hedge are reported in the same manner as the foreign currency translation
adjustment (in OCI) related to the net investment. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences
are recognized in the statement of income.
Dividends
Dividends on shares are recognized in Enercare’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by Enercare’s board of directors.
Enercare has adopted a dividend reinvestment plan (“DRIP”), which allows all Canadian shareholders to elect
to have some or all cash dividends reinvested in additional shares on a monthly basis. Shares issued under DRIP
are at a price equal to 95% of the weighted average purchase price of the shares during the five business days
immediately prior to the dividend payment date. Dividend shares and the 5% bonus shares are recognized in
Enercare’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by Enercare’s
board of directors.
Additional IFRS Measures Presented – EBITDA
During the year, Enercare introduced the presentation of an additional IFRS measure, EBITDA (“Earnings Before
Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization”) within the Consolidated Statements of Income. This measure
is comprised of net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense, and depreciation and amortization expense.
EBITDA is one metric that can be used to determine Enercare’s ability to service its debt, finance capital
expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
Enercare makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Management
continually evaluates estimates and judgments which are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. The following items are of significance for the period.
Revenue Accruals
At December 31, 2016, the Enercare Home Services segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately
$46,400 reflecting accrued service periods, compared to $47,200 at December 31, 2015. Unbilled
protection plans comprise approximately $28,200 of this balance, compared to $28,700 at December 31,
2015. This balance is predominantly made up of protection plans sold in franchisee service areas, which
are recognized as royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of twelve months. The
remaining unbilled revenues reflect accrued service revenues for rental water heaters and other products.
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At December 31, 2016, the Service Experts segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $1,700
reflecting accrued revenue for contracts in progress, compared to $nil at December 31, 2015.
At December 31, 2016, the Sub-metering segment recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $10,000,
reflecting accrued service periods, compared to $9,800 at December 31, 2015.
Bad Debt Provisions
The Enercare Home Services segment is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for
customers who are billed directly by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. (“EGD”) within its service territory and
secondarily when billed by Enercare or are billed by EGD outside of its service territory. For billing within
the EGD service territory, Enercare is guaranteed payment by EGD for 99.51% in 2016 and 99.49% in
2015 of the amount billed (subject to certain exceptions) 21 calendar days after the invoices are issued.
Management evaluates a number of factors and assumptions in the determination of the bad debt provision.
The total bad debt provision comprising the Enercare Home Services, Sub-metering and Service Experts
segments was approximately $11,800 at December 31, 2016, compared to approximately $11,400 at the
end of 2015. Changes in any of the variables or assumptions may result in a materially different amount.
Leases
Management applies judgment in its assessment of Enercare’s arrangements with customers when
determining the classification of leases and the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
resides with the company or the customer.
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets and Goodwill
Impairment tests are conducted at least annually, or when events or circumstances indicate impairment
may exist. The recoverable amount is based upon a number of assumptions, including but not limited to:
discount rates, billable units, cash flows and expenses. Changes in any of these assumptions may result in
a materially different recoverable amount.
Employee Benefit Plans
Employee defined benefit plan balances, as described in note 16, are subject to a number of assumptions.
The actuarial valuations rely on estimates and assumptions including those for wage escalation, mortality,
health care and dental costs inflation, retirement ages, life expectancies and discount rates. Changes in
these estimates could have a material impact on the employee benefit plans liability and employee benefit
plan costs.
Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization is considered probable. Judgments
regarding projected future income and tax planning strategies are considered in making this assessment.
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Business Combination
With respect to the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities and other adjustments related to
the acquisition of Service Experts (note 32), these consolidated financial statements have been prepared
using the acquisition method of accounting, in accordance with IFRS 3R, Business Combinations, under
which, the total fair value of the consideration transferred has been assigned to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of the acquisition, with any excess
purchase price allocated to goodwill. Changes may be expected as additional information becomes available
following the closing date of May 11, 2016. Accordingly, the final fair value determinations may differ from
those set forth in these consolidated financial statements and such differences may be material.
Estimation of Insurance Claims
Insurance liabilities are subject to measurement uncertainty. The recognized amounts of such items are
based on Enercare’s best information and judgment. Estimates and other judgments are continuously
evaluated based on management’s experience and expectations about future events, including insurance
claims for events that have occurred but not yet been reported to management.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Enercare has adopted new or revised standards as required by IFRS, effective January 1, 2016.
IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“IAS 1”) was amended by the IASB to clarify guidance on
materiality and aggregation, the presentation of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and disclosure
of accounting policies. The amendment gives guidance that information within the consolidated statements of
financial position and consolidated statements of income should not be aggregated or disaggregated in a manner
that obscures useful information, and that disaggregation may be required in the consolidated statements of
income in the form of additional subtotals as they are relevant to understanding the entity’s financial position or
performance. The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. As a
result of adopting this amendment, Enercare has introduced the presentation of an additional IFRS measure,
EBITDA (“Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization”), within the Consolidated Statements
of Income. Refer to “Additional IFRS Measures Presented – EBITDA”, above.
Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Applied
The following are accounting policy changes to be implemented by Enercare in future periods:
Statement of Cash flows
IAS 7, “Statement of cash flows” (“IAS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to introduce additional disclosure
that will allow users to understand changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. This amendment
to IAS 7 is effective for annual periods beginning or after January 1, 2017. Enercare has assessed the impact
of adopting this amendment on the consolidated financial statements, and notes that additional disclosure
of the movements in net debt between changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes may be
required.
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Revenue Recognition
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”), provides a comprehensive five-step
revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers. The IFRS 15 revenue recognition model requires
management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates that affect revenue recognition. IFRS 15
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted.
Enercare has begun to assess the terms and conditions of its inventory of revenue contracts with customers,
and continues to evaluate the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.
Quantification of the impact is expected in 2017.
Financial Instruments
The final version of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and will
replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 introduces a model for
classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment model and a
substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. The new single, principle-based approach for
determining the classification of financial assets is driven by cash flow characteristics and the business
model in which an asset is held. The new model also results in a single impairment model being applied to
all financial instruments, which will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. It also includes
changes in respect of own credit risk in measuring liabilities elected to be measured at fair value, so that
gains caused by the deterioration of an entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities are no longer recognized
in profit or loss. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, however is
available for early adoption. In addition, the own credit changes can be early adopted in isolation without
otherwise changing the accounting for financial instruments. Enercare is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements. Quantification of the impact is expected
in 2017.
Financial Instruments Disclosures
IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to require additional
disclosures on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The amendment to IFRS 7 is effective for periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2018. Enercare is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the
consolidated financial statements.
Leases
IFRS 16, “Leases” (“IFRS 16”), sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of
leases. IFRS 16 provides revised guidance on identifying a lease and for separating lease and non-lease
components of a contract. IFRS 16 introduces a single accounting model for all lessees and requires a lessee
to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of more than twelve months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. Under IFRS 16, lessor accounting for operating and finance leases will
remain substantially unchanged. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2019, with earlier application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. Enercare is currently evaluating the
impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2016

As at December 31,

5.

2015

Cash at bank

$

38,415

$

28,413

Ending balance

$

38,415

$

28,413

ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2016

As at December 31,

Billed accounts receivable

$

Unbilled accounts receivable

$

58,699

Current taxes receivable

47,221
56,977

2,342

Bad and doubtful debt provision
Accounts and other receivables (net of provision)

89,902

2015

5,621

(11,806)

(11,405)

$ 139,137

$

98,414

$

$

8,711

Bad and doubtful debt provision:
Opening balance
Charge for the year
Provision ending balance

11,405
401

$

11,806

2,694
$

11,405

Unbilled accounts receivable of $28,179 (2015 – $28,656), primarily relate to protection plans sold in
franchisee service areas which are recognized as royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of
twelve months. The remaining unbilled accounts receivable reflect the unbilled service periods for residential
water heaters and other products.
6.

FINANCING RECEIVABLES

Financing receivables consist of loans to customers resulting from HVAC sales, which can be financed up to 180
months. Outstanding balances can be repaid at any time without penalty. At the end of the term, customers
have the option of renewing on a month by month basis. The following table summarizes the activity related to
the financing receivables for the periods ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:
2016

As at December 31,

Balance as at January 1

$

Financing receivables added in the period

$

3,172

Prepayments
Balance, end of period

-

2015

-

(296)
$

2,876

-

$

-
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7.

INVENTORY
2016

As at December 31,

Inventory

$

Less: inventory obsolescence

2015

17,032

$

(1,001)

Inventory (net of provision)

$

8,633
(781)

16,031

$

781

$

7,852

Inventory obsolescence provision:
Opening balance

$

Charge for the year

220

Provision ending balance

$

79
702

1,001

$

781

During the year ended December 31, 2016, $128,372 (2015 – $20,207) of inventory was recognized as part
of cost of goods sold and services provided in the consolidated statement of income.
8.

CAPITAL ASSETS
Rental
Equipment

Metering
Equipment

Land and
Buildings Improvements

Vehicles

Other

Total

13,799

$ 939,165

At December 31, 2014:
Cost

$ 849,474

Accumulated depreciation

$

(413,392)

68,650

$

(20,640)

7,242

$

(119)

Net book value

$ 436,082

$

48,010

$

7,123

$

Additions

$

$

10,203

$

1,930

$

Loss on disposal before proceeds
Acquisition – Cobourg portfolio
Acquisition – Triacta
Depreciation for the year
At December 31, 2015

96,505
(13,221)

(2,378)

-

$

-

(146)

-

$

-

-

$

-

$

(5,514)
$

8,285

$ 499,500

-

$

8,285

$ 116,923

-

-

-

372

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

38

-

-

(47,368)

(5,509)

$ 472,370

$

$ 905,742

$

(2,212)

50,326

$

74,970

$

(439,665)

-

(3,408)

(15,745)
372
38
(58,497)

6,695

$

-

$

-

$

13,200

$ 542,591

9,226

$

-

$

-

$

22,162

$1,012,100

At December 31, 2015:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

(433,372)

(24,644)

(2,531)

-

-

(8,962)

(469,509)

Net book value

$ 472,370

$

50,326

$

6,695

$

-

$

-

$

13,200

$ 542,591

Additions

$ 118,671

$

18,902

$

7,943

$

4,295

$

6,100

$

12,482

$ 168,393

Loss on disposal before proceeds
Acquisition – Service Experts (note 32)
Foreign exchange
Depreciation for the year
At December 31, 2016

(14,876)

(43)

(819)

-

-

-

-

-

23,254

3,234

2,544

3,704

(1)

-

654

125

101

187

(50,818)

(5,989)

$ 525,346

$

$ 979,804

$

(7,386)

(165)

-

(6,557)

63,196

$

30,341

$

7,489

$

8,745

$

93,646

$

39,636

$

7,658

$

8,745

$

(15,738)
32,736
1,066
(70,915)

23,016

$ 658,133

38,529

$1,168,018

At December 31, 2016:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value
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(454,458)
$ 525,346

(30,450)
$

63,196

(9,295)
$

30,341

(169)
$

7,489

$

8,745

(15,513)
$

23,016

(509,885)
$ 658,133

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the non-cash portion of additions consisted of rental equipment of
$332 (2015 – $nil) and metering equipment of $6,164 (2015 – $nil). Included within the additions is $7,943
(2015 – $1,930) related to the purchases of vehicles under finance lease, which has also increased the
respective obligations under finance leases by $7,943 (2015 – $1,932). Repayment of obligations under finance
leases of $6,129 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 has been included within the statements of
cash flows. Additions related to building, land and improvements primarily include Enercare’s corporate
headquarters purchased during 2016
During the fourth quarter of 2015, a sub-metering customer exercised its buy-out option on metering equipment.
This resulted in a gain on disposal of equipment of $2,484.
9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Customer
Relationships

Customer
Contracts

Brands

Proprietary
Technology

Total

At December 31, 2014:
Cost

$ 1,146,141

Accumulated depreciation

$

(557,047)

33,270

$

(32,169)

-

$

-

-

$ 1,179,411

-

(589,216)

Net book value

$ 589,094

$

1,101

$

-

$

-

$ 590,195

Acquisition – Cobourg portfolio

$

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

Acquisition – Triacta
Amortization for the year
At December 31, 2015

387
-

-

(66,652)

-

(93)

$ 522,829

$

$ 1,146,528

$

3,800

-

1,008

$

33,270

$

(174)

387
3,800
(66,919)

-

$

3,626

$ 527,463

-

$

3,800

$ 1,183,598

At December 31, 2015:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

(623,699)

(32,262)

-

(174)

(656,135)

Net book value

$ 522,829

$

1,008

$

-

$

3,626

$ 527,463

Acquisition – Service Experts (note 32)

$ 161,450

$

-

$

73,621

$

2,786

$ 237,857

Additions
Foreign exchange
Amortization for the year
At December 31, 2016

-

-

73

-

73

5,521

-

2,555

83

8,159

(73,937)

(92)

-

(380)

(74,409)

$ 615,863

$

916

$

76,249

$

6,115

$ 699,143

$ 1,313,650

$

33,270

$

76,249

$

6,669

$ 1,429,838

$

76,249

$

6,115

At December 31, 2016:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

(697,787)
$ 615,863

(32,354)
$

916

-

(554)

(730,695)
$ 699,143
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11. GOODWILL

The following table provides details by reporting segment regarding the changes in the carrying amounts of
goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
Enercare
Home
Services
Opening balance January 1, 2015

$ 142,535

Acquisition – Cobourg portfolio
Acquisition – Triacta

Submetering
$

2,962

$

Service
Experts

Total

-

$ 145,497

131

-

-

131

-

1,936

-

1,936

At December 31, 2015

$ 142,666

$

4,898

-

$ 147,564

Acquisition – Service Experts (Note 32)

$

$

-

$ 221,259

$ 221,259

-

7,794

7,794

4,898

$ 229,053

$ 376,617

Foreign exchange
At December 31, 2016

-

$ 142,666

$

As described in note 3, Significant Accounting Policies, goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, or at any
time if an indicator of impairment exists.
For the annual impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets, recoverable amounts are
determined based on fair value less cost of disposal using discounted cash flows. The cash flow projections
relating to the goodwill for the Sub-metering, Enercare Home Services and Service Experts segments were
established based on various assumptions. The following table summarizes the critical assumptions that were
used in estimating fair value for the various entities:
Assumptions
Estimated average revenue growth rate
Terminal growth factor
Post tax discount rate

Range
3.7% to 13.3%
3.0%
8.1% to 13.5%

Management has concluded that no impairment charge was required for the year ended December 31, 2016.
11. COLLATERAL DEPOSITS AND INSURANCE CLAIMS PROVISIONS

Enercare’s Service Experts business uses a third-party insurance company to provide coverage for workers
compensation, automotive and general liability claims. Certain amounts paid to this insurance company are
utilized to settle claim amounts above Enercare’s insurance deductible limit, if and when these arise. The balance
of the payments to this insurance company are to a general collateral deposit account which has been classified
as a current asset and is used to fund claim payments related to insurance claim provision. The insurance claims
provision is a current liability estimating the amounts required to settle outstanding claims related to insured
events below Enercare’s insurance deductible limit. There is no legal right to offset the collateral amount with
the claims provision.
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2016

As at December 31,

2015

Collateral Deposits
Opening balance January 1, 2016

$

-

$

-

Acquisition – Service Experts (note 32)

9,122

Additional deposits during the period

3,391

-

(3,040)

-

Claims spending during the period
Foreign exchange
Ending balance

-

369
$

-

9,842

$

-

-

$

-

Insurance Claim Provisions
Opening balance January 1, 2016

$

Acquisition – Service Experts (note 32)
Additional provisions charged to the consolidated statement of income
Claims spending during the period

-

2,483

-

(3,040)

Foreign exchange
Ending balance

8,234

-

313
$

7,990

$

-

12. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
2016

As at December 31,

Accounts payable

$

41,177

2015
$

13,887

Accruals

56,209

27,381

Compensation payable

31,391

9,800

Accrued commodity

10,534

9,812

Current taxes payable

34,370

173

Other payables

6,822

5,483

Ending balance

$ 180,503

$

66,536
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13. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

Obligations under vehicle finance leases are secured by the leased vehicles. Enercare has master lease
agreements with various lessors, where the lessors will acquire vehicles and lease them to Enercare.
The obligations under finance leases in the Enercare Home Services segment bear floating interest rates that
are either 2.5% above the one month banker’s acceptance rate per annum or equal to the yield of interest rate
swaps as quoted in the Federal Reserve system per annum. The obligations under vehicle finance leases in the
Service Experts segment during the period bear fixed interest rates of 1.05% to 2.44%,at floating interest rates
that are 2.5% above the three month banker’s acceptance rate or 0.35% above the one month LIBOR rate per
annum. The finance leases mature at dates ranging between January 2017 and August 2022. During the year
ended December 31, 2016, Enercare recognized $526 (2015 – $248) of interest expense related to the
obligations under finance leases.
2016

As at December 31,

Obligations under finance leases

$

Less: current portion

25,624

2015
$

(11,216)
$

14,408

6,695
(2,061)

$

4,634

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows:

Principal

As at December 31,

Due in 2017

$

7,304

Lease
Payments

Interest
$

570

$

7,874

Due in 2018

6,702

386

7,088

Due in 2019

5,841

223

6,064

Due in 2020

4,223

92

4,315

Due in 2021

1,391

20

1,411

163

4

Thereafter
$
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25,624

$

1,295

167
$

26,919

14. DEBT

Bank indebtedness, current and long term debts:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Current portion of long term debt:
Opening balance January 1

$

Repayment of debt
Current portion of senior debt

$

1,258
(1,257)

250,000

Current portion of Stratacon debt
Total current portion of long term debt

992
(992)

-

615

991

$ 250,615

$

992

$ 475,000

$ 475,000

210,000

210,000

Non-current portion of long term debt:
Senior debt principal amount
2014 Term Loan
Revolving credit facility
Stratacon debt principal amount
Unamortized financing costs and interest accretion
Opening balance January 1
Current portion of Stratacon debt
Current portion of senior debt
Draw from revolving credit facility

50,000

-

822

1,813

(2,282)
$ 733,540

$ 683,691

$

$

(615)
15,000

Repayment of revolving credit facility

(50,000)
258,320

Amortization of financing costs
Foreign exchange
Total non-current portion
Senior debt principal amount
Term Loans
Revolving credit facility
Stratacon debt principal amount
Unamortized financing costs and interest accretion
Total non-current portion of long term debt

(991)

(250,000)

Draw from 2016 Term Loan
Deferred financing costs on 2016 Term Loan

(3,122)

(1,009)
1,025

50,000
840

10,220

-

$ 716,481

$ 733,540

$ 225,000

$ 475,000

478,540

210,000

15,000

50,000

207
(2,266)
$ 716,481

822
(2,282)
$ 733,540

On October 20, 2014, Enercare Solutions entered into a $100,000, five-year revolving, non-amortizing variable
rate credit facility (the “2014 Revolver”), which has a standby fee of 0.25%. At December 31, 2016, a total of
$15,000 was drawn bearing interest at a variable rate based upon the banker’s acceptance rate plus 1.25%, which
was 2.95% at December 31, 2016. During the fourth quarter, Enercare Solutions increased the 2014 Revolver
limit to $200,000, maintaining the same terms. As of March 6, 2017, $30,000 was drawn on the 2014 Revolver.
The senior debt consists of the $250,000 4.30% 2012-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (the “2012 Notes”) maturing
on November 30, 2017 and the $225,000 4.60% 2013-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (the “2013 Notes”) maturing
on February 3, 2020, with semi-annual interest payments due on May 30 and November 30 and February 3
and August 3 in each year, respectively.
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The 2014 Term Loan consists of a $210,000 non-revolving, non-amortizing variable rate term loan (the “2014
Term Loan”), maturing on October 20, 2018, which bears interest at a variable rate based upon the banker’s
acceptance rate plus 1.25%, which was 2.14% at December 31, 2016.
Debt was assumed in connection with the Stratacon acquisition in 2008. The secured debt of $822 as at
December 31, 2016 was arranged in a series of advances bearing interest at rates between 7.50% and 8.75%
with repayment terms ranging from 4 to 14 years ending in 2022.
In conjunction with the SE Transaction, on May 11, 2016, Enercare Solutions entered into a USD $200,000 4year variable rate term credit facility, (the “2016 Term Loan”) maturing on May 11, 2020, which bears interest
at LIBOR plus 125 basis points, or base rate plus 25 basis points at Enercare Solutions’ credit rating as of the
date hereof which was 2.20% at December 31, 2016.
Deferred financing costs during the period of $1,009 are in relation to the 2016 Term Loan entered into in
conjunction with the SE Transaction.
On February 21, 2017, Enercare Solutions completed its offering of $500,000 aggregate principal amount of
Senior Unsecured Notes (see Note 33). The proceeds of the offering were used to redeem the 2014 Term Loan
on February 23, 2017 and will be used to redeem the 2012 Notes in 2017 with the balance to be used to repay
a portion of the 2014 Revolver.
The 2016 Term Loan covenants have substantially the same terms as the 2014 Term Loan. Enercare Solutions
entered into an amendment to the 2014 Term Loan to give effect to the SE Transaction and 2016 Term Loan
which included (i) modifying the definition of Adjusted EBITDA to exclude SE Transaction and integration costs
up to $10,300 in the aggregate, (ii) adding Service Experts and its subsidiaries as guarantors, (iii) increasing
certain of the “basket” sizes permitted under certain covenants and events of default (to take into account the
increase of assets under management due to the SE Transaction) and (iv) the enhancement of certain financial
covenants as described below.
Enercare was in compliance with all covenants under the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, Stratacon Debt, 2014
Revolver, 2014 Term Loan and 2016 Term Loan as at December 31, 2016.
Convertible Debentures:
On June 8, 2010 and July 6, 2010, Enercare issued a total of $27,883 of 6.25% convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures, $24,774 net of issue costs, with interest payable semi-annually on June 30 and
December 31, commencing December 31, 2010, until maturity in June 2017. Each convertible debenture is
convertible into shares of Enercare at the option of the holder at a conversion price of $6.48 per share (or
154.3210 shares per $1,000 principal amount of convertible debentures). On or after September 30, 2015,
Enercare may redeem with proper notice the convertible debentures for the principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest.
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The following table summarizes the movement of the convertible debentures:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Convertible Debentures:
Opening principal

$

2,728

Opening balance at January 1:

$

2,680

Principal conversions

$

Financing costs

$

3,257

$

3,162

(48)

Transfer of financing costs to equity upon conversion

(696)

(95)
$

8

Amortization of financing costs to expense

(529)
14

27

33

Ending balance

$

2,019

$

2,680

Principal balance

$

2,032

$

2,728

Financing costs
Ending balance

(13)
$

2,019

(48)
$

2,680

From January 1, 2017 to March 6, 2017, approximately $86 principal amount of additional convertible
debentures were converted to shares.
Interest Expense:
2016

(000s)

Interest expense payable in cash

$

Interest payable on subscription receipts
Equity bridge financing fees

30,294

2015
$

26,105

2,217

-

198

-

840

1,096

1,052

874

Non-cash items:
Notional interest on employee benefit plans
Amortization of financing costs
Interest expense

$

34,601

$

28,075

Interest expense payable in cash is primarily associated with debt and convertible debenture activity in 2016
and 2015. Notional interest relates to employee benefits plans acquired and amortization of financing costs
includes previously unamortized costs associated with debt.
As part of the SE Transaction, SE Subscription Receipts were issued and were subsequently exchanged for
shares in conjunction with the closing of the SE Transaction (see note 32). Equity bridge financing fees of $198
were incurred as part of the SE Transaction.
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15. PROTECTION PLAN CONTRACTS

Full service protection plans are fixed-fee service contracts for residential air conditioners and furnaces. The
contracts protect the customer against the risk of breakdowns, resulting in the transfer of an element of risk to
Enercare. Benefits provided to the customer vary in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract
entered into; however, they generally include maintenance, repair and/or replacement of items affected. A provision
for anticipated claims is not recognized due to the short elapsed time between an incident and settlement.
The levels of risk exposure and service provision to customers are dependent on the occurrence of uncertain
future events, in particular the nature and frequency of faults and the cost of repair or replacement of the items
affected. Accordingly, the timing and amount of future cash outflows associated with the contracts is uncertain.
The key terms and conditions that affect future cash flows are as follows:
The provision of parts and labour for repairs, dependent on the agreement and associated level of service;
and
There is no limit to the number of call-outs to carry out repair work and limits on certain servicing and
repair costs.
When the estimated future costs of protection plan contracts exceed the associated revenue to be recognized,
a loss is recognized in net earnings immediately. The future costs of the protection plan contracts are dependent
on the number and nature of service requests for the associated equipment. Management estimates the future
costs of protection plan contracts based on its historical experience of service requests for similar equipment
and manages risk by monitoring the cost of service requests, product reliability and limiting a majority of the
contract terms to one year.
Amounts recognized relating to revenues related to protection plans and maintenance contracts are as follows:
2016
Revenue

$ 105,132

2015
$

77,940

Total deferred revenue and service obligations recognized on the consolidated financial statements include the
following:
2016

As at December 31,

Deferred revenue

$

Service obligations
Deferred revenue and service obligations
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32,063

2015
$

8,193

$

8,193

9,346
$

41,409

-

The movement relating to the service obligation as a result of the SE Transaction is as follows:
2016

December 31,

Opening balance January 1, 2016

$

Additions to obligations through acquisition of Service Experts
Released during the period

(16,549)

Foreign exchange
Service obligation

25,393
502

$

9,346

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

In connection with the DE Acquisition, DE established a mirror pension plan (“RPP”) to their current registered
pension plan (“DE Plan”). The RPP has both defined benefit and defined contribution components. The defined
benefits provide for partially indexed pensions based on years of service and the final 5 years’ average earnings
for contributory service and final 3 years’ average earning for non-contributory service.
Regulatory approval was received in December of 2015 and the pension assets and liabilities of DE employees
who transferred to Enercare at the closing of the DE Acquisition (“Transferred Employees”) were transferred
from the DE Plan to the RPP on January 28, 2016 at which time Enercare assumed sponsorship and
administration of the RPP.
Prior to this transfer, in accordance with the asset purchase agreement relating to the DE Acquisition, DE funded
the solvency deficit relating to these employees and remained responsible for the sponsorship and
administration of the pension plan, including exposure to the return on any plan assets. The RPP was fully
funded, on a solvency basis, prior to being transferred to Enercare.
Accordingly, Enercare had recognized a receivable, identified as a “Reimbursement Right – Pension” in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015 in the amount of $11,107.
On January 28, 2016, the Reimbursement Right – Pension was settled through a $11,107 transfer received
from DE representing $84,360 of pension liabilities (solvency basis), net of $73,453 of pension assets and
$200 of wind up expenses.
Enercare was only responsible for current service cost contributions relating to Transferred Employees until
Enercare assumed sponsorship and administration of the RPP. The defined benefit component of the RPP is
closed to new members.
Enercare also provides other post-employment benefits other than pensions to qualifying employees (“OPEB”),
these include medical, dental and insurance benefits. The OPEB is closed to new members.
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The cost of employee benefit plans is recognized as the Transferred Employees provide service to Enercare and
the obligation for these plans were measured individually at December 31, 2016 and 2015, as the present value
of the benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets. The cost of the defined benefit plan is actuarially
determined using the projected unit credit method and the use of best estimates of compensation level increase,
retirement ages of workers, mortality rates, health costs and other factors. Remeasurements, which include
actuarial gains and losses, are recognized in other comprehensive income, with the exception of any changes to
the reimbursement amount prior to the transfer of the plan, as described above.
Regulatory Framework
The RPP is a registered pension plan under the Ontario Pension Benefits Act (“PBA”), which requires certain
minimum benefit standards and funding levels. Minimum funding requirements under the PBA are determined
based on actuarial valuations on both a going concern and solvency basis that are required at a minimum of
every three years. The last actuarial valuation for funding purposes was as at August 1, 2014 and the next
valuation will be prepared prior to August 1, 2017. Deficits under the going concern basis may be funded over
a period up to 15 years, beginning one year from the valuation date. In addition, solvency valuations must be
performed which simulate a plan wind-up. Deficiencies established on a solvency basis may be funded over a
period of up to five years, beginning one year from the valuation date (post-retirement cost of living adjustments
are not required to be included in the solvency liabilities).
The OPEB is not funded in advance.
Funding of the RPP
Enercare’s practice is to contribute to the RPP the minimum required under the PBA, but additional contributions
may be made at Enercare’s discretion. The employees do not make contributions to the RPP.
Governance of Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Enercare assumed the sponsorship and administration of the RPP on January 28, 2016 from DE. Enercare now
oversees the administration of the pension plans in accordance with applicable legislation and approved the
governance structure, including the mandates of those to whom administrative duties and responsibilities were
delegated.
Risks
Given that employees do not make contributions to the employee benefit plans, Enercare generally bears the
risks associated with the defined benefit plans. Sources of risks for Enercare’s defined benefit plans as at
December 31, 2016 include:
Investment Risk
The pension plans invest their assets in a variety of asset classes including Canadian equity, US equity,
international equity, emerging markets, universe and long term fixed income, and real estate. All of these asset
classes contain investment risk. Fixed income investments are generally a better match to the liability profile of
a pension plan, but other asset classes are generally expected to earn a higher return over a long time horizon.
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As the RPP plan is a funded plan and is invested in a variety of asset classes, market return is a significant source
of risk to the pension plan. Asset return impacts both the progression of the balance sheet liability over time
and the contributions that are required to keep the plan funded over the long term.
Corporate Bond Yields
The discount rate used when reporting the liability for balance sheet purposes is determined in reference to
corporate bond yields. When yields decrease the liabilities in the plans rise, and conversely when yields increase
the liabilities in the plans decrease. While some of the assets for the funded plan are invested in corporate bonds,
this represents a small portion of the overall liabilities in the plans. This mismatch means that the overall deficit
position is subject to the movements in corporate bond yields. This risk is a significant source of variation in the
employee benefit plans liability from year to year.
Government Bond Yields
The discount rate used when determining the RPP’s solvency position for funding purposes is determined in
reference to government bond yields. When yields decrease the liabilities in the plan rise, and conversely when
yields increase the liabilities in the plan decrease. While some of the assets are invested in government bonds,
the weighting is less than the overall liabilities in the plan. This mismatch means that the funded status of the
plan for cash contribution purposes is subject to movements in government bond yields. Government bond
yields represent a significant risk associated with the cash funding requirements of the RPP.
Longevity
The benefits payable to members are generally provided for the life of the member as well as the member’s
spouse. The life expectancy of members is a significant assumption used in the determination of the plans’
liabilities, and increases in life expectancy, or the survival experience of members being higher than expected,
will lead to increases in the plans’ liability. This risk is particularly significant because the cost of benefits in all
plans is linked to inflation, further increasing the cost of benefits if members live longer than expected.
Inflation
The benefits payable to members in the RPP are increased by a proportion of the increase of the Consumer
Price Index each year. In addition, active member’s benefits are linked to final average earnings, and earnings
increases are typically seen to increase in high inflationary environments. The benefits payable to members in
the post-retirement benefits plan generally increase with increases in medical costs. All of these assumptions
are linked to inflation. An increase in the inflation assumption, or a period of high inflation, will generally increase
the liabilities. Given the strong link the benefits have to inflation this is a significant source of risk. The medical
trend rate, while linked with inflation, has traditionally been higher than inflation and represents an additional,
and significant, source of inflation risk for the post-retirement benefits plan.

111
Enercare Annual Report 2016

Risk Controls
Enercare manages the risks through plan design reviews, as appropriate, and regular valuations of the plan.
Investment risks are managed through external quarterly monitoring. Pension plan risks are controlled through
the governance process in place with the Compensation Committee.
The total cost of the employee benefit plans recognized in selling, general and administrative, interest income
and interest expense are as follows:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Pension
Current service cost

$

Interest (income)/expense

3,687

$

3,328

(168)

Administrative expenses

324

83

-

$

3,602

$

3,652

$

836

$

928

$

1,676

$

1,701

OPEB
Current service cost
Net interest cost

840

773

Remeasurements of the employee benefit plans recognized in other comprehensive income are as follows:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Pension
Actuarial gain/(loss)

$

4,291

$

(362)

$

843

$

481

OPEB
Actuarial gain/(loss)

$
$
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(650)
3,641

Employee Benefit Plan Assets and Liability
The liability for the employee benefit plans is comprised of the following:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Pension
Present value of defined benefit obligations

$ (90,701)

Fair value of plan assets

$ (87,690)

96,947
$

6,246

79,586
$

(8,104)

OPEB
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations

$ (22,028)

$ (19,744)

$ (15,782)

$ (27,848)

Defined Benefit Obligations
The movements in the total present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Pension
Obligation, beginning of year

$

Transfers of employees after acquisition date

87,690

$

74,928

172

4,764

Current service cost

3,687

3,328

Interest expense on the defined benefit obligations

3,490

3,072

(Gains)/losses arising from demographic and other experiences

-

(Gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions
Benefits paid
Obligation, end of year

306

(2,912)

1,378

(1,426)

(86)

$

90,701

$

87,690

$

19,744

$

18,886

OPEB
Obligation, beginning of year
Current service cost

836

928

Interest expense

840

773

Actuarial loss (gain)

650

(843)

Benefits paid

(42)

Obligation, end of year

$

22,028

$

19,744
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Fair Value of the Plan Assets
The movement in the total fair value of plan assets is as follows:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Pension
Fair value, beginning of year

$

Transfers of employees after acquisition date
Interest income
Actuarial gains
Reimbursement right contributions

79,586

$

68,254

172

4,764

3,658

2,748

1,379

1,322

11,107

-

Contributions

2,554

2,584

Benefits paid

(1,426)

Administrative expenses
Fair value, end of year

(86)

(83)
$

96,947

$

79,586

Reimbursement Right – Pension
The movement in the total fair value of the Reimbursement Right – Pension is as follows:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Pension
Balance, beginning of year

$

Settlement
Balance, end of year

11,107

$

11,107

$

11,107

(11,107)
$

-

-

Plan assets are comprised of the following:
2016

2015

Plan assets by major category
Canadian large cap equities

10.0%

9.9%

Canadian small cap equities

3.5%

3.6%

US equities

16.8%

17.8%

International equities

11.0%

11.4%

Emerging markets

3.5%

3.5%

Canadian universe bonds

0.0%

21.9%

Canadian long bonds

45.2%

22.0%

Real estate pooled funds

10.0%

9.9%

Cash and short term
Total
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0.0%

0.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Actuarial Assumptions
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the determination of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation are as follows:
As at December 31,

2016

2015

Pensions
Discount rate (RPP)
Salary growth rate – Union
Salary growth rate – Non-Union

4.14%

4.00%

From 2015

3.00%

3.00%

Until 2015

3.75%

3.75%

From 2016

4.25%

4.25%

Inflation

2.00%

2.00%

Increase in maximum pension limit

3.00%

3.00%

CPM Private using
projection scale CPM-B

CPM Private using
projection scale CPM-B

Mortality table
Male life expectancy, age 60

26.1 years

26.0 years

Male life expectancy, age 65

21.6 years

21.6 years

Female life expectancy, age 60

28.8 years

28.7 years

Female life expectancy, age 65

24.1 years

24.0 years

4.12%

4.27%

Final CPM 2014
Private Mortality
Table with
scale CPM-B

Final CPM 2014
Private Mortality
Table with
scale CPM-B

OPEB
Weighted average assumptions to determine
defined benefit obligations:
Discount rate
Mortality table

Immediate health care cost trend rate

5.65%

5.75%

Ultimate health care cost trend rate

4.00%

4.00%

2029

2029

Year reached ultimate health care cost trend rate
Weighted average assumptions to determine
defined benefit costs:
Discount rate

4.27%

4.10%

Final CPM 2014 Private
Mortality Table with scale
CPM-B

Final CPM 2014 Private
Mortality Table with scale
CPM-B

Immediate health care cost trend rate

5.75%

5.86%

Ultimate health care cost trend rate

4.00%

4.00%

2029

2029

Mortality table

Year reached ultimate health care cost trend rate
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Sensitivity Analysis
Increase in Liability
December 31, 2016
Pensions
100 basis point decrease in the discount rate

$

20,045

100 basis point increase in the long term salary rate

7,256

Impact on the cost of living adjustments of a 100 basis point increase in inflation

5,896

90% of mortality rates

1,541

100% basis point increase in the prior year pensionable earnings

900

OPEB
100 basis point decrease in the discount rate

$

Impact of a 1 year increase in life expectancy

5,652
730

100 basis point increase in health care cost trend rates

5,205

Maturity Analysis
The approximate duration of the pension plans is 22.1 years while the approximate duration of the other longterm benefits plan is 22.6 years. The undiscounted liabilities of the plan can be broken into the following
durations:
Less than
1 year

As at December 31, 2016
Pension

$

OPEB
Total
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895

1 to 2 years

2 to 5 years

$

$

140
$

1,035

1,173
213

$

1,386

$

More than
5 years

Total

5,579

$ 198,959

$ 206,606

1,147

59,537

61,037

6,726

$ 258,496

$ 267,643

17. INCOME TAXES

The reconciliation of income taxes computed at the statutory tax rates to income tax expense/(recovery) is
as follows:
2016

For the year ended December 31,

Tax expense at statutory rate of 26.50%

$

22,755

2015
$

18,240

Tax effects of:
(Non-taxable)/non-deductible expenses

(159)

Tax rate differentials

2,254

Book to return differences

(827)

(127)
$

Current tax expense

24,737

(39)
$

54,381

Deferred income tax (recovery) / expense
Total tax expense

-

14

Other
Total

500

10,197

(29,644)
$

24,737

17,874
7,677

$

17,874

Enercare operates in multiple jurisdictions with differing tax rates. Enercare’s effective tax rates are dependent
on the jurisdiction to which income relates.
Deferred income tax asset and liability
The deferred income tax asset and liability on Enercare’s consolidated statement of financial position reflect
the estimated tax on temporary and other differences. The movements of the deferred income tax accounts are
as follows:
As at December 31,

As at January 1:
Step up of deferred income tax on the SE Transaction (note 32)

2016
$(120,273)
(2,068)

2015
$ (113,423)
-

Deferred tax asset tax on Triacta acquisition

-

981

Deferred tax liability on Cobourg Network Inc. acquisition

-

(27)

Deferred tax related to share issuance costs
Deferred tax on remeasurements of defined benefit plan and other
items booked to OCI
Other foreign exchange
Deferred income tax (expense) / recovery
Total

2,854
(840)
57
29,644
$ (90,626)

(127)
(7,677)
$ (120,273)

Enercare’s management expects that the deferred tax assets will be recoverable based on the expected growth
and profitability of the Enercare Home Services, Service Experts and Sub-metering businesses.
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The balance of the deferred income tax asset and liability classified by temporary differences is as follow:
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Deferred tax asset
Loss carry-forwards

$

Research and development
Allowances and provisions

1,717

$

4,353

876

739

15,134

6,858

Financing fees

3,904

2,397

Employee future benefit obligations

4,182

4,437

25,813

18,784

(115,597)

(112,626)

(678)

(26,248)

Deferred tax liability
Equipment and intangible assets
Temporary difference – subsidiary tax year end
Other
Total

(164)

(183)

(116,439)

(139,057)

$ (90,626)

$ (120,273)

Classification
2016

As at December 31,

Deferred tax asset

$

Deferred tax liability
Total

11,120

2015
$

7,652

(101,746)

(127,925)

$ (90,626)

$ (120,273)

Tax loss carry-forward expiry schedule
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Expire in 2023

-

-

Expire in 2024

-

-

Expire in 2025

-

-

Expire in 2026

-

-

Thereafter
Total loss carry-forwards

6,480
$

6,480

16,361
$

16,361

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been recognized for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be
payable on unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries, as such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted
earnings totaled $10,448 at December 31, 2016.
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18. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES
2016

As at December 31,

2015

Shares Issued and Outstanding

Shares

Dollars

Shares

Dollars

Opening balance at January 1:

87,949

$ 914,074

91,880

$ 956,281

15,835

233,564

-

Shares issued upon exercise of share options

148

1,501

388

Shares issued under dividend
reinvestment plan

Issued:
New share issuance – (note 32)

116

2,078

Shares repurchased and cancelled

-

-

Principal conversion of debentures

107

696

(4,400)
81

(30)
3,057
(45,763)
529

Transfer of financing costs to equity

-

(8)

-

Transfer from contributed surplus

-

8

-

14

104,155

$1,151,913

87,949

$ 914,074

Totals(1)

(14)

(1) Excludes the impact of treasury shares.

Enercare’s articles of incorporation provide for the issuance of an unlimited number of shares and 10,000,000
preferred shares. At December 31, 2016, there were no preferred shares outstanding. Each series of preferred
shares will have such rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions as may be determined by the board of
directors prior to the issuance thereof. Holders of preferred shares, except as required by law, will not be entitled
to vote at meetings of shareholders of Enercare. With respect to the payment of dividends and distribution of
assets in the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Enercare, whether voluntary or involuntary, the
preferred shares are entitled to preference over the shares and any other shares ranking junior to the preferred
shares.
In conjunction with the SE Transaction, Enercare completed an offering of 15,834,600 SE Subscription Receipts
at a price of $15.25 per SE Subscription Receipt (including 1,429,600 SE Subscription Receipts sold as a result
of the exercise in full of the over-allotment option by the underwriters and 109,000 SE Subscription Receipts
sold in a concurrent private placement to certain U.S. persons, including the Chief Executive Officer and certain
other officers of Service Experts). In accordance with the terms of the agreement pursuant to which the SE
Subscription Receipts were issued, upon closing of the SE Transaction on May 11, 2016, each outstanding SE
Subscription Receipt was exchanged for one share, resulting in the issuance of 15,834,600 shares and a cash
payment equal to $0.14 per SE Subscription Receipt. The cash payment was equal to the aggregate amount of
dividends per share for which record dates occurred since the issuance of the SE Subscription Receipts, less
any withholding taxes, if any. The shares issued in exchange for the SE Subscription Receipts issued in the
concurrent private placement are subject to a contractual hold period of six months from closing of the offering.
Transaction costs associated with the issuance of SE Subscription Receipts of $7,914 or $10,768 net of deferred
tax of $2,854 relate to commissions, legal and underwriter fees incurred and have been netted against proceeds.
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On July 16, 2015, Enercare announced that it had filed with the TSX a Notice of Intention to make a normal
course issuer bid (“NCIB”), as approved by Enercare’s board of directors, pursuant to which Enercare may
purchase for cancellation up to 9,161,779 of its shares, representing approximately 10% of its public float of
issued and outstanding shares as of July 3, 2015. On July 15, 2016, Enercare renewed its NCIB. The purchases
commenced on July 20, 2016, and the NCIB will terminate on July 19, 2017. No shares have been repurchased
at this time under the renewed NCIB. The purchases made by Enercare are implemented through the facilities
of the TSX or other Canadian marketplaces and are in accordance with applicable rules at market prices
prevailing at the time of purchase. The actual amount of shares that may be purchased under the NCIB is subject
to, and cannot exceed, limits referred to above and the timing of such purchases will be determined by Enercare.
All shares purchased under the normal course issuer bid will be cancelled. In addition to purchases under the
NCIB, Enercare may from time to time make other purchases of its shares in accordance with applicable
securities laws and rules of the applicable stock exchange.
On November 20, 2015, Enercare purchased for cancellation 3,846,154 shares under its NCIB at a price of
$15.61 per share for an aggregate price of approximately $60,000. The shares were purchased from DE by way
of a block trade and were cancelled. The shares were originally issued to DE as partial consideration for the DE
Acquisition.
During 2015, including the above, Enercare purchased for cancellation a total of 4,400,154 shares under its
NCIB at an average price $15.36.
In November 2016, Enercare adopted the DRIP, which allows all Canadian shareholders to elect to have some
or all cash dividends reinvested in additional shares on a monthly basis. Participation in the plan is optional.
Under the terms and conditions of the plan, participants acquire shares through the reinvestment of cash
dividends paid on the shares they hold or through optional cash payments. Shares subscribed by participants
are purchased as treasury shares through Enercare’s transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company of Canada,
at a price equal to 95% of the weighted average purchase price of the shares during the five business days
immediately following the dividend payment date. For the year ended December 31, 2016, 116,001 shares
were issued pursuant to the DRIP for $2,078.
As at December 31, 2016, there were 105,103 shares (2015 – 55,909) that were purchased and held as
treasury shares. These shares relate to the employer portion of the employee share purchase plan. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, 53,164 (2015 – 56,330) shares were purchased for $970 (2015 – $815). During
the year, 3,970 shares were cancelled.
19. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the period. Dilutive computations are based upon: (i) an if converted approach where interest
expense attributable to the convertible debentures on an after tax basis is added back to net earnings as part
of the numerator and the impact of additional shares as a result of the conversion feature of 154.3210 shares
per $1,000 principal amount is added to the denominator, and (ii) stock options whereby the number of dilutive
shares is calculated as the difference between the number of shares issued and the number of shares that would
have been issued at the average market price during the period based upon the assumed initial proceeds.
Options are not dilutive if the average price is below the strike price.
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The convertible debentures and stock options were dilutive and therefore were included in the calculation of
diluted earnings per share.
The computations of basic and diluted earnings per share are shown below:
2016

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands – except per share amounts)

Net earnings

$

After tax impact of convertible debentures

61,130

2015
$

50,955

130

327

Fully diluted net earnings

61,260

51,282

Weighted average shares outstanding

98,091

91,299

Dilutive impact of long term stock compensation

344

278

Dilutive impact of convertible debentures

314

421

98,749

91,998

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share

$

0.62

$

0.56

Diluted earnings per share

$

0.62

$

0.56

20. DIVIDENDS

The following table outlines the dividend declarations as approved by the board of directors and the related per
share amounts.
2016

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands – except per share amounts)

Dividends declared per share during the year

$

Dividends declared during the period

0.82

2015
$

80,688

0.82
74,763

Dividends declared after December 31,
January
Dollars

$

DRIP (shares issued)
Shares
Per share

5,667

$

6,157

134

-

104,155

87,954

$

0.077

$

0.07

$

5,627

$

6,158

February
Dollars
DRIP (shares issued)

135

Shares
Per share

-

104,296
$

0.077

87,967
$

0.07

The total amount of dividends declared after December 31, 2016 are estimated above and are subject to change
dependent upon the actual convertible debenture conversions prior to the record date, if any.
Enercare adopted the DRIP (note 18), which enables shareholders to receive dividends in shares rather than
cash. During the year ended December 31, 2016, 116,001 shares were issued pursuant to the DRIP valued at
$2,078. There were no liabilities recognized at December 31, 2016.
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21. COMMITMENTS

Under operating lease agreements for office premises, office equipment and sponsorship agreements, Enercare
is required to make annual minimum payments. The aggregate amount of future minimum payments is as follows:
2016

As at December 31,

Due in 2017

$

9,661

Due in 2018

7,063

Due in 2019

4,794

Due in 2020

3,526

Due in 2021

3,493

Thereafter

6,669

Total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

$

35,206

The operating lease and sponsorship payments recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the year
ended December 31, 2016 were $11,376 (2015 – $3,744).
22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Enercare and a subsidiary of Enercare Solutions have been named in legal proceedings commenced by certain
competitors seeking specified and unspecified damages based on allegations that Enercare, its service provider,
EcoSmart Home Services Inc., and others engaged in unlawful surveillance and other unlawful activities aimed
at the door to door sales efforts of the competitors.
Enercare is also a party to a number of product liability claims, other claims, ongoing proceedings and lawsuits
in the ordinary course of business.
Management is of the opinion that any liabilities that may arise from these lawsuits have been adequately
provided for in these consolidated financial statements.
23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The main risks Enercare’s financial instruments are exposed to include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.
Credit Risk
Enercare is exposed to credit risk on accounts receivable from customers. Enercare’s credit risk is considered
to be low for Enercare Home Services and moderate for both Sub-metering and Service Experts.
Enercare’s financial assets that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. The majority of Enercare Home Services’ contracted revenues are subject to a guaranteed
payment by EGD for 99.51% of the amount billed (subject to certain exceptions) 21 calendar days after the
invoices are issued. Enercare is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for customers who are
billed directly by Enercare or are billed by EGD outside its service territory. For accounts receivable from
customers billed on EGD invoices within its service territory a related trust agreement also serves to mitigate
Enercare’s credit exposure on receivables owing from EGD.
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Enercare is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business associated with the billing of Sub-metering
customers and landlords. Since Enercare employs various billing models with Sub-metering, credit risk exposure
fluctuates based on the type of customer. In the case where a landlord is responsible for commodity expenses,
credit risk is low. On accounts where Enercare is responsible for commodity expenses, credit risk is higher. This
credit risk tends to be lower where customers own their unit as opposed to renting them. Enercare has the ability
to lower this risk through various contractual protections with landlords, as well as Enercare’s ability to
disconnect electricity for non-payment.
Enercare’s Service Experts business provides services in both Canada and the United States. Credit risk primarily
consists of receivables from a variety of customers, including general contractors, property owners, developers
and commercial and industrial companies. Service Experts is exposed to credit risk related to changes in the
business and economic factors throughout the United States within the mechanical services industry. However,
Service Experts is entitled to payment for work performed and have certain lien rights in that work. Service
Experts believes that their contract acceptance, billing and collection policies are adequate to manage potential
credit risk. Service Experts has a diverse customer base, with no single customer accounting for more than 10%
of revenues or receivables.
For accounts receivable as at December 31, 2016, a provision for all amounts at risk of collection and impairment
has been made in these consolidated financial statements based upon a number of factors which include, but
are not limited to, the type of account and credit characteristics, aging, and net future cash flows.
Liquidity Risk
Enercare monitors liquidity risk through comparisons of current financial ratios with the financial covenants
contained in its 2014 Revolver, 2014 Term Loan and 2016 Term Loan agreements and its senior unsecured
trust indenture, as supplemented, as applicable. Enercare has maintained financial ratios which comply with
the financial covenants applicable to the borrowings and has staggered its senior debt and term loan maturity
dates through to May 11, 2020.
The covenants under the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes are contained in the senior unsecured trust indenture,
as supplemented. Under the terms of this indenture, Enercare may not incur additional senior debt other than
certain refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the incurrence test is less than 3.8 to 1. The
incurrence test is the ratio of defined EBITDA over defined interest expense calculated twelve months in arrears.
Enercare exceeded this threshold requirement at December 31, 2016.
In conjunction with the SE Transaction, Enercare entered into an amendment to its existing 2014 Term Loan
and 2014 Revolver with the lenders to give effect to the SE Transaction and 2016 Term Loan. The principal
covenant tests measure the ratio of total debt to adjusted EBITDA and the ratio of adjusted EBITDA to cash
interest expense. Total debt, Adjusted EBITDA and cash interest expense are defined in the agreements and
may not be the same as terms used in the MD&A. Enercare was in compliance with these covenants at
December 31, 2016.
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The summary of financial obligations and contractual maturities related to undiscounted non-derivative financial
liabilities excluding accounts payable was as follows:
Debt
Period

Finance Lease Obligations

Principal

Interest

570

$ 259,951

210,125

20,334

6,702

386

216,827

20,720

Due in 2019

10,025

16,654

5,841

223

15,866

16,877

Due in 2020

493,567

7,508

4,223

92

497,790

7,600

Due in 2021

5,025

139

1,391

20

6,416

159

5

-

163

4

168

1,295

$ 997,018

$

76,697

$

7,304

25,624

$

Interest

$ 252,647

$ 971,394

$

Principal

Due in 2017

Total

32,062

Total

Interest

Due in 2018

Thereafter

$

Principal

$

$

32,632

4
$

77,992

As part of Enercare’s plan to monitor liquidity risk, to maintain an appropriate amount of working capital and to
address the maturity of the 2012 Notes, Enercare completed a Senior Unsecured Notes offering of $500,000
aggregate principal amount (see Note 14 and Note 33) on February 21, 2017.
Market Risk
Fair Value
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other receivables, financing receivables,
collateral deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, obligations under vehicle finance leases and other
payables approximate their fair values due to their relatively short periods to maturity.
Fair value measurements are determined in accordance with the following levels:
Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.
Level 3 Prices or valuations that require management inputs that are both significant to the fair value
measurement and unobservable.
The following table presents the carrying amounts and the fair values of Enercare’s financial assets and liabilities
at December 31, 2016 and 2015. The estimated fair values of the financial instruments are at the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.
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2016
As at December 31,

Cash and cash equivalents

2015

Carrying
Value
$

38,415

Fair
Value
$

38,415

Carrying
Value
$

28,413

Fair
Value
$

28,413

Accounts receivables

139,137

139,137

98,414

98,414

Financing receivables

2,876

2,876

-

-

Collateral deposits
Total financial assets

9,842

9,842

-

-

$ 190,270

$ 190,270

$ 126,827

$ 126,827

$ 475,000

$ 491,850

$ 475,000

$ 495,118

478,540

478,540

210,000

210,000

15,000

15,000

50,000

50,000

2,032

5,649

2,728

7,111

822

822

1,814

1,814

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Senior borrowings
Term Loans
Revolving credit facility
Gross convertible debentures
Stratacon debt
Obligations under finance lease
Total borrowings
Other obligations and payables
Total financial liabilities

25,624

25,624

6,695

6,695

$ 997,018

$1,017,485

$ 746,237

$ 770,738

235,815

235,815

86,770

86,770

$1,232,833

$1,253,300

$ 833,007

$ 857,508

Fair values of the following financial assets and liabilities are classified as Level 3 financial instruments:
• Accounts receivable;
• Financing receivables;
• Stratacon debt; and
• Other obligations and payables.
Cash and cash equivalents, collateral deposits, revolving credit facility, Term Loans and obligations under finance
lease are classified as Level 2 financial instruments and senior borrowings, and gross convertible debentures
which are classified as Level 1.
Enercare is subject to variable interest rate risk on its revolving credit facility and a portion of its gross senior
borrowings. A 0.5% change in interest rates will have approximately a $2,662 impact on earnings. Enercare is
also subject to interest rate risk on its cash on hand where a 0.5% change in interest rates will have approximately
a $192 impact on earnings.
Enercare is exposed to foreign currency risk through transactions conducted in currencies other than the
Canadian dollar, and also through its financial liabilities that are denominated in US dollar currency. Enercare
has subsidiaries that have a functional currency of US dollars. Enercare’s foreign currency risk management
objective is to mitigate the impact of foreign currency rate fluctuations on total equity. Enercare manages foreign
currency risk on its liabilities that are not hedged by operating subsidiaries in the same currency as the liabilities
to which they relate.
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Enercare designates USD $100,000 drawn under the 2016 Term Loan as a hedge of the foreign currency
exposure of its net investment in Enercare’s US operations. The related foreign currency translation gain or loss
on the USD $100,000 notional of the 2016 Term Loan that is designated as, and is effective as, a hedge of the
net investment in the US operation is reported in the same manner as the translation adjustment (in OCI) related
to the net investment.
Enercare may nevertheless, from time to time, experience gains or losses resulting from fluctuations in the values
of these foreign currencies, which may favourably or adversely affect operating results.
The following table shows gains (losses) associated with a 10% change in exchange rate of the US dollar:
Effect on net earnings

Effect on equity

2016

2015

2016

2015

10% strengthening

$

944

-

$

799

-

10% weakening

$

(944)

-

$

(799)

-

24. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Enercare considers capital to be primarily cash and cash equivalents, long-term debt and shareholder’s equity
and makes adjustments as appropriate to such variables as cash on hand, additional capital expenditures, debt
capacity, available credit facilities, covenant restrictions, and equity leverage. Enercare’s capital management
strategy, objectives, and definitions have not materially changed during 2016.
Enercare was in compliance with all covenants under the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, 2014 Revolver, 2014 Term
Loan and the 2016 Term Loan as at December 31, 2016.
25. COST OF GOODS SOLD
For the year ended December 31,

Labour and benefits

2016
$ 201,423

2015
$

67,211

Parts

128,372

20,207

Commodity

111,482

106,203

Other
Total
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18,444

1,284

$ 459,721

$ 194,905

26. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
2016

For the year ended December 31,

Employee compensation and benefits

$ 138,401

2015
$

64,545

Professional fees

21,714

12,122

Selling, office and other

64,758

28,132

Billing and servicing

30,977

29,998

Claims and bad debt

10,500

9,471

$ 266,350

$ 144,268

Total

27. OTHER PROVISIONS

On a regular basis, Enercare evaluates key accounting estimates based upon historical information, internal and
external factors and probability factors to measure provisions. The key provision is on account of claims as a
result of water damage caused by faulty water heaters. The claims provision is a current liability estimated as
the product of the average anticipated dollar loss and the current incidents as at December 31, 2016.
2016

For the year ended December 31,

Opening balance:

$

1,191

2015
$

1,150

Charged/(credited) to the consolidated statement of income:
Additional provision

2,814

Claims spending during the year
Ending balance

3,363

(2,898)
$

1,107

(3,322)
$

1,191

All claims generated during the periods ended are typically paid out within twelve months, therefore the
provisions have not been discounted.
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28. CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

The following table reconciles the changes in working capital during the comparative periods as presented in
these consolidated statement of cash flows.
2016

For the year ended December 31,

Accounts receivable

$

Inventory

(8,954)

$ (22,122)

957

Prepaid expenses

(1,183)

(1,098)

Collateral deposits

(869)

(351)

Deferred revenue and service obligation

6,907

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(14,572)

Other provisions

858
(2,527)

(84)

Insurance claim provisions

41

(558)

Interest payable
Total

2015

-

112
$ (17,641)

154
$ (25,648)

29. RELATED PARTIES

Key Management
Key management includes Enercare’s officers. External director’s fees are included in professional fees as part
of total selling, general and administrative expenses. Total compensation and benefits earned by key
management for services are shown below:
2016

For the year ended December 31,

Salaries and short-term benefits

$

Other employment benefits
Long term benefits
Total
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$

6,076

2015
$

3,285

172

119

1,010

3,438

7,258

$

6,842

30. COMPENSATION PLANS

Enercare operates the following share based compensation plans: the PSUP, MTIP, DSUP, ESPP and the Share
Option Plan (“SOP”).
Cash Based Payment Plans
The PSUP awards phantom shares to management in consideration for past services provided to support
achievement of Enercare’s performance objectives, align interests of key persons with the success of Enercare
and retain management. These phantom shares primarily vest equally over a 3 year period, and are based on
the achievement of certain service and/or performance criteria, and are non-forfeitable. MTIPs, which are also
phantom shares, have also been awarded to management to support achievement of post-acquisition
performance and retain key personnel and management of acquired companies. These are specific near-term
phantom shares which vest equally over a 2 year period, and are based on achievement of certain performance
criteria and are non-forfeitable. Dividends on the phantom shares accrue at the same rates as dividends on
the shares.
Enercare has a DSUP for non-employee directors to assist Enercare to promote a greater alignment of interests
between the directors and the shareholders, provide a compensation system for the directors that is reflective
of the responsibility, commitment and risk accompanying board membership, assist Enercare in attracting and
retaining individuals with experience and ability to serve as members of the board, and allow the directors to
participate in the long-term success of Enercare. Pursuant to the DSUP, directors will receive 50% of their fees
in the form of deferred share units until the director has met the director’s share ownership requirements.
Directors may also elect once each calendar year to receive any portion of their fees in the form of deferred
share units for the year, such election can be changed on a quarterly basis. A director’s entitlement under the
DSUP may be redeemed only when the director ceases to be a director and must be redeemed no later than the
end of the calendar year following the date the director ceases to be a director. Dividends on these deferred
shares accrue at the same rates as dividends on the shares.
Share Based Plans
Enercare has a stock option plan for officers of Enercare. The purpose of the plan is to support the achievement
of the corporation’s objectives, align officer interests with the success of the corporation and provide
compensation opportunities to attract, retain and motivate key management employees. Options must be
exercised within 8 years after the grant date with vesting equally over the first 3 years. All vested options must
be exercised within 2 years, 1 year or 90 days of the termination date in respect of retirement/disability, death
and termination, respectively. Options are settled through the issuance of treasury shares for the strike price
consideration.
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The fair value of the options at the date of grant was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
giving consideration to the terms of the plan and Enercare’s performance. The significant variables included in
the model were as follows:
• An expected option life of approximately 5.5 years;
• A risk free rate based upon Government of Canada bonds corresponding to the expected option life;
• Stock prices based upon the daily close for the past 36-months resulting in a 19% volatility measure; and
• Dividend yield was based on historical levels preceding the date of grant.
The weighted average remaining contractual life is approximately 5.85 years.
Employee Share Purchase Plan
Effective November 1, 2014, Enercare implemented the ESPP for all eligible employees of Enercare. Under the
plan, employees can purchase shares of Enercare, up to a maximum of $10 per year or 5% of base salary.
Enercare will award one matching share for every two shares purchased and held by an employee for at least
two years. Shares related to both the employee and employer portions are purchased in the month following
the employee contributions. Expenses related to the company match portion are recorded equally over the 2
year vesting period and are reflected in the consolidated statement of income. Employee contributions held by
Enercare at the end of a period are classified as restricted cash which will be used to purchase Enercare shares
in the following period. As at December 31, 2016, there were 53,164 shares (2015 – 55,909) that were
purchased and held as treasury shares. These shares related to the employer portion of the employee share
purchase plan and were purchased during the year for $970 (2014 – $815).
In 2016, no share matching was required under the ESPP, except regarding the grant of 3,970 (2015 – 421)
shares at a market value of $17.37 (2015 – $16.20) per share in connection with employee retirements. The
amount expensed during the year was $605 (2015 – $231) with no liabilities payable.
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Changes in the number of long term compensation plan awards outstanding and their related weighted average
prices are as follows:
PSUP
(in thousands except price)

#

MTIP
$

#

DSUP
$

#

SOP
$

#

$

At January 1, 2016

339

16.02

18

16.02

309

16.02

1,109

11.31

Granted

338

16.02

166

16.02

26

16.02

480

15.61

Director’s optional purchases
Phantom dividends
Performance objective modifier
Forfeited

-

-

-

-

10

17.17

28

-

10

-

17

-

(103)

-

3

-

-

-

(53)

-

-

-

-

(66)

14.34

(148)

9.69

(11)

Exercised

-

-

-

-

(6)

-

Expired

-

-

-

-

-

-

At December 31, 2016

549

17.91

186

17.91

356

17.91

Expensed in the period

-

1,182

-

1,760

-

1,549

Liabilities payable

-

5,829

-

1,903

-

5,916

PSUP
(in thousands except price)

#

MTIP
$

#

1,375

365

DSUP
$

#

12.84

SOP
$

#

$

At January 1, 2015

379

14.59

-

-

251

14.59

1,138

8.85

Granted

153

14.59

34

14.59

29

14.59

359

14.65

Director’s optional purchases

-

-

-

-

12

14.70

-

-

Phantom dividends

20

-

2

-

17

-

-

-

Performance objective modifier

85

-

-

-

-

-

-

Forfeited

(2)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Exercised

(296)

15.23

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Expired

-

(18)

(388)

7.19

At December 31, 2015

339

16.02

18

16.02

309

16.02

1,109

11.31

Expensed in the period

-

3,053

-

143

-

1,235

-

281

Liabilities payable

-

4,647

-

143

-

4,406

-

-

Price per share is the average price per share at the close of market on the day preceding the last trading day
of the month or the five day volume weighted average immediately preceding the last trading day of the month
as applicable to the terms of the plans.
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31. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Operating
Decision Maker (CODM), which has been identified as the Executive Leadership Team (consisting of the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, the Chief Operating Officer for Enercare
Home Services, the Senior Vice President and General Manager for Sub-Metering, the President and Chief
Executive Officer for Service Experts, the Chief Information Officer, the Chief Human Resource Officer, and the
Chief Marketing Officer). Prior to the second quarter of 2016, the CODM was identified as the Chief Executive
Officer.
The Executive Leadership Team evaluates and makes decisions on operating performance by business segment.
The reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily from (a) the rental of water heaters, HVAC
and other equipment, protection plans, HVAC sales and other chargeable service offerings, (b) the sub-metering
of multi-unit residential and commercial properties, and (c) sales and services relating to HVAC units in the
newly acquired Service Experts subsidiaries (see note 32).
The Enercare Home Services segment consists mainly of a portfolio of rental water heaters, HVAC and other
assets, and contracted protection plans offered primarily to residential customers in Ontario The Sub-metering
segment is engaged principally in providing the equipment and services to allow sub-metering and remote
measurement of electricity and water consumption in individual units in condominiums, apartment buildings
and commercial properties primarily in Ontario. The Service Experts segment consists primarily of the sales and
servicing of HVAC equipment to residential and light commercial customers in the United States and Canada.
Corporate reports the costs for management oversight of the combined business, public reporting and filings,
financing activities, corporate governance and related expenses.
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The CODM assesses its performance of the operating segments using the measure of EBITDA as follows:
2016

For the year ended December 31,

Segment Information

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts(2)

2015

Submetering

Corporate

Total

Enercare
Home
Services

Service
Experts

Submetering

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted sales
Sales and other services
Investment Income
Total revenue

$ 410,018 $

- $ 574,831 $ 390,509 $

- $ 133,652 $

- $ 524,161

28,600

388,161

22,574 $ 142,239 $
3,750

-

420,511

35,962

-

3,498

-

39,460

349

28

30

192

599

186

-

19

-

205

$ 438,967 $ 410,763 $ 146,019 $

192 $ 995,941 $ 426,657 $

- $ 137,169 $

- $ 563,826

Expenses:
Cost of goods & services:
Cost of services
Cost of goods sold
Commodity
SG&A
Foreign exchange
Other income
Net (loss)/gain on disposal
EBITDA
Amortization

$ (66,994) $ (17,711) $
(22,274)
(100,343)
215
(4,464)

(239,415)
(114,593)
(35)
(19)

- $ (84,705) $ (61,164) $

- $

(1,845)

- $

-

(263,534)

-

(2,090)

-

(27,538)

(111,482)

-

(111,482)

-

(106,203)

-

(106,203)

(104,858)

-

(16,906)

(107)

-

60

4

(43)

-

580

-

580

(19,323)

(32,091)

(266,350)

51

97

328

-

-

-

77

-

(4,406)

(25,448)
-

(5,354)

- $

- $ (61,164)

(22,504)

-

(144,268)

-

2,484

245,107

38,990

13,497

(31,802)

265,792

229,726

-

15,094

(22,500)

222,320

(2,870)

(122,194)

(13,825)

(6,719)

(2,586)

(145,324)

(118,011)

-

(5,849)

(1,556)

(125,416)

Interest expense

(34,601)

(28,075)

Current taxes

(54,381)

(10,197)

Deferred tax recovery/(expense)

29,644

(7,677)

Net earnings

61,130

50,955

Segment assets(1)
Capital additions

1,249,818
$ 126,586 $

600,362
9,590 $

96,804

23,808

20,120 $

12,097 $ 168,393 $ 103,404 $

1,970,792

1,272,556

-

85,941

- $

10,711 $

17,750

1,376,247

2,808 $ 116,923

(1) Certain comparative balances have been reclassified from the consolidated financial statements previously presented to conform to the presentation of
the 2016 consolidated financial statements.
(2) Service Experts’ segment information is from May 11, 2016 to December 31, 2016.
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Year ended December 31,

Geographic Information

2016

2015

$ 655,243

$ 563,232

340,698

594

$ 995,941

$ 563,826

2016

2015

$1,444,974

$ 1,376,247

525,818

-

$1,970,792

$ 1,376,247

Revenues(3)
Canada
United States

As at December 31,

Segment Assets(4)
Canada
United States

(3) Revenues are based on the country of delivery of the product or service sold.
(4) Segment assets include non-current capital and intangible assets, long-term financing receivables and other assets.

32. ACQUISITION OF SERVICE EXPERTS

On May 11, 2016 Enercare, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Enercare Solutions, acquired SEHAC
Holdings Corporation (now SEHAC Holdings LLC), for consideration of USD$340,750 or CAD$440,113,
excluding agreed upon closing adjustments regarding Enercare’s assumption of certain liabilities and transaction
costs (the “Consideration”), subject to final working capital and other adjustments. The acquired assets and
liabilities assumed included components of working capital, capital assets, intangible assets, collateral deposits,
goodwill, insurance claim provisions, deferred revenue and service obligations, deferred tax liability and
obligations under finance leases. The SE Transaction is accounted for as a business combination.
The SE Transaction was financed through a combination of debt and equity, including approximately $241,478
of SE Subscription Receipts ($230,710 net of fees), inclusive of the concurrent private placement (see Note
18) and USD$200,000 from the 2016 Term Loan (see Note 14).
In accordance with the terms of the agreement pursuant to which the SE Subscription Receipts were issued,
each outstanding SE Subscription Receipt was exchanged for one share, resulting in the issuance of 15,834,600
shares and a cash payment equal to $0.14 per SE Subscription Receipt. The cash payment was equal to the
aggregate amount of dividends per share for which record dates occurred since the issuance of the SE
Subscription Receipts, less any withholding taxes, if any, to the date of closing of the SE Transaction. The shares
issued in exchange for the SE Subscription Receipts issued in the concurrent private placement are subject to
a contractual hold period of six months from closing of the offering.
As part of the SE Transaction, Enercare has recorded total expenses of $13,900. Total expenses include $2,217
of interest expense from interest paid in respect of the SE Subscription Receipts issued, along with equity bridge
financing fees of $198, all included within interest expense. SG&A expenses include $11,485 of costs associated
with the SE Transaction, which consists predominantly of professional fees.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of total consideration allocated to the net assets
acquired. The allocation of the purchase price is preliminary for certain amounts including certain working capital
adjustments and tax balances and is therefore subject to change.
May 11,
2016
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable

$

8,976

Adjustments
$

31,805

(1,244)

Revised
$

8,976
30,561

Inventory

8,316

646

Prepaid expenses

6,205

82

6,287

31,277

1,459

32,736

Capital assets (note 8)
Intangible assets (note 9)
Collateral deposits (note 11)
Goodwill (note 10)
Total assets acquired

239,149

(1,292)

9,122

-

223,920

8,962

237,857
9,122

(2,661)

221,259

$ 558,770

$

(3,010)

$ 555,760

$ 115,917

$

Less:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

3,141

$ 119,058

25,393

-

25,393

Short-term obligations under finance lease (note 13)

4,477

960

5,437

Insurance claim provisions (note 11)

8,234

-

8,234

561

11,431

Deferred revenue and service obligations (note 15)

Long-term obligations under finance lease (note 13)
Deferred tax liability

10,870
5,882

Total net assets acquired

$ 387,997

$

Consideration before closing adjustments

$ 440,113

$

Working capital adjustments

(3,814)

2,068

(3,858)

$ 384,139

-

$ 440,113

5,211

(3,858)

1,353

445,324

(3,858)

441,466

Less: Closing adjustments*

$ (57,327)

$

Cash consideration (net of closing adjustments)

$ 387,997

$

(3,858)

$ (57,327)
$ 384,139

* Includes adjustments relating to share appreciation rights, taxes payable and other provisions.

Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the fair value of consideration transferred and the preliminary
fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The goodwill is primarily attributable to the addition of
new customers and the corresponding projected cash flows to be earned. Goodwill is not amortized for
accounting, however is deductible for US tax purposes.
Service Experts revenues of $410,763 and earnings of $17,322 are included in the statement of comprehensive
income since May 11, 2016.
Enercare’s consolidated revenues and net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2016 would have been
higher by approximately $188,691 and $nil, respectively, had the SE Transaction occurred on January 1, 2016.
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33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 13, 2017, Enercare, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Service Experts completed the
acquisition of certain assets in Austin, Texas from CS Operating LLC, an HVAC and plumbing company. Service
Experts acquired the assets for USD $875 and paid the purchase price using cash on hand, net of a 15%
holdback which is expected to be paid over the next 12 months.
On February 21, 2017, Enercare Solutions completed its offering of $500,000 aggregate principal amount of
2017 Notes consisting of $275,000 of “2017-1 Notes” and $225,000 of “2017-2 Notes”. The 2017-1 Notes
were sold at a price of 99.982% of the principal amount, with an effective yield of 3.384% per annum if held to
maturity and the 2017-2 Notes were sold at a price of 99.982% of the principal amount, with an effective yield
of 3.993% per annum if held to maturity.
The proceeds of the offering were used by Enercare Solutions to redeem the 2014 Term Loan on February 23,
2017 and will be used to redeem the 2012 Notes in March 2017 with the balance to be used to repay a portion
of the 2014 Revolver.
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STANDARD & POOR’S

(as of March 23, 2017)
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Notes: BBB/stable
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